คุณสมบัติทางกายภาพทางเคมีและฤทธิ์ทางชีวภาพของสารเมือกจากสมุนไพรไทยบางชนิด

นางสาวชนิดา พลานุเวช

# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิจัยเพื่อการพัฒนาสุขภาพ (สหสาขาวิชา) บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2552 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF MUCILAGINOUS SUBSTANCES FROM SELECTED THAI MEDICINAL PLANTS

Miss Chanida Palanuvej

## สูนย์วิทยุทรัพยากร

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Program in Research for Health Development (Interdisciplinary Program) Graduate School Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2009 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES AND BIOLOGICAL
	ACTIVITIES OF MUCILAGINOUS SUBSTANCES FROM
	SELECTED THAI MEDICINAL PLANTS
Ву	Miss Chanida Palanuvej
Field of Study	Research for Health Development
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Nijsiri Ruangrungsi, Ph.D.
Thesis Co-Advisor	Sanya Hokputsa, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

Dean of the Graduate School

(Associate Professor Pornpote Piumsomboon, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Periapak Chanterapia Chairman

(Professor Emeritus Peerasak Chantaraprateep)

rupi. Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor Nijsiri Ruangrungsi, Ph.D.)

Nopput 32

..... Thesis Co-Advisor

(Sanya Hokputsa, Ph.D.)

. Examiner

(Assistant Professor Pongchai Harnyutthanakorn, Ph.D.)

Warder Gritsanap----- External Examiner

(Associate Professor Wandee Gritsanapan, Ph.D.)

ชนิดา พลานุเวช : คุณสมบัติทางกายภาพทางเคมีและฤทธิ์ทางชีวภาพของสารเมือกจาก สมุนไพรไทยบางชนิด (Physicochemical Properties and Biological Activities of Mucilaginous Substances from Selected Thai Medicinal Plants) อ. ที่ปรึกษา วิทยานิพนธ์หลัก : รศ. คร. นิจศิริ เรืองรังษี, อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม คร. สัญญา หกพุดซา, 135 หน้า.

ศึกษาศักยภาพในการต้านเบาหวานชนิดที่ 2 ในหลอดทดลองของโพลีแซกคาไรด์ชนิดสาร เมือก โดยสกัดสารเมือกจากผักปลัง (ส่วนเหนือดิน) กระเจี้ยบเขียว (ผล) หมี่หรือหมีเหม็น (ใบ) แมงลัก (เมล็ด) เทียนเกล็ดหอย (เมล็ด) สำรอง (ผล) และลูกซัด (เมล็ด) เปรียบเทียบคุณสมบัติใน การกักเก็บน้ำตาลในถุงไดอะไลซิส การยับยั้งการทำงานของเอนไซม์แอลฟากลุโคซิเดสและไลเปส การรบกวนการละลายของไขมันในไมเซลล์ รวมทั้งการต้านอนุมูลอิสระ โดยเปรียบเทียบคุณสมบัติ ดังกล่าวของสารเมือกที่ศึกษากับกลูโคแมนแนน นอกจากนี้ได้ศึกษาคุณสมบัติทางกายภาพของ สารเมือก ได้แก่ การพองตัว ความหนืด น้ำหนักโมเลกุลโดยเฉลี่ย และศึกษาคุณสมบัติทางเคมีโดย วิเคราะห์ชนิดและปริมาณของโมโนแซกคาไรด์ที่เป็นองค์ประกอบโดยวิธีแก๊สโครมาโทกราฟี วิเคราะห์สารเมือก<mark>จา</mark>กผักปลังเพิ่<mark>มเติมโดยใช้เทคนิคโปรตอนเอ็นเอ็มอาร์สเปกโทรสโคปี</mark> ผลการศึกษาพบว่าสารเมือก<mark>จากเมล็ดแมงลักมีคุณสมบัติใ</mark>นการกักเก็บน้ำตาลดีกว่ากลูโคแมนแนน และเป็นสารเมือกที่มีความหนืดสูงสุด สารเมือกจากสำรองมีคุณสมบัติในการยังยั้งการทำงานของ เอนไซม์แอลฟากลูโคซิเดสดีที่สุ<mark>ด (IC<sub>50</sub>=1.7 มก/มล</mark>) โดยที่ความเข้มข้นร้อยละ 0.5 สามารถยับยั้ง เอนไซม์แอลฟากลูโคซิเดสได้ร้อยละ 82.6 ขณะที่ 1-ดีออกซีโนจิริมัยซินที่ความเข้มข้นเดียวกันยับยั้ง การทำงานของเอนไซม์แอลฟากลูโคซิเดสได้ร้อยละ 47.6 สารเมือกจากแมงลัก ลูกซัด และกลูโคแมนแนน ลดการละลายของคอเลสเทอรอลในไมเซลล์ได้ประมาณร้อยละ 20 สารเมือกที่ศึกษารวมทั้งกลูโค แมนแนนลดการละลายของกรดโอเลอิกในไมเซลล์ ขณะที่สารเมือกส่วนใหญ่เพิ่มการละลายของ กรดสเตียริกในไมเซลล์ สารเมือกที่ศึกษาไม่รบกวนการทำงานของเอนไซม์ไลเปลแต่มีผลต่อผิวสัมผัส ของไมเซลล์ สารเมือกจากหมี่ สำรอง และกระเจี๊ยบเขียวมีคุณสมบัติต้านอนุมูลอิสระ โดยมี IC<sub>50</sub> น้อยกว่า 1 มก/มล การศึกษาคุณสมบัติทางเคมีพบกรดกาแลกทูโรนิกในสารเมือกจากผักปลัง เทียน เกล็ดหอย และสำรอง น้ำตาลแรมโนสพบได้ในสารเมือกทกชนิดที่ศึกษา การศึกษาสารเมือกจาก ้ผักปลังพบว่าเป็นเบตากาแลกแทน และมีองค์ประกอบทางเคมี ได้แก่ อราบิโนส (ร้อยละ 24) แรมโนส (ร้อยละ 5) กาแลกโทส (ร้อยละ 41) กรดกาแลกทูโรนิก (ร้อยละ 13) และกลูโคส (ร้อยละ 16)

สาขาวิชา วิจัยเพื่อการพัฒนาสุขภาพ ลายมือชื่อนิสิต ชิ่มิดา พ.ค.ษุเพ ปีการศึกษา 2552 ลายมือชื่อ อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก 🤉 ลายมือชื่อ อ. ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์ร่วม......

### # # 4889690620 : MAJOR RESEARCH FOR HEALTH DEVELOPMENT KEYWORDS : MUCILAGINOUS POLYSACCHARIDES / ANTI-DIABETIC POTENTIAL / FREE RADICAL SCAVENGER / SUGAR COMPOSITION / PHYSICAL CHARACTERIZATION CHANIDA PALANUVEJ : PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF MUCILAGINOUS SUBSTANCES FROM SELECTED THAI MEDICINAL PLANTS. THESIS ADVISOR : ASSOC. PROF. NIJSIRI RUANGRUNGSI, Ph.D.THESIS CO-ADVISOR : SANYA HOKPUTSA, Ph.D. 135 pp.

As a continuous searching for anti-diabetic (type II) potential substances, seven mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants were studied as follow: aerial parts of Basella alba Linn., fruits of Hibiscus esculentus Linn., leaves of Litsea glutinosa (Lour.) C.B. Robinson, seeds of Ocimum canum Sims., seeds of Plantago ovata Forssk., fruits of Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. and seeds of Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn. The bioactive properties for entrapping glucose against dialysis, inhibiting enzyme  $\alpha$ glucosidase, pancreatic lipase, disturbance on micellar lipids solubilization and free radical scavenger were in vitro studied compared to glucomannan. The physical characteristics for swelling properties, viscosity and average molecular weight were determined. The chemical characteristics were analyzed for monosaccharide composition using gas chromatography after methanolysis and TMS-derivatization. B. alba mucilage was further investigated by <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy. O. canum mucilage superiorly entrapped glucose compared to glucomannan. This activity was relevant to its highly viscous gelation. S. scaphigerum showed another property of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition. Its mucilage (0.5%) inhibited the enzyme activity by 82.6%, compared to 1-Deoxynorjirimycin (by 47.6%). The IC<sub>50</sub> of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitory activity was found as 1.7 mg/ml. Mucilages from O. canum and T. foenum-graecum as well as glucomannan showed around 20% inhibition on cholesterol solubility in bile acid micelles. All mucilages decreased oleic acid micellar solubilization whilst most of them increased stearic acid micellar solubilization. The studied mucilages had no effect on the lipase activity but affected on the micellar interface. Most mucilages, except from O. canum and P. ovata, showed DPPH scavenging activity higher than glucomannan. Especially L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum and H. esculentus mucilages had IC<sub>50</sub> less than 1 mg/ml. Galacturonic acid was found in 3 from 7 mucilages namely B. alba, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum. Whereas rhamnose was common sugar found in all seven mucilages. Monosaccharide components of these mucilages were compared to another reports from distinguished techniques B. alba mucilage was revealed to be  $\beta$ -galactan with the composition of arabinose (24%), rhamnose (5%), galactose (41%), galacturonic acid (13%) and glucose (16%).

Field of Study : Research for Health Development	Student's Signature Chawde Pelanung
Academic Year : 2009	Advisor's Signature Ni pin Rong mpi
	Co-Advisor's Signature Jay Hope

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to express her heartily gratitude and appreciation to her thesis advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Nijsiri Ruangrungsi, for his continuous guidance, support and encouragement throughout this study.

The author is grateful to her thesis co-advisor, Dr. Sanya Hokputsa, Research and Development Institute, Government Pharmaceutical Organization, Bangkok, Thailand, for his valuable suggestion to complete the present work.

It is a pleasure to thank Professor Dr. Toshihiko Toida and Assistant Professor Saori Hosoyama, Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chiba University, Chiba, Japan, for their kindly instruction and hospitality during the author's stay in Japan.

Special thanks also go to her thesis committee members, Professor Emeritus Peerasak Chantaraprateep, Associate Professor Dr. Wandee Gritsanapan and Assistant Professor Dr. Pongchai Harnyutthanakorn for their helpful criticism and suggestions in finalising this thesis.

It is an honor for the author to thank College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University and all the staff members for necessary assistance and instrumental support.

The author is also thankful to the Siam Konjac Co., Ltd. for providing Konjac glucomannan powder.

The author wishes to thank the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program and Chulalongkorn University Graduate School Thesis Grant for financial supports.

Finally, this dissertation is dedicated to the author's family, especially her parents for their love, understanding, patience and support her to concentrate on her study.

## CONTENTS

AB	STRACT (THAI)	iv
AB	STRACT (ENGLISH)	v
AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CO	NTENTS	vii
LIS	ST OF TABLES	Х
LIS	ST OF FIGURES	xi
LIS	ST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
СН	IAPTER	
Ι	INTRODUCTION	1
	Background and Significance of the Study	1
	Objectives of the Study	4
	Scopes of the Study	4
	Expected Benefits	4
II	LITERATURE REVIEWS	5
	Polysaccharides	5
	Starch	7
	Non-Starch Polysaccharides	8
	Konjac Glucomannan	8
	Plant Mucilaginous Polysaccharides	11
	Basella alba Linn. (Basellaceae)	12
	Hibiscus esculentus Linn. (Malvaceae)	12
	Litsea glutinosa Lour. (Lauraceae)	14
	Ocimum canum Sims. (Labiatae)	15
	Plantago ovata Forssk. (Plantaginaceae)	16
	Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. (Sterculiaceae)	17
	Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn. (Papilionaceae)	18

## Page

viii

## CHAPTER

	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Complications	20
	Postprandial Hyperglycemic Control	24
	Postprandial Dyslipidemic Control	26
III	MATERIALS	29
	Plant Materials	29
	Chemicals and Reagents	30
	Materials	31
	Instrumentations	31
IV	METHODOLOGY	31
	Mucilages Extraction	33
	Effect on Glucose Diffusion	33
	Effect on α-Glucosidase Inhibition	33
	Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Single Bile Micelles	34
	Effects on Fatty Acids Solubility in Single Bile Micelles	34
	Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Mixed Bile Micelles	35
	Effect on Lipolytic Activity	35
	DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity	36
	Swelling Properties	36
	Viscosity	36
	Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights	37
	Monosaccharides Analysis	37
	Total Protein Analysis	37
	NMR spectroscopy of <i>B. alba</i> mucilage	38
	Statistical Analysis	38
V	RESULTS	39
	Mucilages Extraction	39

## Page

ix

### CHAPTER

	Effect on Glucose Diffusion
	Effect on α-Glucosidase Inhibition
	Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Single Bile Micelles
	Effects on Fatty Acids Solubility in Single Bile Micelles
	Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Mixed Bile Micelles
	Effect on Lipolytic Activity
	DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity
	Swelling Properties
	Viscosity and Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights
	Monosaccharides and Total Protein Analysis
	NMR spectroscopy of <i>B. alba</i> mucilage
VI	DISCUSSION
	Effect on Glucose Diffusion
	Effect on α-Glucosidase Inhibition
	Effects on Lipids Solubilities in Bile Micelles
	Effect on Lipolytic Activity
	DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity
	Swelling Properties and Viscosity
	Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights
	Monosaccharides and Total Protein Analysis
	NMR spectroscopy of <i>B. alba</i> mucilage
	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION
RE	FERENCES
AP	PENDICES
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
Vľ	ΓΑ

## LIST OF TABLES

1	Mechanisms of hyperglycemia-induced endothelial dysfunction	23
2	Mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	39
3	DPPH scavenging activity as IC <sub>50</sub> among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	50
4	Swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	51
5	Viscosity among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	52
6	Monosaccharide composition and total protein content (µg/mg) among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	53
7	Monosaccharide composition (% mole ratio) among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	54
8	Monosaccharides composition among mucilaginous polysaccharides from literatures	63
9	Percentages of glucose releasing from 0.5, 1, 2% mucilages containing 2% glucose after 2 hr dialysis	89
10	Percentage of α-glucosidase inhibition of 0.5% mucilages	90
11	The concentration (mg/ml) of cholesterol solubilized in bile micelles with and without 0.5 % mucilages	91
12	The concentration (mg/ml) of fatty acids solubilized in bile micelles with and without 0.5 % mucilages	92
13	Percentage of lipolytic activity of 1.0% mucilages on <i>p</i> -nitrophenyl laurate	95
14	DPPH scavenging activity (%) among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants	96

## LIST OF FIGURES

#### Page

1	Ring forms of sugars and glycosidic linkage	6
2	Gelation mechanism of glucomannan	9
3	Plant secretory cells containing mucilages1	1
4	The shoots of <i>B. alba</i> 1	2
5	The fruiting plant of <i>H. esculentus</i> 1	3
6	The leaves of <i>L</i> . <i>glutinosa</i> 1	4
7	The leaves and inflorescences of <i>O. canum</i> 1	5
8	The leaves and inflorescences of <i>P</i> . <i>ovata</i> 1	6
9	The fruits and tree of <i>S. scaphigerum</i> 1	8
10	Drawing of plant, fruit and seed of <i>T.foenum-graecum</i> 1	9
11	Carbohydrate-derived- $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitors2	26
12	Mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants 4	0
13	Percentages of glucose releasing from 0.5, 1, 2% mucilages	
	containing 2% glucose after 2 hr dialysis 4	2
14	Percentage of $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition by 0.5% mucilages	3
15	Percentage of $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition from various	
	concentration of <i>S. scaphigerum</i> mucilage 4	4
16	Percentages of micellar solubility of cholesterol in 25 mM	
	NaTDC with 0.5 % w/v of mucilaginous polysaccharides	
	compared to gel 0 4	-5
17	Percentages of micellar solubility of stearic acid in 25 mM	
	NaTDC with 0.5 % mucilaginous polysaccharides compared to	
	gel 0 4	6

		Page
18	Concentration (mM) of cholesterol, stearic acid and oleic acid	
	in bile micelles (n=3) without mucilaginous polysaccharides	
	(gel 0)	47
19	Percentages of micellar solubility of oleic acid in 0.3125 mM	
	NaTDC with 0.5 % mucilaginous polysaccharides compared to	
	gel 0	47
20	Percentages of micellar solubility of cholesterol in single bile	
	micelles (25 mM NaTDC) and mixed bile micelles (25 mM	
	NaTDC + Oleic acid) with 0.5 % w/v of mucilaginous	
	polysaccharides compared to gel 0	
0.1		40
21	Percentages of lipolytic activity of pancreatic lipase with	
	ornstat	49
22	Percentages of lipolytic activity of pancreatic lipase with	
	mucilages	49
23	Percentages of lipolytic activity of mucilages without	
	pancreatic lipase	50
24	<sup>1</sup> H NMR spectra of <i>B. alba</i> mucilaginous polysaccharide	55
25	Calibration curve for glucose determination by glucose oxidase	
	method	89
26	Chromatogram of stearic acid and oleic acid on FFAP column	
	(30m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 mm) using flame ionization detector.	93
27	Calibration curve for cholesterol determination by cholesterol	
27	oxidase method	04
20	Caliburation annua fan ataania aaid and alais aaid datamaination	
28	by CC	
		94
29	Calibration curve for average molecular weight determination	
	by HPSEC	

## xiii

## Page

30	Calibration curve for protein determination by Lowry method	
31	Calibration curve for arabinose determination by GC	
32	GC chromatogram of arabinose	
33	Calibration curve for galactose determination by GC	
34	GC chromatogram of galactose	
35	Calibration curve for galacturonic acid determination by GC	100
36	GC chromatogram of galacturonic acid	
37	Calibration curve for glucose determination by GC	
38	GC chromatogram of glucose	
39	Calibration curve for mannose determination by GC	
40	GC chromatogram of mannose	102
41	Calibration curve for rhamnose determination by GC	
42	GC chromatogram of rhamnose	
43	Calibration curve for xylose determination by GC	
44	GC chromatogram of xylose	104
45	GC chromatogram of mannitol	10:
46	GC chromatogram of Konjac glucomannan	10:
47	GC chromatogram of <i>B. alba</i> mucilage	
48	GC chromatogram of <i>H. esculentus</i> mucilage	
49	GC chromatogram of L. glutinosa mucilage	10′
50	GC chromatogram of O. canum mucilage	
51	GC chromatogram of <i>P. ovata</i> mucilage	
52	GC chromatogram of S. scaphigerum mucilage	
53	GC chromatogram of <i>T. foenum-graecum</i> mucilage	10

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGEs	=	Advanced glycosylated end products
AOAC	=	Association of Official Analytical Chemists
Ara	=	Arabinose
ATP III	=	Adult Treatment Panel III of the National Cholesterol
		Education Program
С	=	Carbon
cP	=	Centipoise
D	=	Dextro
$D_2O$	=	Deuterium oxide
dL	=	Deciliter
DPPH	= /	1,1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl
EC	=	Enzyme Commission number
f	=	Furanose
g	-	Gram
Gal	-0	Galactose
GalA	Tei	Galacturonic acid
GC	4 <u>0</u>	Gas chromatography
Glc	3897	Glucose
HbA1c	=	Hemoglobin A1c, glycosylated hemoglobin
HC1	=	Hydrochloric acid
HDL	=	High density lipoproteins
HPLC	=	High performance liquid chromatography
HPSEC	=	High performance size exclusive chromatography

IC <sub>50</sub>	=	Concentration at 50% inhibition
IUB	=	International Union of Biochemistry
IUPAC	=	International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry
kDa	=	Kilodalton
KGM	=	Konjac Glucomannan
L	=	Levo
L	=	Liter
LDL		Low density lipoproteins
М	=	Mole per liter
Man	=	Mannose
mg	=	Milligram
mM	=	Millimole per liter
MW	= /	Molecular weight
NaTDC	=	Sodium taurodeoxycholate
nm	e.	Nanometer
0	-	Oxygen
р	2	Pyranose
PKC	ŧ8j	Protein kinase C
PVDF	=	Polyvinylidene fluoride
Rha	<b>}</b> 17	Rhamnose
TMS	=	trimethylsilyl
VLDL	=	Very low density lipoproteins
Xyl	=	Xylose
α	=	Alpha
β	=	Beta

μl	=	Microliter
μm	=	Micrometer
λmax	=	Wavelength at maximum absorption
<sup>13</sup> C NMR	=	Carbon Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
<sup>1</sup> H NMR	=	Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance



## ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Background and Significance of the Study**

Polysaccharides or glycans are the polymer of monosaccharide or glycose units linked together with O-glycosidic bonds. Differences in the chemical properties namely the monosaccharide composition, linkage types and patterns, chain shapes and degree of polymerization dictates the polysaccharide physical properties including solubility, flow behavior, gelling potential, and/ or surface and interfacial properties. The structural diversity also dictates the unique functional properties exhibited by each polysaccharide [1]. Plants are major sources of both starch and non-starch polysaccharides. The latter polysaccharides are nominated as dietary fibers due to their resistance to digestion and absorption by human alimentary digestive enzymes and are interesting as a novel class of dietary supplements especially for diabetic prevention and care.

Diabetes is one of the global burdens of diseases that affect hundreds million of people. This disease is a life threatening condition primarily defined by high level of blood glucose. Diabetic hyperglycemia is associated with micro- and macrovascular complications that give rise to ischemic heart disease, stroke and peripheral vascular disease. These complications reduce life expectancy as well as quality of life of people with diabetes. Ninety percent of diabetes is type 2 diabetes which is formerly called as non-insulin-dependent or adult-onset diabetes. This common form of diabetes results from insulin resistance in adults. Insulin resistance is strongly associated with dyslipidemia which then increases cardiovascular risk in diabetic type 2 patients. The World Health Organization recommends the simple lifestyle, for example healthy diet, to be effective in preventing or delaying the onset of type 2 diabetes [2-4]. The American Diabetes Association as well as Health Council of the Netherlands recommends that the general population particularly individuals at high risk for type 2 diabetes should be encouraged to intake 14 g of dietary fibers per 1,000 kilocalories (3.4 g per megajoule). Additionally, diabetic patients should be advised to increase their dietary fibers intake (3.6 to 6.0 g per megajoule or 25 to 50 g per day) [5, 6]. Dietary fibers can be categorized into water-soluble (viscous) and non-watersoluble (non-viscous) dietary fibers. The examples of water-soluble dietary fibers types are gums and mucilages.

Gums or exudates gums are amorphous, translucent solids, insoluble in alcohol and in most organic solvents. They are, however, soluble in water to yield viscous, adhesive solutions, or are swollen by the absorption of water into a jelly-like mass. Gums are yielded by trees and shrubs belonging to a number of families. They are abnormal products, resulting from pathological conditions brought about either by injury or by unfavorable conditions of plant growth and are usually formed by changes in existing cell walls (gummosis) [7].

Mucilages are slippery, viscous polysaccharides of plant origins such as seeds, fruits, leaves, stems, bark or roots. Mucilages are similar in constitutions to gums, but are different in origination. Mucilages are not pathological products as gums, but are formed in normal plant growth. The functions of mucilages may be considered to aid in water storage, decrease diffusion in aquatic plants, aid in seed dispersal and germination and act as a membrane thickener and food reserve for plant growth [8]. Traditional or folk medicines have used plant mucilages for treatment of burns, wounds, ulcers, external and internal inflammations and irritations, diarrhea and dysentery [9]. Plant mucilages constitute a class of biopolymers with unique functional properties, such as thickening, stabilizing and gel formation. Mucilaginous polysaccharides are not soluble in water in the classical sense that micromolecules (such as sodium chloride and sucrose) are. For micromolecules, the solutions are described as homogeneous, because the two components merge into a monophase. But these polysaccharides are heterogeneous dispersions called hydrocolloids which have broad applications in food, pharmaceutical, medical and cosmetic industries [10].

The utilizations of nutritional hydrocolloids as soluble dietary fibers are increasing due to their functional properties, for example, water binding, viscosity and gelation, as well as to their bio-active role in prevention and/or treatment of certain diseases. As the primary function of hydrocolloids is to retain water, they have an important effect on stool bulking, and consequently on gut transit times as a high waterholding capacity forces the material through the gut faster. Increased stool weight can cause dilution of the intraluminal contents limiting the exposure of the gut to secondary bile acids and other toxins and potential carcinogens. The viscosity and gel formation abilities of mucilages have the effect on glucose metabolism by reducing the rate of absorption of glucose in gastro-intestinal tract [11]. Plant mucilage such as psyllium and fenugreek are reported for their hypoglycemic effects [12-14].

In the gut of humans and monogastric animals, dietary lipids are present in the form of heterogeneous emulsified droplets. Triglyceride digestion first occurs in the stomach and is catalyzed by gastric lipase, while most fats are further hydrolyzed in the duodenum and jejunum under the action of pancreatic lipase. Lipolytic products that are generated are dispersed in the form of vesicles and mixed micelles, which interact with the intestinal mucosa to ensure the uptake of lipid moieties. A number of *in vitro* studies have shown that dietary fibers can alter the lipolysis process [15]. Gelling mucilaginous viscous fibers such as guar gum, psyllium and pectin drastically reduce the rate of lipid emulsification, lowering of the extent of fat lipolysis and absorption [16-18].

Mucilages have a long history of use as dietary fibers to promote the regulation of large bowel function, reducing symptoms of chronic constipation, diverticular disease, hemorrhoids, anti-gastric ulcer activity and may play a role in reducing the risk of certain types of cancer, such as colon cancer. Anti-oxidant property which the effect is to prevent free radical formation of some mucilages are also reported [19, 20]. Free radical species are significant factors associated to endothelial dysfunction that give rise to vascular diseases in diabetic complication [21].

Mucilages are classified as heteropolysaccharides that compose of a variety of monosaccharides. Mucilaginous polysaccharides from various sources and distinct preparations have diversities in chemical structures which influence on biological activities and functional properties. An understanding of chemical, physical and functional characteristics of each type of plant mucilages will facilitate the use of these polysaccharides in health promotion and care. It also contributes towards the sustainable use of plant resources as well. This research selects some Thai medicinal plants containing mucilages to investigate *in vitro* biological activities and also physicochemical properties compared to a well known soluble dietary fiber, glucomannan. The outcome of this present study is to provide the scientific evidence of selected plant mucilages for their potential in food supplement applications.

#### **Objectives of the Study**

- 1. To investigate biological activities *in vitro* of mucilaginous substances from selected Thai medicinal plants
- 2. To investigate physicochemical properties of mucilaginous substances from selected Thai medicinal plants

#### Scopes of the Study

- 1. Extraction of mucilages from 7 plants, namely:
  - a. Basella alba Linn.
  - b. *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn.
  - c. Litsea glutinosa Lour.
  - d. Ocimum canum Sims.
  - e. Plantago ovata Forssk.
  - f. Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don.
  - g. Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn.
- 2. *In vitro* studies of the influences of the mucilages on glucose entrapment, lipid solubility, free radical scavenging activity and enzyme activity
- 3. Characterization of physical and chemical properties of these mucilaginous polysaccharides
- 4. Comparison of the biological and physico-chemical characteristics of these mucilages with Konjac glucomannan

#### **Expected Benefits**

- 1. This research provides scientific evidences for the *in vitro* biological activities and physicochemical properties of the mucilaginous substances from selected Thai medicinal plants.
- This research provides the basic knowledge in mucilages as drug or food supplement development from plant-derived mucilages nutritional supplements.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### LITERATURE REVIEWS

#### Polysaccharides

The carbohydrates can be classified according to their molecular size or degree of polymerization (number of monosaccharide units combined), into monosaccharides (or glycoses), oligosaccharides or polysaccharides. According to IUB-IUPAC Joint Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature, oligosaccharides are defined as saccharides containing between 3 and 10 sugar moieties [22]. Most of the carbohydrates found in nature occur in the form of high molecular weight polymers called polysaccharides or glycans, a general term in which large numbers of glycose are mutually joined by O -glycosidic linkages (Figure 1). The glycosidic linkage may have either  $\alpha$ - or  $\beta$ -configuration, and various positions, i.e.,  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 2,  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 3,  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4, or  $\beta$ - $1\rightarrow 2$ ,  $\beta$ - $1\rightarrow 3$ ,  $\beta$ - $1\rightarrow 4$ , and so on. For example, Kojibiose, Nigerose, Maltose and Isomaltose are  $\alpha - 1 \rightarrow 2$ ,  $\alpha - 1 \rightarrow 3$ ,  $\alpha - 1 \rightarrow 4$  and  $\alpha - 1 \rightarrow 6$  D-glucose disaccharides respectively. Whilst Sophorose, Laminaribiose, Cellobiose and Gentiobiose are  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 2,  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 3,  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 and  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 6 D-glucose disaccharides respectively [23]. Based on chain character, polysaccharides may be linear or branched. Based on monomeric building blocks, polysaccharides can be divided into 2 classes. When polysaccharides are composed of a single monosaccharide building block, they are termed homopolysaccharides. Polysaccharides composed of more than one type of monosaccharide are termed heteropolysaccharides. Polysaccharides are high molecular weight polymers which have the degree of polymerization from a hundred to a few hundred thousand units. Based on the type of sequence of monosaccharide units, polysaccharides can be generally divided into 3 groups: periodic types or repeating pattern, interrupted types whose chains have repeating sequences separated by irregular sequences and aperiodic types which characterized by irregular sequences of monosaccharide units, linkage positions and configuration [1]. Based on nutritional purposes, the dietary polysaccharides are starch and non-starch polysaccharides.



**Figure 1** Ring forms of sugars and glycosidic linkage. In aqueous solution, there are the intramolecular rearrangements around the C-1 of monosaccharides (glycoses) and lead to formation of a mixture of monosaccharide anomers in equilibrium. This process is called mutarotation because of the change in optical rotation between  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  anomers. Glycans or polysaccharides are polymers in which large numbers of glycoses are mutually joined by O-glycosidic linkages [23].

#### Starch

Starch, the prime storage carbohydrates of almost all higher plants, provides the major share of energy in a food diet. Chemically, starch is a homopolysaccharide composed of residues of single monosaccharide D-glucose. Structurally, there are 2 types of polysaccharides in starch composition, amylose and amylopectin. Amylose has a molecular weight of around  $10^{5}$ - $10^{6}$  according to the degree of polymerization between 1000 -10,000 glucose units. Amylose is mostly linear  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 glucopyranose chain with less than 0.5% of branched  $\alpha$ -[1  $\rightarrow$  6] linkages. Amylopectin is a branched polysaccharide which consists of  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 glucopyranose chain branching by  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 6 linkages at every 20-25 residues. Amylopectin has much higher molecular weight of about  $10^8$  and a degree of polymerization that may exceed one million units. Most starch contains 60-90% amylopectin. The amylose to amylopectin ratio and organization of the structure affect the physico-chemical and also biochemical characteristics of the starch [24]. The  $\alpha$ -glycosidases enzymes [EC 3.2.1.x] are involved in the complete digestion of starch into glucose. Salivary and pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylases [EC 3.2.1.1] are endohydrolases that cleave the internal  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 bonds of starch into shorter linear and branched glucose chains. The linear products are maltose and maltotriose which contain  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 linkages. The other product is  $\alpha$ -limit dextrin which is  $\alpha$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 6 branched oligosaccharide. These products are then further hydrolyzed by two small-intestinal brush-border  $\alpha$ -glucosidases, human sucrase-isomaltase complex [EC 3.2.1.48 and 3.2.1.10] and human maltase-glucoamylase complex [EC 3.2.1.20 and 3.2.1.3]. These enzyme complexes are paralog exohydrolase which complementarily act at the nonreducing ends of the saccharides. Sucrase-isomaltase digests branched linkage whereas maltase-glucoamylase digests linear regions to yield glucose at the last step of starch hydrolysis. The multiplicity of  $\alpha$ -glucosidases is an adaptation mechanism of intestinal digestive enzymes against a variety of starch [25-27]. Nevertheless, there are some types of starch that are not degraded and digested in small intestine. These are defined as resistant starch. The resistant starch is classified into 4 types as follow: type I is physically inaccessible starch e.g. partly milled grains and seeds; type II is resistant granules *e.g.* raw potato and green banana; type III is retrograded starch e.g. cooked and cooled potato, bread and cornflakes; and type IV, not found in nature, is chemically modified starch by food manufacturers [28, 29].

#### **Non-Starch Polysaccharides**

Non-starch polysaccharides are principally not  $\alpha$ - glycosidic linked polysaccharide so they are resistant to human intestinal digestive enzymes. The most abundant of non-starch polysaccharides are the polysaccharides of plant cell wall e.g. cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins. The other groups include plant storage polysaccharides e.g. fructans, glucomannans and galactomannans; plant gums and mucilages; bacterial polysaccharides e.g. xanthan gum and also algal polysaccharides e.g. alginate, agar, and carrageenan [28]. Non-starch polysaccharides are thus a diverse group of molecules with varying degrees of water solubility, size, and structure and are collectively designated as a class of dietary fiber. Dietary fiber is defined as "the edible parts of plants or analogous carbohydrates that are resistant to digestion and absorption in the human small intestine with complete or partial fermentation in the large intestine. Dietary fiber includes polysaccharides, oligosaccharides, lignin, and associated plant substances. Dietary fibers promote beneficial physiological effects including laxation, and/ or blood cholesterol attenuation, and/ or blood glucose attenuation" [30]. Dietary fibers are further classified into water insoluble and soluble fibers based on the physicochemical properties. Practically, soluble fibers are defined by analytical methods accepted by the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC). Digestible carbohydrates and proteins are hydrolyzed by digestive enzymes e.g. amylase, glucoamylase and protease. Insoluble fiber is extracted by filtration. Soluble fiber in the filtrate is precipitated by addition of four volumes of 95% ethanol then collected by filtration [31]. For non-starch polysaccharides, cellulose is insoluble fiber whereas noncellulosic non-starch polysaccharides are mostly soluble fibers [32].

#### Konjac Glucomannan

Konjac Glucomannan (KGM) is a well-known soluble dietary fiber obtained from the bulbs of *Amorphophallus konjac* K. Koch (Araceae). If dissolved in water, KGM yields a high viscosity and is useful as a thickening, gelling, texturing and water binding agent. This non-starch heteropolysaccharide comprises of  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 4 linked Dglucose and D-mannose residues [33]. The main chain is linear with degree of branching of about 8% [34, 35]. Branching point is controversy between  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 3 glucosyl units [34] and  $\beta$ -1 $\rightarrow$ 6 glucose units [35]. In addition, there is approximately 5-10% acetylation at sixth carbon of glucose unit. Degree of acetylation is a factor influenced on gelling agent property. Deacetylation, for example with alkali, changes sol state of GM dispersing in water into gel state. This phenomenon is due to noncovalently crosslinked network formation of GM chains (Figure 2) [36, 37]. A model of basic structure of KGM analyzed by <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy is proposed as Glc-Man-Glc-Man(2)-Glc-Man(3)-Glc(2)-Man-Glc(2)-Man(2)-Glc(2)-Man(3)-Glc(2)-Man(4)-Glc(2)-Man(5)-. There are 13 glucosyl units combined with 21 mannosyl units and the ratio of mannose to glucose is 1.6 [35]. KGM is high polymer with the molecular weight of around 1x10<sup>6</sup>. The molecular chain is extending, semi-flexible, linear and without branching [38].



**Figure 2** Gelation mechanism of glucomannan. Deacylation enhances GM chain interaction by hydrogen bonding [36].

KGM has beneficial impacts on human gastrointestinal health. The viscous gel of KGM promotes laxation by improving stool consistency, increasing stool frequency as well as stool weight, decreasing the stool transit time and reducing episodes of painful defecation in healthy and chronic constipation [39-41]. Furthermore, KGM has potential effects on blood glucose and blood cholesterol attenuation. Fourteen randomized controlled trials of KGM efficacy on the metabolic syndrome conducted during 1984-2007 were systematically analyzed. The meta-analysis including 531 subjects showed that the use of KGM appeared to statistically significantly lower total cholesterol, low density lipoproteins (LDL), triglycerides, body weight, and fasting blood sugar. However, it did not appear to alter high density lipoproteins (HDL) or either systolic or diastolic blood pressure [42]. The effect on LDL is beneficial for cardiovascular patients. The Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) of the National Cholesterol Education Program issued that for every 1% (1mg/dL) reduction in LDL, the relative risk for major coronary heart disease events is reduced by approximately 1% [43]. KGM was shown to reduce about 16 mg/dL of LDL therefore its effect could be clinically significant [42]. KGM is a potential food supplement aiding diabetic control [44, 45]. It has been found to decrease the serum glucose levels and also the postprandial insulin flow [46, 47]. The prebiotic effects of KGM and KGM hydrolysates on colonic health are emerged. KGM administration in both animal models and human decrease the fecal pH and increase short chain fatty acids. The growth of probiotic bacteria, for example Bifidobacteria and Lactobacilli, are promoted whereas pathogenic *Clostridium* growth is suppressed [39, 41, 48, 49]. Short chain fatty acids are proposed to involve in the detoxification of compounds associated with oxidative stress. In addition, probiotics, prebiotics and short chain fatty acids may play a synergistic role in protective mechanisms against carcinogen-enhanced colon cancer [50].

#### **Plant Mucilaginous Polysaccharides**

Plant mucilages are the other kinds of water soluble fibers. They are non-starch polysaccharides secreted in the plant cell as normal products of cell activities. Their functions may be considered to aid in water storage, decrease diffusion in aquatic plants, aid in seed dispersal and germination and act as a membrane thickener and food reserve for plant growth [8]. Mucilages and exudate gums are look-alike. Whilst mucilages are normal products in plant cells (Figure 3), gum is abnormal products, resulting from pathological conditions brought about either by injury or by unfavorable conditions of plant growth and are usually formed by changes in existing cell walls (gummosis) [7].

Mucilages are insoluble in alcohol and in most organic solvents. They are soluble in water and yield slippery, viscous or gel-like mass. Mucilages are found in many parts of plants such as seeds, fruits, leaves, stems, bark or roots. Plant mucilages have been credited as one of plant chemical constituents showing hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic activities [51-53].



**Figure 3** Plant secretory cells containing mucilages. A transverse section through the outer portion of a young okra pod stained for polysaccharide by the Periodic acid-Schiff reaction. The large secretory cells of the pericarp are conspicuous because of their size and staining reaction (x 160) [54].

#### Basella alba Linn. (Basellaceae)

Ceylon spinach (Figure 4) is commonly grown for its young shoots, which make a succulent, slightly mucilaginous vegetable. A number of medicinal applications have been reported: young leaves are used as a laxative and the red fruit juice as eyedrops to treat conjunctivitis. In Kenya the leaves are used to cure stomachache and constipation after childbirth, pulped leaves are applied as a poultice to sores. In East Africa the plant is given to livestock to increase milk production. Red forms of *B. alba* are commonly planted as ornamentals [55-57].



Figure 4 The shoots of B. alba (left). Drawing of flowering and fruiting shoot (right) [55].

#### Hibiscus esculentus Linn. (Malvaceae)

Okra (Figure 5) is widespread in tropical, subtropical and warm temperate regions, but is particularly popular in West Africa, India, the Philippines, Thailand and Brazil. All parts of the plant especially the pods (fruits) are mucilaginous. In Asia, okra is typically prepared as a vegetable and used in traditional medicine for the treatment of sorethroat, catarrh, gastric irritations and also used as enemata [9, 58]. Various researches have given different compositions of the okra mucilage. Whistler and Conrad reported that the polysaccharide obtained from okra pod was composed of galactose, rhamnose and galacturonic acid [59, 60]. Amins also found these three monosaccharides and arabinose. The ratio of galactose to rhamnose to galacturonic acid and to arabinose was 8.0 : 1.0 : 0.6 : 0.3 [61]. While Woolfe and colleagues found that

the okra mucilage was composed of galactose, rhamnose, galacturonic acid and glucose in the ratio of 1.00 : 0.12 : 1.30 : 0.10 [62]. The okra mucilage, isolated and purified from deseeded immature okra fruits by Tomoda *et al.*, was composed of rhamnose, galacturonic acid, and galactose in the ratio of 2.52 : 2.18 : 2.73 [63]. Hirose reported the composition of galactose, rhamnose, galacturonic acid, glucose and glucuronic acid in the ratio of 1.83 : 2.46 : 1.00 : 0.33 : 0.17 [64]. Sengkhamparn studied the alcohol insoluble polysaccharide from okra pod which was shown to be arabinose : rhamnose : xylose : mannose : galactose : galacturonic acid : glucose : glucuronic acid in the ratio of 5 : 3 : 5 : 3 : 17 : 16 : 44 : 7 [65]. The main structural of okra mucilage, studied by Tomoda *et al.*, was revealed as a repeating unit of alternating  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 2)-linked rhamnosyl and  $\alpha$ -(1 $\rightarrow$ 4)-linked galactosyl units attached to O-4 of about half the Lrhamnosyl residues. The acetyl content was approximately 5.5% w/w. However, the precise position of the acetyl groups was not mentioned [63, 65].

Okra mucilage has been indicated for the abilities to lower blood glucose and cholesterol in rats [66, 67]. Cholesterol-lowering effect is related to bile acid binding capacity. The *in vitro* bile acid-binding percentage of okra was 16% compared to cholestyramine (a bile acid-binding, cholesterol-lowering drug) on equal dry matter basis [68, 69].



Figure 5 The fruiting plant of *H. esculentus* (left). Drawing of flowering shoot and fruit (right) [58, 70].

#### Litsea glutinosa Lour. (Lauraceae)

This evergreen shrub or tree (Figure 6) is a common species throughout India and also in Southeast Asia and the Philippines. The leaves are mucilaginous and are regarded in India as emollient and antispasmodic. The bark contains many mucilages, slightly balsamic and mildly astringent. Ground to a paste, it is applied as an emollient on wounds, bruises, sprains, rheumatic and other swollen joints. It contains laurotetanine, tannin and a red-brown coloring matter [9]. A water-soluble arabinoxylan (-xylose and -arabinose in the molar ratio 1.0:3.4) is isolated from the mucilaginous bark and a backbone of  $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -linked  $\beta$ -D-xylopranosyl residues substituted at both positions 2 and 3 with side chains composed of either single or  $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -linked arabinofuranosyl residues is indicated [71].



**Figure 6** The leaves of *L. glutinosa* (left). Drawing of flowering branches and fruits (right) [72].

#### Ocimum canum Sims. (Labiatae)

This plant (Figure 7) is well-known for its mucilaginous seeds. The mucilages of the seeds is composed of D-glucose, D-galactose, D-mannose, L-arabinose, D-xylose, and L-rhamnose in the approximate ratio 8:5:2:1:1:2 and uronic acids (8.15%). The uronic acids were identified as D-galacturonic and D-mannuronic acids. The mucilages were fractionated into an acid-soluble fraction, which was significantly acetylated (6.6%) and composed of D-xylose (42%), L-arabinose (14%), L-rhamnose (12%), and D-galacturonic acid (30%) together with traces of D-galactose and D-glucose. The acidic polysaccharide is highly branched having a (1 $\rightarrow$ 4)-linked xylan backbone in which some the xylose residues carry branch points at C-2 and some at C-3, and also revealed the mode of linkage of the sugar residues present in the side chains. The acid- insoluble fraction was rich in hexosans which on further fractionation with alkali gave a glucomannan with glucose and mannose in the ratio 10: 3 and a galacto-glucomannan with galactose, glucose, and mannose in the ratio 2: 4:1 [73, 74].

There are some reported beneficial effects of *Ocimum canum* mucilage. Ingestion of swollen seeds in water showed reducing in the incidence of constipation in 53 elderly postoperative patients [75]; lowering plasma glucose in 16 patients with diabetes mellitus [76]; decreasing in serum total cholesterol and also increasing in serum HDL in 20 hyperlipoproteinemic patients [77].



**Figure 7** The leaves and inflorescences of *O. canum* (left). Drawing of plant (right) [78].

#### Plantago ovata Forssk. (Plantaginaceae)

Psyllium (Figure 8) is native to the Mediterranean region of Europe and North Africa and is cultivated extensively in Iran and India for its seeds. When the seeds are boiled in water, the thin, white seedcoat (called "husk"), greatly expands due to its 25-30% mucilages content. The separated "husk' is much used as a demulcent, mainly as a gentle bulk laxative, and for soothing the intestinal irritation or inflammation which causes diarrhea and dysentery [9]. Laidlaw and Percival revealed that psyllium mucilaginous polysaccharide composes of D-xylopyranose and L-arabofuranose [79, 80]. Further studies showed the detail of a *neutral* arabinoxylan (arabinose 22.6%, xylose 74.6%, molar basis; only traces of other sugars). With about 35% of nonreducing terminal residues, the polysaccharide is highly branched. The data are compatible with a structure consisting of a densely substituted main chain of  $\beta$ -(1  $\rightarrow$  4)-linked D-xylopyranosyl residues, some carrying single xylopyranosyl side chains at position 2, others bearing, at position 3, trisaccharide branches having the sequence L-Araf- $\alpha$ -(1  $\rightarrow$  3)-D-Xylp- $\beta$ -(1  $\rightarrow$  3)-L-Araf [81-83].



Figure 8 The leaves and inflorescences of *P. ovata* [84].

Psyllium is notably promoted in laxative property. The studies *in vivo* and *in* vitro showed that psyllium mucilage was partially fermented in the large intestine. The mucilages in caecum helped in gelatinous or slippery stool and also increased the stool weight as well as stool viscosity [85-88]. Psyllium has been reported to produce lipid-lowering effect in hypercholesterolemic patients. Dietary psyllium supplement reduces blood total and LDL cholesterol but not HDL-cholesterol [89, 90]. However, the effect in normocholesterolemic or slightly hypercholesterolemic subjects has not been significantly shown [91]. Animal model studies have supported that the mechanism of cholesterol-modulating effect is due to increasing in hepatic bile acid synthesis from cholesterol and fecal bile acid excretion [88, 92, 93]. Psyllium improves glycemic control in type II diabetic patients as well. Psyllium intake decreases not only fasting blood glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) in type II diabetic patients but also postprandial glucose and insulin in healthy individuals [12, 13, 94-96]. Psyllium mucilage seems to act on small-intestinal motility, in the manner that reduces transit time in the proximal small intestine, thereby shorten glucose contact time with the absorbing surface and thus flatten glycemic response [94, 96].

#### Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. (Sterculiaceae)

Malva nuts, the fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* (Figure 9) are known to contain a large amount of mucilaginous substance and have been used as a traditional medicine in South-East Asia. The fruits have a yellowish black skin and very much wrinkled. When soaked in water, the layers swell up into a cloudy mass. It is used for curing fever, dry cough, phthisis, hemorrhoids, all sorts of ulcer and recovering the diseased organs. its virtue is due to being a mucilaginous drink for domestic cooling, demulcent and laxative remedy [97].

*S. scaphigerum* mucilage composes of 31.9% arabinose, 29.2% galactose, 29.5% rhamnose and also 6.4% uronic acid. The linkages of polysaccharide are terminal l-Araf, 1,3-linked l-Araf, 1,4-linked D-Galp, 1,4-linked D-GalAp with small amounts of branching units: 1,2,4-linked D-Galp and 1,2,3,4-linked Rhap [98].





Figure 9 The fruits (left) and tree (right) of S. scaphigerum

#### Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn. (Papilionaceae)

Fenugreek (Figure 10) is a leguminous plant appeared to be indigenous to the Mediterranean. It is an annual herb with trifoliate leaves and whitish flowers followed by a beaked pod which contains 10-20 yellowish-brown color seeds. The seeds are bitter, mucilaginous, aromatic and are traditionally used as galactogogue, carminative, astringent, emollient and anaphrodisiac [99]. Monosaccharide and methylation analysis of the seeds mucilages suggest that the structural backbone is composed of a linear  $\beta$ -D (1 $\rightarrow$ 4) D -mannose units with  $\alpha$ -D (1 $\rightarrow$ 6) D -galactose units attached as side chains. The fenugreek galactomannans have the ratios of galactose to mannose from 1.00:1.02 to 1.00:1.20 [100, 101].

Fenugreek seed is a well-known Indian medicinal plant traditionally used as hypoglycemic agent [102]. The seed powder was shown to improve blood as well as urinary glucose, mean area under the glucose tolerance curve, glycosylated hemoglobin and serum insulin levels in diabetic patients [103, 104]. The water extract of fenugreek seed exhibited dose dependent effects on hypoglycemic and anti-hyperglycemic activities in normal, hyperglycemic and induced diabetic rats [105, 106]. The seed

fractionation showed the involvement of the galactomannan mucilaginous component in the hypoglycemic effect [104, 107, 108]. Galactomannan from fenugreek seed acted as viscous barrier against glucose diffusion then reduced rate of glucose uptake in the small intestine [109]. Fenugreek also plays a role in lipid metabolism improvement. It has been shown the reduction in blood cholesterol, low density lipoprotein and triglyceride in human and animal model [104, 105, 107].



Figure 10 Drawing of plant, fruit and seed of T. foenum-graecum [110].

#### **Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Complications**

Diabetes mellitus means sweet urine disease. The word "diabetes" comes from the Greek word meaning "siphon" or "pass through" which is the obvious sign of the disease - excessive urination. The word "mellitus" comes from the Latin word meaning "sweet like honey" according to the observation that when a container of urine from a person with diabetes is allowed to evaporate, it appears to have a solid which is sugar (glucose) [111]. Diabetes is a metabolic disease that occurs when the pancreas does not produce enough insulin, or alternatively, when the body cannot effectively use the insulin it produces. Insulin is a hormone that regulates blood sugar. Hyperglycemia, or raised blood sugar, is a common effect of uncontrolled diabetes and over time leads to serious damage to many of the body's systems, especially the nerves and blood vessels. There are 4 types of diabetes classified by etiology. Type 1 diabetes is characterized by a lack of insulin production. It is typically an autoimmune disease, resulting in destruction of pancreatic islet  $\beta$ -cells which secrete insulin. Type 2 diabetes is more common form of diabetes results from the body's ineffective use of insulin or known as insulin resistance. Type 3 diabetes is other specific type, for example, diseases, drugs or chemicals induced diabetes. Type 4 diabetes is any form of diabetes during pregnancy or gestational diabetes [2, 112].

Type 2 diabetes comprises 90% of people with diabetes around the world and is one of the major public health challenges of the 21st century. The number of cases worldwide in 2000 is estimated to be about 171 million and is projected to rise to 366 million in 2030 [113]. The World Health Organization indicates that diabetes-related deaths worldwide are almost 3 million cases per year and will increase to double in 2030. The estimation illustrates that in people aged 35–64 years, about 6–27% of deaths are related to diabetes. In most developing countries, almost one in ten deaths in economically productive individuals aged 35–64 years can be attributed to diabetes. Even in the poorest countries, at least one in twenty adult (35–64 years of age) deaths are diabetes related and this burden will double in the next 25 years. The situation in Thailand is shown similarly. The prevalence of diabetes in Thailand will increase from about 1.5 million in 2000 to 2.7 million in 2030 [2, 114]. This circumstance results that the demand for medical care in type 2 diabetes will continue to increase. The substantial care and cost are due to the management of complications of the
disease at both the starting point and the degree of deterioration over time. Macrovascular complications (ischemic heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, and cerebrovascular disease) has been estimated to be the largest cost component followed by microvascular complications (nephropathy, neuropathy and retinopathy) [115]. The risks of cardiovascular disease and myocardial infarction in diabetic patients are at least 4-fold higher than people without diabetes. Diabetes is reported as an independent risk factor for stroke at all age range. Occlusion of peripheral arteries can cause intermittent cramping pain of muscles which can later result in functional impairments, disabilities and amputations. Diabetes nephropathy is a leading cause of renal failure. Microvascular complication of the peripheral retina leading to visual disability and blindness increases with prolonged duration of diabetes. Peripheral neuropathy in diabetes includes sensory, focal/multifocal, and autonomic neuropathies. Loss of sensation coupled with impaired peripheral vascular function leads to foot ulceration or injury and finally amputation [116, 117].

Endothelial dysfunction is considered to be an integral component of vascular diseases. The endothelium is a singer layer of cells that line the interior wall of blood vessels. It functions as an interface between the blood and the tissues and control of the transportation across the bloodstream. Impaired endothelial function induces vasoconstriction, inflammatory and proliferative changes in the arterial wall and promotes atherosclerotic lesion growth. Prevention or normalization of endothelial function, contributes to the prevention of vascular lesion progression or destabilization [21, 117]. Hyperglycemia has been proposed to be a crucial factor inducing endothelial dysfunction. High concentration of blood glucose as well as high glucose fluctuation during postprandial period correlates with the increase in reactive oxygen species or oxidative stress. Reactive oxygen species, such as superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide, mediates the activation of the imbalance in vasoregulating factors (vasodilators and vasoconstrictors) then affects endothelial homeostasis and triggers atherogenic changes, including increases in low-density lipoprotein oxidation, sympathetic tone, vasoconstriction, and thrombogenicity [118, 119]. The mechanisms involve overrunning of mitochondrial electron transport system due to high glucose transport through endothelial cells. This mitochondrial flux activates reactive oxygen species mediated glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase inhibition. This glycolytic enzyme converts glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate to 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate,

an intermediate in glycolytic pathway. Accumulation of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate initiates alternative pathways and by-products which activate mechanisms resulting endothelial damage.

One of the by-products is irreversible cross-linked protein derivatives called advanced glycosylated end products (AGEs) which stimulate stiffness of the endothelium. The other is diacylglycerol which further mediates activation of protein kinase C (PKC). PKC plays a role in impairment of regulating endothelial cell contraction, shape-change and intercellular adhesion which contribute to the loss of endothelial barrier function in diabetes. Proteinuria and microangiopathy which affect survival and visual outcome, for example, are diabetic complications of macromolecules leakage across the endothelial cells barrier. In addition to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate, glucose accumulation also occurs due to normal glycolysis disruption. Accumulation of sugar alcohol *via* intracellular polyol pathway of glucose has been linked to osmotic damage to microvascular cells. Excess intracellular glucose also increases the hexosamine pathway flux which plays an important role in hyperglycemia - induced and lipid - induced insulin resistance. Moreover, the activation of the hexosamine pathway may affect gene expression and protein function of the endothelial cells which contribute to the pathogenesis of diabetic complications (Table 1) [116, 120-122].

Endothelial dysfunction can occur at any levels of the blood vessels (from aorta to capillaries) and is a risk factor for the development of atherosclerosis, the first stage to ischemic heart disease and ischemic stroke. Atherothrombosis is postulated as the mechanism leading to atherosclerosis. Blood vessels, with endothelial dysfunction, proceed LDL deposition, cell adhesion molecule expression, extracellular matrix and cytokines accumulation, macrophages and fibroblasts migration, smooth muscle cell proliferation then finally atherothrombotic plaques formation [123]. Dyslipidemia, as characterized by elevated blood triglyceride, cholesterol, LDL but lessen HDL, is commonly coincided in type 2 diabetes. Insulin signalling perturbation in the character of insulin resistance plays a role in postprandial intestinal chylomicrons overproduction resulting in *de novo* lipogenesis and cholesterogenesis as well as small dense LDL elevation [4, 124]. Small and dense LDL are more atherogenic than large and buoyant one. The patients with small dense

LDL had impaired response to acetylcholine, endothelium-dependent vasodilator more than comparable large LDL control. This may be due to the evidences that LDL with small size have higher affinity to deposit in the artery walls and moreover, have higher susceptibility to oxidative stress than large LDL particles. Around 50% of Type 2 diabetic patients have a prevalence of small dense LDL. Impaired glucose tolerance and clinical diabetes are associated to a stepwise decrease in LDL size [125, 126]. In summary, the concurrence of insulin resistance, hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia aggravate atherosclerosis and complications in type 2 diabetic patients.

Mechanisms	Mechanisms Effects	
Glycolytic enzymes	Increase oxidative stress	
fluctuation •	Increase precursor of	
• Activation of PKC	AGEs	
• Increase polyol	Decrease vasodilator -	Dlood flow
pathway flux	nitric oxide	• Blood-flow
• Increase hexosamine	Increase vasoconstrictor -	abnormalities
pathway flux	Endothelin-1	• Vascular permeability
•	Increased vascular	J
	endothelial growth factor	• Angiogenesis
	Increase plasminogen	Capillary occlusion
	activator inhibitor-1	Vascular occlusion
9	Increase fibrinolytic	
	inhibitor	• Pro-inflammatory
<b>N</b> N 161 V I I	Increased nuclear factor –	gene expression
	kappa B	• Multiple effects
• Non-enzymatic •	Increased vascular	
reactions between	endothelial growth factor	
extracellular proteins •	Increased nuclear factor –	
and glucose	kappa B	
<ul> <li>Increase AGEs</li> </ul>		

#### Table 1 Mechanisms of hyperglycemia-induced endothelial dysfunction

#### **Postprandial Hyperglycemic Control**

The management to minimize diabetes related morbidity and mortality is a crucial need. Accordingly, blood glucose control is an important goal to diminish the risk of long term health complications of type 2 diabetes. In addition to glycosylated hemoglobin and fasting plasma or preprandial glucose, postprandial glucose is recently recommended as essential target for diabetes management [127, 128]. Glycemic goals for clinical management of diabetes are defined as glycosylated hemoglobin <6.5%, preprandial glucose <100 mg/dl and 2-hour postprandial glucose <140 mg/dl. A plasma glucose concentration of more than 140 mg/dl at 2 hours after food ingestion is defined by The World Health Organization as postprandial hyperglycemia. Postprandial glycemic control is more important for preprandial glucose and HbA1c goal achievement. With normal glucose tolerance, postprandial glucose level typically returns to preprandial level within 2-3 hours [128]. Impairment in postprandial glycemic control is a first sign of abnormality in insulin sensitivity. Moreover, postprandial glucose fluctuation significantly correlates to oxidative stress and inflammation activations. Intervention to flatten postprandial glucose excursion is focusing as a potential preventive care for type 2 diabetes complication especially vascular failure [119, 129, 130].

After meal ingestion, the digestion of starch to glucose starts in the mouth by salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase and completely digested in small intestine by pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase in the lumen and  $\alpha$ -glucosidases in the brush border of intestinal epithelial cells or enterocytes. Glucose final product then transports across enterocyte into blood by diffusion (passive transport) and glucose transporters (active transport) at brush border membrane (lumen-enterocyte interface) and basolateral membrane (enterocyte-blood interface) of enterocyte. The rate-limiting step of glucose absorption is the final glucose transport into the enterocyte. Retardation of glucose releasing and adhering to intestinal brush border during nutrient movement along the intestinal tract is up to lessen glucose absorption and flatten postprandial hyperglycemia [27, 131, 132].

Soluble dietary fibers including mucilages and gums are designated as useful functional foods according to the association with the reduced risks of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases [133, 134]. Viscosity is the ability of some polysaccharides to thicken or form gels when mixed with fluids resulting from physical entanglements

among the constituents within the fluid or solution. Soluble fibers can form thickened or viscous solutions dependent on the physico-chemical factors including molecular weight, particle size, chemical composition and structure. The concentration of soluble fiber usually has a direct, non-linear effect on viscosity of solutions at a constant temperature. High concentrations of soluble fibers such as  $\beta$ -glucans, alginate, gum, glucomannan and galactomannans have been associated with the ability of these fibers to form highly viscous solutions when mixed with fluid [135]. The viscous characteristics due to water-holding and gel-forming capabilities have been proposed as an important mechanistic factor to delay gastric emptying and delay absorption of glucose in gastrointestinal tract [136-138]. Intestinal contraction is the mechanism beneficial to create turbulence and convection currents which accelerates nutrient movement from the center of the lumen to the epithelial cells for diffusion or transportation of the nutrients. Dialysis tubing technique is a simple model simulated to intestinal contractions and it has been shown that viscous luminal contents retard both convection and diffusion resulting in slow nutrient movement and absorption [139].

The inhibition of  $\alpha$ -glucosidases is one of the powerful interventions coping directly with postprandial hyperglycemia. The  $\alpha$ -glucosidases are two enzyme complexes in the brush border of the small intestine that breakdown oligosaccharides and disaccharides from amylase digested starch and glycogen to absorbable glucose. They are human sucrase-isomaltase complex [EC 3.2.1.48 and 3.2.1.10] and human maltase–glucoamylase complex [EC 3.2.1.20 and 3.2.1.3]. Natural or synthetic  $\alpha$ glucosidase inhibitors are of therapeutic interest to delay postprandial hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes. Amongst these, Acarbose, Miglitol and Voglibose which are saccharide derivatives, have been approvable for anti-diabetic drugs and widely used in the treatment of patients with type 2 diabetes [140-142]. The  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibiting activity is due to the substrate mimetic structure of these drugs (Figure 11). The first discovered natural glucose mimicking  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitor is an iminosugar produced by Streptomyces species, Nojirimycin. This compound is unstable and usually has to be derivatized to 1-deoxynojirimycin which is a potent inhibitor of all kinds of  $\alpha$ -glucosidases in vitro but has moderate efficacy in vivo. Natural 1-deoxynojirimycin can be biosynthesized in the mulberry trees as well as produced by many strains in the genera *Bacillus* and *Streptomyces*. There will still be

a continuous finding of carbohydrate-derived or glycomimetic drugs acting against  $\alpha$ glucosidases. The benefit of  $\alpha$ -glucosidases inhibition in accordance with a reduction in diabetic complications especially cardiovascular symptoms has been reported. This protective effect of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitors has also been recommended for prediabetic as well as anti-diabetic agents [143, 144].



Figure 11 Carbohydrate-derived-α-glucosidase inhibitors

## **Postprandial Dyslipidemic Control**

The postprandial state is a cluster of metabolic abnormalities that tends to be new targets for prevention and care of diabetic complications. Despite of the normal fasting lipids concentration, the metabolic abnormalities can be associated with delayed postprandial lipids clearance. In addition to postprandial hyperglycemia,

(hypertriglyceridemia and/or hypercholesterolemia) postprandial lipemia is recognized as the other risk factor for atherosclerosis process in type 2 diabetic people [124, 125]. Triglycerides or triacylglycerols are esters of 3 fatty acids and 1 glycerol molecule. These lipids play the important roles of energy source and transporter of fat-soluble agents in bloodstream. Cholesterol is an essential lipid for mammal's bodies. Its function involves cellular membrane physiology, dietary nutrient absorption, reproductive biology, stress responses, salt and water balance, and calcium metabolism. In adults, dietary lipids digestion starts in the stomach and finishes in the small intestine. Most lipids from the diets are triglycerides. After ingestion, triglycerides are firstly emulsified by mastication and gastric peristalsis. About 5-30% of triglyceride droplets are hydrolysed by gastric lipase to liberate fatty acids and diglycerides. The fatty acids released during gastric digestion promote further pancreatic lipolysis. In duodenum, emulsified tri- and diglycerides are completely hydrolysed by dual action of gastric lipase and co-lipase dependent pancreatic lipase to yield fatty acids and monoglycerides. Besides co-lipase, the adsorption of pancreatic lipase to the lipid interfaces is also facilitated by bile acids [145]. Dietary cholesterol can be in free form or esterified with various fatty acids. Cholesteryl esters are hydrolysed by pancreatic esterase before absorption. On the contrary of triglycerides, cholesterol sources are both exogenous diets and endogenous synthesis by the liver and excretion in bile. Digested lipids (fatty acids, monoglycerides and free cholesterol) are absorbed from the lumen through the enterocyte membranes of small intestine by micellar solubilization with bile acids. In the enterocytes, monoglycerides and cholesterol are re-esterified with fatty acids and assemble with specific proteins to form lipoproteins named chylomicrons which then transport via the thoracic duct into blood circulation [146]. During circulation, native chylomicrons (cholesterol-poor and triglycerides-rich) are disassembled by endothelial cell-bound lipoprotein lipase and apolipoprotein exchange to distribute fatty acids and glycerol to peripheral tissues and resulting in chylomicron remnants (triglycerides-poor and cholesterol-rich) which are rapidly cleared from the circulation by the liver. Accumulation of remnants leads to hypercholesterolemia, a risk factor for atherosclerosis [147, 148].

Diet therapy is one approach of non-pharmacological treatments for postprandial dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis reduction. Soluble dietary fibers including gums and mucilages, for example,  $\beta$ -glucan, psyllium, pectin and guar gum have been reported that they can reduce blood cholesterol, LDL and triglycerides in animal models and clinical trials [133, 149, 150]. Postprandial triglycerides and chylomicron remnants reductions have been shown as well [151]. One mechanism in dyslipidemia improvement of soluble fibers involves in the viscosity of the lumen medium which leading to increase size of triglyceride emulsion droplets, decrease emulsion interface areas, decrease emulsified triglycerides and finally decrease triglyceride lipolysis [152]. Another mechanism includes interference in bile metabolism and lipid micellar solubilization. Bile is an aqueous solution produced in liver, stored in gallbladder and secreted into duodenum for aiding dietary lipids digestion. The major components in bile compose of bile acids, phospholipids, cholesterol, bile pigments, proteins and inorganic compounds. Bile acids (Cholic acid and Chenodeoxycholic acid) are synthesized from cholesterol in the liver and after synthesis, they are normally conjugated with the amino acids taurine and glycine. Cholic acid can be dehydroxylated by intestinal bacteria to Deoxycholic acid. In intestinal lumen, bile acids assemble triglycerides, fatty acids, cholesterol and phospholipids into dietary mixed micelles which have a relatively high diffusion rate due to their small size around 2–3 nm in radius. Mixed micellar mechanism is one of the major routes of cholesterol transport. The aqueous solubility of cholesterol (about 1 nM) can increase more than a million fold in the presence of bile-salt micelles [153-155]. Viscous soluble dietary fibers have been shown to decrease intestinal bile acids absorption, increase fecal bile acid excretion, upregulate bile acids synthesis from cholesterol resulting in blood cholesterol reduction [92, 149]. Interference of micellar solubility is one approach for regulation of intestinal uptake of dietary lipids. There have been experimental evidences for cholesterol lowering effect via competition in micellar solubilization [156-159]. Pancreatic lipase is the other target in postprandial dyslipidemia control. This triglyceride hydrolytic enzyme responds in digestion of about 50-70% of total dietary lipids. Inhibition of lipase activity can decrease in dietary lipid absorption and dyslipidemia. Lipase inhibitors derived from natural products including soluble fibers have also been illustrated [160-163].

# **CHAPTER III**

# MATERIALS

## **Plant Materials**

- 1. Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follows:
  - 1.1 Basella alba Linn. (Family Basellaceae) Malabar Spinach ผักปลัง Collected place: local market, Bangkok

Part used: aerial parts

1.2 *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Family Malvaceae)Okra

กระเจ<mark>ี๊ยบเขียว</mark>

Collected place: local market, Bangkok Part used: fruits

1.3 Litsea glutinosa (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Family Lauraceae)

Avocat Marron

หมี่, หมีเหม็น

Collected place: Princess Maha Chakri Sirindhorn Herb Garden, Rayong Part used: Leaves

1.4 Ocimum canum Sims. (Family Labiatae)
Hairy Basil
แมงลัก

Collected place: local market, Bangkok Part used: seeds

1.5 *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Family Plantaginaceae)Psyllium

# เทียนเกล็ดหอย

Collected place: local market, Bangkok Part used: seeds 1.6 Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. (Family Sterculiaceae) Malva Nut

สำรอง, พุงทะลาย

Collected place: Thai traditional drugstore, Bangkok Part used: fruits

1.7 *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Family Papilionaceae) Fenugreek

ลูกซัด

Collected place: Thai traditional drugstore, Bangkok Part used: seeds

All plant materials were authenticated by Ruangrungsi, N.

 Konjac glucomannan (μn) (the Siam Konjac Co., Ltd.) was used for comparison.

All voucher specimens have been deposited at the College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University.

## **Chemicals and Reagents**

- 1. Cholesterol (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)
- 2. Cholesterol Liquicolor (Human Gasellsthaft, MBH, Germany)
- Deuterium oxide 99.9 atom % D (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 4. 1-Deoxynojirimycin (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 1,1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- Glucose Liquicolor kit (Human Gesellschaft f
  ür Biochemica und Diagnostica MBH, Germany)
- α-Glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.20) from Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Sigma Chemical Co. Ltd, St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 8. Hexamethyldisilazane (Supelco, Bellefont, PA, USA)
- 9. Lactated Ringers Buffer pH 7 (General Hospital Product Public Co., LTD.,

Thailand)

- Lipase (EC 3.1.1.3) from porcine pancreas (Sigma Chemical Co. Ltd, St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 11. Methanolic HCl (Supelco, Bellefont, PA, USA)
- Monosaccharide standards (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- *p*-Nitrophenyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 14. p-Nitrophenyl laurate (Sigma-Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 15. Oleic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 16. Phosphorus pentoxide (Sigma-Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 17. Pullulan standard P-series (Shodex, Showa Denko KK, Japan)
- Sodium tauro-deoxycholate hydrate (NaTDC) (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 19. Stearic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- 20. Trimethylchlorosilane (Supelco, Bellefont, PA, USA)
- 21. All other chemicals were analytical grade.

# Materials

- Dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 3,500 Da) (Spectrum Medical Industries, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, USA)
- Dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 12,000 Da) (Sigma–Aldrich Company Co., St. Louis, MO, USA)
- Polyethersulfone syringe membrane filter (0.22 μm x 33 mm) (Millex<sup>®</sup> GP, Millipore, MA, USA)
- PVDF centrifugal membrane filter (0.45 μm) (Ultrafree-MC, Millipore, MA, USA)
- PVDF syringe membrane filter (0.45 μm x 13 mm) (VertiPure<sup>TM</sup>, Vertical Chromatography Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand)

- Zebron ZB-FFAP capillary GC column (30m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 μm) (Phenomenex<sup>®</sup>, CA, USA)
- SGE BPX5 capillary GC column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 μm) (SGE Analytical Science Pty Ltd., Victoria, Australia)
- OHpak SB-806 M HQ HPLC column (8.0 mm, i.d. x 300 mm length) (Shodex, Showa Denko KK, Japan)
- 9. NMR sample tube (5 mm, i.d.) (Shigemi Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan)

## Instrumentations

- 1. Falling ball viscometer (HAAKE Mess-Technik GmbH u. Co, Germany)
- 2. Spectrophotometer T60 (PG Instruments Limited, UK)
- 3. Gas chromatography (GC) Varian model CP3800 equipped with flame ionization detector (Varian Inc.,USA)
- Gas chromatography (GC) Thermo Finnigan model Trace GC Ultra equipped with Finnigan DSQ Quadrupole detector (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.,USA)
- High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system consisted of a Hitachi L-600 pump (Hitachi Seisakucho Co., Japan), Rheodyne 7725i loop injector (USA) and an TRD-880 refractive index detector (Shimamura Instruments Co., Japan)
- Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) Spectrometer model JEOL JNM-GSX500A (JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan)

# จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

# **CHAPTER IV**

# METHODOLOGY

## **Mucilages Extraction**

The mucilages were extracted from the specified plant parts with warm water and concentrated by lyophilization. The lyophilized samples were re-dissolved in water, precipitated twice with 2 volume of 80% ethanol and dialyzed against distilled water in a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 3,500 Da). The samples were lyophilized, ground and kept in refrigerator for further studies.

## **Effect on Glucose Diffusion**

Glucose entrapment against diffusion was studied using dialysis tubing method [164]. The mucilages and glucomannan were dissolved in Ringers buffer. Glucose was added to make the final concentration of 2% glucose and 0, 0.5, 1 and 2 % w/v polysaccharide gel. Four milliliters of each concentration was dialyzed against 60 ml of Ringers buffer in a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 12,000 Da) for 2 h under rotationally shaking at 150 rpm. The released glucose was determined using glucose oxidase which oxidized glucose to gluconic acid with the formation of hydrogen peroxide. Then hydrogen peroxide further reacted with 4-aminophenazone and phenol in the presence of peroxidase to form quinoneimine chromophore with a  $\lambda$ max at 510 nm. The procedure was performed using Glucose Liquicolor kit according to manufacturer's instructions with some modification. Briefly, about 10 µl of the buffer was added to 1 ml of the reagent, mixed and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. Measure the absorbance of the standard glucose solution and the sample against the reagent blank at 510 nm.

## Effect on α-Glucosidase Inhibition

 $\alpha$ -Glucosidase activity was assayed using 0.1M sodium phosphate buffer at pH 6.9 and 1 mM *p*-nitrophenyl- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranoside was used as a substrate [165]. The concentration of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase was 1 U/mL in each experiment. The enzyme (4 µl) was incubated in the absence or presence of various concentrations of tested polysaccharides at 37 °C. The preincubation time was specified at 10 min and the substrate (95 µL) was added to the mixture. The reaction was carried out at 37 °C for

20 min, and then 100  $\mu$ L of 1M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> was added to terminate the reaction. Enzymatic activity was quantified by measuring the absorbance of *p*-nitrophenol at 405 nm. 1-Deoxynojirimycin was used as the positive control. The percent inhibition was calculated by the following equation:

# Inhibition (%) = $(1 - B/A) \times 100$

Where, A was the absorbance of reactive mixture without sample or positive control and B was the absorbance of reactive mixture with test sample or positive control). IC<sub>50</sub> values denoted the concentration of sample required to inhibit 50% of enzyme activity.

#### **Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Single Bile Micelles**

The method was adapted from Matsuoka and colleagues [166]. Ten milligrams of solid cholesterol (excess for saturation) were added into a 10 mL test- tube containing 3 ml of 25 mM sodium taurodeoxycholate (NaTDC) in 15 mM phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.5). Fifteen milligrams of the mucilages were added (equal to 0.5% w/v) and the mixtures were stirred by magnetic stirrer for 24 h (to reach the equilibrium system). Separation of soluble micelles was performed by filtration through a 0.22  $\mu$ m polyethersulfone membrane filter.

The cholesterol concentration in the filtrates was determined using cholesterol oxidase which oxidized cholesterol to cholestene-3-one with the formation of hydrogen peroxide. Then hydrogen peroxide further reacted with 4-aminophenazone and phenol in the presence of peroxidase to form quinoneimine chromophore with a  $\lambda$ max at 510 nm. The procedure was performed using Cholesterol Liquicolor kit according to manufacturer's instructions with some modification. Briefly, about 10 µl of the filtrate was added to 1 ml of the reagent, mixed and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. Measure the absorbance of the standard cholesterol and the sample against the reagent blank at 510 nm.

## Effects on Fatty Acids Solubility in Single Bile Micelles

Ten milligrams of solid stearic acid or oleic acid (excess for saturation at specified concentration of NaTDC) were added into a 10 mL test- tube containing 3 ml of 25 mM or 0.3125 mM of sodium taurodeoxycholate (NaTDC) in 15 mM phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.5) respectively. Fifteen milligrams of the mucilages

were added (equal to 0.5% w/v) and the mixtures were stirred by magnetic stirrer for 24 h (to reach the equilibrium system). Separation of soluble micelles was performed by filtration through a 0.22  $\mu$ m polyethersulfone membrane filter [166].

The stearic acid and oleic acid concentration in the filtrates were determined using gas chromatographic method. The filtrate (0.2 µl) was directly injected splitlessly to FFAP capillary column and detected by flame ionization detector. The oven temperature was 200°C, raised to 250°C at the rate 2.5°C/min, while the injector and the detector temperatures were set at 200 and 250°C, respectively. The helium carrier gas was controlled at 1 ml/min. The quantification was achieved by using the external standard method.

#### **Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Mixed Bile Micelles**

Ten milligrams of solid cholesterol were added into a 10 mL test- tube containing 3 ml of 25 mM sodium taurodeoxycholate (NaTDC) in 15 mM phosphate buffer saline (pH 7.5) containing 10 mg of oleic acid. Fifteen milligrams of the mucilages were added and the experiments were performed as described above [166].

#### **Effect on Lipolytic Activity**

Lipolytic activity was determined using *p*-nitrophenyl laurate with and without pancreatic lipase. The assay was adapted from previous report [167]. p-Nitrophenyl laurate emulsion was prepared as 0.08 % w/v in 5 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 5.0) containing 2% Triton X-100. Prior to use, it was heated in boiling water bath for 5 min to aid dissolution, cooled in water bath at 37°C and mixed well. Porcine pancreatic lipase was dissolved in water (10 mg/ml) and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 5 min. Orlistat in 1% DMSO was used as positive control for lipase inhibitor. The assay mixture containing 400 µl of 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 8.2), 50 µl of 10 mg/ml mucilages (equal to 1.0% w/v) and 150 µl of lipase was incubated in water bath at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 5 min then 450 µl of *p*-Nitrophenyl laurate was added to start the reaction. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 2 h then filtered through 0.45 µm PVDF The *p*-nitrophenol liberated from lipolysis was measured membrane. bv spectrophotometry at 410 nm. For lipolytic activity without lipase (micellar catalytic effect), 150 µl of water was added instead of enzyme. All samples were assayed in triplicate and a sample blank was prepared by adding acetate buffer instead of Tris buffer.

#### **DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity**

The potential antioxidant activity of polysaccharide samples was determined on the basis of the scavenging activity of the stable DPPH free radical [168]. Various concentrations of polysaccharides samples (0.5 ml) were added to 1.5 mL of a 0.004% methanolic solution of DPPH. Absorbance at 517 nm was determined after 30 min, and the percent scavenging activity was calculated by the following equation:

Scavenging effect (%) =  $(1 - B/A) \times 100$ 

Where, A was the absorbance of control (DPPH solution plus water) and B was the test sample (DPPH solution plus test sample or positive control).  $IC_{50}$  values denoted the concentration of sample required to scavenge 50% DPPH free radicals.

## **Swelling Properties**

Swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) were determined from the ratio of the volume and weight of swollen gel to the dry weight of sample respectively [169, 170]. A 0.050 g of each mucilage was suspended in 25 ml of water in a 25-ml graduated cylinder for 2 h. The volume of swollen gel was measured. The supernatant liquid was removed, the swollen gel was weighed and SV and WAI were calculated per gram dry weight of the mucilages.

#### Viscosity

Viscosity of the mucilages at various concentrations was measured with a falling ball viscometer at 20°C [171, 172]. The sample solution was filled into a slightly inclined cylindrical measuring tube of an inner diameter of approximately 15.94  $\pm 0.01$  mm. The standard ball with known density and radius was placed and allowed to pass through the measuring tube. The time a ball required to fall a defined distance was recorded and calculated to the viscosity using the following equation:

Viscosity (in mPa.s) = K  $(\rho 1 - \rho 2)_t$ 

Where, K was ball constant (mPa.s.cm3/g.s),  $\rho 1$  was density of the ball (g/cm<sup>3</sup>),  $\rho 2$  was density of the liquid (g/cm<sup>3</sup>) at the measuring temperature and t was falling time of the ball in seconds.

#### **Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights**

The average molecular weights of the mucilaginous polysaccharides were estimated by size exclusive chromatography using HPLC system and detected by refractive index detector [173]. The separations were performed using an OHpak SB-806 M HQ HPLC column with a mobile phase of 10 mM ammonium bicarbonate eluted at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min. The samples were prepared in 0.1 M NaCl solution and filtered through 0.45 µm PVDF centrifugal filters. Sample concentrations were 0.5% (5 mg/ml) except *O. canum* which was 0.25%. Sample injection volume was 10 µl. A calibration curve for molecular weight estimation was performed using pullulan of defined molecular weights ranging from 5.9 to 2,350 kDa as calibrated standards.

#### **Monosaccharides Analysis**

The polysaccharide samples (1 mg) were subjected to methanolysis with 4 M methanolic HCl at 80°C for 24 h in acid-washed vial. Mannitol was added as an internal standard. The samples were dried with nitrogen, methanol was added and the samples were dried again. This washing was repeated twice [174]. Prior to gas chromatographic analysis, the samples were trimethylsilylated using trimethylchlorosilane : hexamethyldisilazane : Pyridine 1:2:5 (0.4 ml) at room temperature for 30 min. Instrumentation was performed on a Finnigan Trace GC Ultra with DSQ MS detector and a split–splitless injector. The column was a SGE BPX5 capillary GC column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25  $\mu$ m). Helium was used as carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The injector and detector temperature were 260 and 300°C respectively. The column temperature was initially 140°C, then an increase of 1°C/min to 170°C and followed by 6°C/min to 250°C. Standard monosaccharides were performed as above procedure except for methanolysis using 1 M methanolic HCl instead.

## **Total Protein Analysis**

The protein content of the polysaccharide samples were determined by Lowry method [175] using bovine serum albumin as protein standard. One milligram of the

polysaccharide sample in 0.5 ml of normal saline was added to 0.7 ml of Biuret reagent, mixed and incubated at room temperature for 20 min. Then 0.1 ml of folinciocalteu in water (1:1.2) was added, mixed, incubated at room temperature for 30 min. then read the absorbance at 750 nm. Bovine serum albumin 0-100  $\mu$ g/ml was used as standard.

## NMR spectroscopy of *B. alba* mucilage

One dimension <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy was performed using the conditions described previously with some modification [176]. Six milligram of *B. alba* mucilaginous polysaccharide was kept in a desiccator over phosphorus pentoxide in vacuo for 24 h at room temperature. The thoroughly dried sample was dissolved in 0.6 mL of D2O (99.9%) and filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m PVDF centrifugal cup. The filtrate was repeatedly freeze-dried and redissolved in 0.6 mL of D2O for three times, then transferred to a Shigemi NMR tube (5.0 mm O.D. × 25 cm). NMR experiment was performed on a JEOL 500 MHz instrument with standard JEOL software at 30 °C.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The significance of differences between the mean values was determined by analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Dunnett's test, and a p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# **CHAPTER V**

# RESULTS

## **Mucilages Extraction**

Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follows: aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. (Basellaceae), fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Malvaceae), leaves of *Litsea glutinosa* (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Lauraceae), seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims. (Labiatae), seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Plantaginaceae), fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. (Sterculiaceae) and seeds of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Papilionaceae). The mucilages from selected plants yielded range from 3.5% to 23.0% as shown in Table 1 and Figure 12.

Plants	Used parts	Yield	Yield (% w/w)	
Basella alba Linn.	aerial parts	3.5	(fresh weight)	
Hibiscus esculentus Linn.	fruits	5.6	(fresh weight)	
Litsea glutinosa Lour.	leaves	12.0	(fresh weight)	
Ocimum canum Sims.	seeds	17.6	(dry weight)	
Plantago ovata Forssk.	seeds	19.0	(dry weight)	
Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don.	fruits	23.0	(dry weight)	
Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn.	seeds	15.0	(dry weight)	

Table 2 Mucilaginous	polysaccharides	from selected	d plants
----------------------	-----------------	---------------	----------



Figure 12 Mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants 1) B. alba 2) H. esculentus 3) L. glutinosa

41



**Figure 12 (Cont.)** Mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants 4) *O*. canum 5) *P.ovata* 6) *S. scaphigerum* 7) *T. foenum graecum* 

#### **Effect on Glucose Diffusion**

From the studied model, all mucilages showed concentration dependence (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0%w/v) on glucose entrapment activity. The percentage of glucose releasing from 2.0% mucilages were 61.6, 70.8, 71.7, 80.6, 83.4, 85.8 and 92.8 % for *O. canum, P. ovata, T. foenum-graecum, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, B. alba* and *S. scaphigerum* respectively. While 65.4% of glucose release was obtained from the glucomannan at the same concentration (2.0%) (Figure 13).



**Figure 13** Percentages of glucose releasing from 0.5, 1, 2% mucilages containing 2% glucose after 2 hr dialysis (n=4). The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages, 99.8±0.9%) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.05).

#### Effect on $\alpha$ -Glucosidase Inhibition

Percentage of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition by 0.5% mucilages isolated from, *S. scaphigerum*, *L. glutinosa*, *H. esculentus*, *O. canum*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *P. ovata*, *B. alba* and by 0.5% glucomannan showed were 82.6, 41.0, 37.6, 32.8, 30.6, 27.0, 25.0 and 19.7 % respectively, whereas 1-Deoxynorjirimycin at the same concentration showed the inhibitory activity of 47.6% (Figure 14). *S. scaphigerum* mucilage was further investigated and found that the concentration for 50% inhibition of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity (IC<sub>50</sub>) was 0.17% (1.7 mg/ml) (Figure 15).



**Figure 14** Percentage of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition by 0.5% mucilages (n = 3). The significance of differences from the control (Deoxynojirimycin) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test. \*%inhibition was significantly lower than control (*p*<0.05), #%inhibition was not significantly different from control (Deoxynorjirimycin) (*p*>0.05), \*\*%inhibition was significantly higher than control (*p*<0.05).



Figure 15 Percentage of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition from various concentration of *S.* scaphigerum mucilage

# Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Single Bile Micelles

When mixed 0.5% of plant mucilages or glucomannan in choleterol-bile acid system, the extent of cholesterol solubility in the micelles was determined compared to bile acid alone. Mucilages from *B. alba, H. esculentus, L. glutinosa, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum* had no effect to cholesterol solubility, while mucilages from *O. canum* and *T. foenum-graecum* showed slightly inhibition as same as glucomannan (Figure 16).

#### Effects on Fatty Acids Solubility in Single Bile Micelles

The experiments on stearic acid (saturated fatty acid, C 18:0) showed contrary result. Most mucilages investigated and glucomannan, except mucilages from *B. alba* and *S. scaphigerum*, increased stearic acid solubilization in bile salt micelles. Mucilage from *B. alba* slightly inhibited stearic acid micellar solubilization whereas mucilage from *S. scaphigerum* had no effect on stearic acid solubility (Figure 17).

At 25 mM of NaTDC, cholesterol and stearic acid were saturated, but oleic acid was thoroughly dissolved. To reach the same saturation as cholesterol and stearic acid, bile acid was serial diluted and found that the concentration of 0.3125 mM was suitable for 10 mg of oleic acid in the study (Figure 18). At this circumstance, 0.5% mucilages especially glucomannan showed strong inhibition of oleic acid solubility in bile micelles (Figure 19).

#### Effect on Cholesterol Solubility in Mixed Bile Micelles

With oleic acid in the bile micelles, cholesterol solubility showed twofold increase (Figure 18). Slight inhibition of cholesterol solubility results from Glucomannan, mucilages from *O. canum* and *T. foenum-graecum* were obtained in mixed bile micelles similar to those obtained in single bile micelles, whereas mucilages from *H. esculentus, L. glutinosa, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum* had no effect on cholesterol solubility. There was an exception for the mucilage from *B. alba*. It was found that *B. alba* mucilage inhibited cholesterol solubility in mixed bile micelles only (Figure 20).





The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01).





\*%Solubility was significantly lower than gel 0 (p<0.05), <sup>#</sup>%solubility was significantly higher than gel 0 (p<0.01), <sup>##</sup>%solubility was significantly higher than gel 0 (p<0.05)

The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test.



**Figure 18** Concentration (mg/ml) of cholesterol, stearic acid and oleic acid in bile micelles (n=3) without mucilaginous polysaccharides (gel 0)





The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01).



**Figure 20** Percentages of micellar solubility of cholesterol in single bile micelles (25 mM NaTDC) and mixed bile micelles (25 mM NaTDC + Oleic acid) with 0.5 % w/v of mucilaginous polysaccharides compared to gel 0 (n=3).

The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01).

## **Effect on Lipolytic Activity**

Lypolysis of *p*-nitrophenyl laurate was catalyzed by pancreatic lipase. Lipolytic activity of lipase was inhibited by Orlistat with the IC<sub>50</sub> of 8.4  $\mu$ g/ml (Figure 21). All the studied mucilages showed no effects on the lipase activity (Figure 22). Moreover, the mucilages showed lipolytic effect on *p*-nitrophenyl laurate in the mixture without lipase (micellar catalytic effect). *O. canum* mucilage showed the strongest effect whereas glucomannan showed the weakest effect (Figure 23).



Figure 21 Percentages of lipolytic activity of pancreatic lipase with orlistat



Figure 22 Percentages of lipolytic activity of pancreatic lipase with mucilages



Figure 23 Percentages of lipolytic activity of mucilages without pancreatic lipase

## **DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity**

In the present study, the polysaccharide samples were incubated with 100  $\mu$ M DPPH in methanol for 30 min using ascorbic acid as standard antioxidant (n=3). Table 3 demonstrated the scavenging activity of the polysaccharide samples on the DPPH radical. Except for mucilages from *O. canum* and *P. ovat*a, other mucilages showed scavenging activities higher than glucomannan. Especially the mucilages from *L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum* and *H. esculentus* had IC<sub>50</sub> less than 1 mg/ml.

 Table 3 DPPH scavenging activity as IC<sub>50</sub> among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants

Mucilages	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)	Mucilages	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)	
B. alba	2.00	S. scaphigerum	0.61	
H. esculentus	0.70	T. foenum-graecum	1.52	
L. glutinosa	0.49			
O. canum	>10	Glucomannan	4.15	
P. ovata	>10	Ascorbic acid	0.02	

## **Swelling Properties**

Swelling properties of selected mucilages were studied (Table 4). *O. canum* and *S. scaphigerum* mucilages showed highest values of swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) followed by *P. ovata* and *T. foenum-graecum* mucilages respectively. Other mucilages showed the same order of SV and WAI values as obtained from glucomannan.

**Table 4** Swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) amongmucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants (n=3)

Mucilages	SV (ml/g)	WAI (g/g)
Glucomannan	23.9 ± 1.9	22.1 ± 1.9
B. alba	$25.7 \pm 6.3$	$15.8\pm3.0$
H. esculentus	$22.2 \pm 4.6$	$20.7\pm4.3$
L. glutinosa	27.5 ± 8.5	$20.6\pm4.6$
O. canum	$115.9 \pm 17.3^{*}$	$111.1 \pm 17.1^{*}$
P. ovata	$60.4 \pm 7.7^{*}$	$48.3 \pm 3.2^{*}$
S. scaphigerum	$210.5 \pm 4.3^{*}$	$102.8 \pm 1.6^{*}$
T. foenum-graecum	38.9 ± 1.0	$19.1 \pm 1.4$

<sup>\*</sup>The significance of differences of SV and WAI from the control (glucomannan) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (p < 0.01).

#### Viscosity and Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights

The viscosities of the selected mucilaginous polysaccharides using falling ball viscometry (n=3) were shown in Table 5. *O. canum* mucilage had highest viscosity value even at low concentration (0.5%), followed by Glucomannan, mucilages from *P. ovata*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *H. esculentus*, *L. glutinosa* and *B. alba* respectively. *S. scaphigerum* mucilage formed non-homogenous gel which was broken by falling ball. Their average molecular weights (MW) as determined by high performance size exclusive chromatography (HPSEC) were shown in Table 5. *O. canum* mucilaginous polysaccharide had highest MW (~ 6,000 kDA), followed by mucilages from *T. foenum-graecum* (~ 4,000 kDA), *H. esculentus*, *S. scaphigerum*, *L. glutinisa*, Glucomannan, *P. ovata* and *B. alba* respectively.

		Viscosity (cP)			
Mucilages	MW (kDa)	0.5%	1.0%	2.0%	
Glucomannan	823 ± 99	$21.1\pm0.3$	$143.2 \pm 8.9$	$4,582.8 \pm 60.3$	
B. alba	$140 \pm 27$	$2.2\pm0.3$	$3.5 \pm 0.4$	$7.0\pm0.4$	
H. esculentus	$2,188\pm208$	$7.7\pm0.7$	$17.1 \pm 0.9$	$45.1\pm2.0$	
L. glutinosa	$1,\!532\pm204$	$1.8\pm0.2$	$5.9\pm0.6$	$19.1\pm2.6$	
O. canum	> 2,350	$581.3\pm59.1$	> 5,000	> 5,000	
P. ovata	$408 \pm 6$	$6.2\pm0.3$	$18.5\pm1.1$	1,575.3±57.5	
S. scaphigerum	$1,\!847\pm570$	N/A	N/A	N/A	
T. foenum-graecum	>2,350	$6.7 \pm 0.4$	$29.6 \pm 1.9$	$213.0 \pm 17.9$	

 Table 5 Viscosity and MW among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants

 (n=3)

<sup>\*</sup>Pullulan equivalent molecular weight (5.9 – 2,350 kDa)

N/A – Not Applicable

The selected mucilaginous polysaccharides as well as glucomannan were analyzed for the primary structures of their monosaccharide compositions as shown in Table 6 and 7. Total protein contents in these polysaccharides ranged from 2% w/w in *P. ovata* mucilage to 38% w/w in *L. glutinosa* mucilage (Table 6).

Ara<sup>b</sup> Rha Xyl Man Gal GalA Glc TP<sup>c</sup> 493.8 309.6 107.8 glucomanan (11.6)(3.6)(0.04)43.5 10.7 88.7 33.7 34.6 235.5 B. alba (0.8)(1.0)(0.1)(1.3)(0.8)(0.04)27.8 46.5 285.7 152.7 *H. esculentus* (0.6)(1.4)(0.04)(1.4)84.1 6.0 56.4 9.7 29.7 88.9 375.1 L. glutinosa (1.2)(0.2)(0.5)(0.1)(0.6)(0.5)(0.01)98.4 47.8 28.0 37.5 156.2 66.3 81.8 O. canum (0.7)(2.5)(0.8)(0.2)(0.02)(1.1)(1.5)165.2 52.0 697.5 51.7 20.3 P. ovata (3.4)(3.0)(0.02)(13.5)(1.3)121.7 155.2 20.8 144.6 173.4 195.3 21.1 S. scaphigerum (3.4)(4.8)(0.7)(2.9)(0.03)(0.3)(0.2)310.4 302.2 209.5 18.8 20.4 82.2 T. foenumgraecum (0.01) (0.4)(0.2)(1.2)(1.2)(0.5)

**Table 6** Monosaccharide composition and total protein content  $(\mu g/mg)^a$  among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants

<sup>a</sup> mean (SD) of 3 runs. <sup>b</sup> monosaccharides found in these mucilages included arabinose (Ara), rhamnose (Rha), xylose (Xyl), mannose (Man), galactose (Gal), galacturonic acid (GalA) and glucose (Glc). Fucose (Fuc) and glucuronic acid (GlcA) were absent. <sup>c</sup> Total protein (TP).

	Ara <sup>b</sup>	Rha	Xyl	Man	Gal	GalA	Glc
glucomanan				61			39
B. alba	24	5			41	13	16
H. esculentus		8		1	13		79
L. glutinosa	33	2	22	3	10		29
O. canum	12	6	25	8	34		14
P. ovata	18	5	74			4	
S. scaphigerum	23	24	4		23	23	3
T. foenum-graecum		3	3	42	41		11

 Table 7 Monosaccharide composition (% mole ratio)<sup>a</sup> among mucilaginous poly-saccharides from selected plants

<sup>a</sup> mean of 3 runs. <sup>b</sup> monosaccharides found in these mucilages included arabinose (Ara), rhamnose (Rha), xylose (Xyl), mannose (Man), galactose (Gal), galacturonic acid (GalA) and glucose (Glc). Fucose (Fuc) and glucuronic acid (GlcA) were absent.

ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

## NMR spectroscopy of *B. alba* mucilage

The 1D <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of *B. alba* mucilaginous polysaccharide was observed. The anomeric proton resonance showed chemical shifts of major  $\beta$ -linkage (4-5 ppm) and minor  $\alpha$ -linkage (5-5.5 ppm). The signal at 4.20 ppm was singlet while the signals at 4.65-4.66, 5.10-5.11 and 5.24-5.25 ppm were doublet with the coupling constant of 7.8, 4.0 and 4.0 Hz respectively (Figure 24).



Figure 24<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of *B. alba* mucilaginous polysaccharide

คูนยวทยทรพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# **CHAPTER VI**

## DISCUSSION

## **Effect on Glucose Diffusion**

Dialysis tubing technique is a simple model to evaluate the potential of soluble dietary fibers to additionally retard the diffusion of glucose in the intestinal tract. Although movement of glucose in the gut is not affected by the true diffusion but by the convective activity of intestinal contractions In vitro dialysis with shaking or stirring could mimic events occurring in vivo [139, 177]. The entrapment ability of mucilage gel resulted in decreasing of glucose diffusion into the external solution. The retardation of the nutrient flow into the external medium is an indication of the modulating effect of that fiber on glucose absorption in the jejunum [177]. From the studied model, all mucilages showed concentration dependence (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0%w/v) on glucose entrapment activity. The percentage of glucose releasing from 2% mucilages were 61.6, 70.8, 71.7, 80.6, 83.4, 85.8 and 92.8 % for mucilages from O. canum, P. ovata, T. foenum-graecum, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, B. alba and S. scaphigerum respectively, while 65.4% of glucose release was obtained from the glucomannan at the same concentration. Glucomannan seems to be the most impressive natural fiber with increasing importance in the biomedical and pharmaceutical fields. It has been found to decrease the serum glucose levels and also the postprandial insulin flow which aiding diabetic control [36]. Psyllium seeds from P. ovata and fenugreek seeds from T. foenum-graecum are also reported as an adjunct to dietary therapy in patients with type II diabetes, to reduce glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin [12, 103]. Figure 1 showed that the retardation effect on glucose movement of the mucilages from P. ovata and T. foenum-graecum were lower degree than glucomannan. There have been previous studies of hypoglycemic effect of O. canum aqueous extract from leaves [178]. This study showed that O. canum mucilage of all concentration superiorly entrapped glucose compared to glucomannan.
#### Effect on α-Glucosidase Inhibition

 $\alpha$ -Glucosidase inhibitor is a class of oral medications for type 2 diabetes. Its action affects on decreasing the absorption of dietary starches from the intestinal lumen so lowering the level of postprandial glucose and consequently reducing glucotoxicity on the endothelial vessels [118]. The effect of selected mucilages against  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity was evaluated. At the concentration of 0.5%, mucilages from S. scaphigerum, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, O. canum, T. foenum-graecum, P. ovata, B. alba and glucomannan showed the inhibitory percentage of 82.6, 41.0, 37.6, 32.8, 30.6, 27.0, 25.0 and 19.7 % respectively. A positive control (1-Deoxynorjirimycin) at the same concentration showed the inhibition of 47.6%. S. scaphigerum mucilage was further investigated and found that the concentration for 50% inhibition of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity (IC<sub>50</sub>) was 0.17% or 1.7 mg/ml. S. scaphigerum or Malva nut tree is mostly found in the East of Thailand. The gel made from malva nuts is used as ingredients in dishes and beverages. Malva nut drink is traditionally used to relief coughing and sore throats. The previous study in type 2 diabetic patients reported that after the intake of malva nut drink, fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c decreased significantly [179]. The present study showed a possible mechanism in  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition.

#### **Effects on Lipids Solubilities in Bile Micelles**

Bile acids play an important role to increase lipid solubility in aqueous matrix by micelles formation. Lipid metabolism depends on its solubility which leads to permeability from intestinal lumen to circulation. Interfering of lipid-bile micelles characters can affect lipid solubility which influences on lipid absorption, distribution and metabolism. The bile acids are synthesized from cholesterol and conjugated to glycine or taurine with the ratio of glycine to taurine 2:1 in the liver and secreted into the gallbladder. Typical biosynthesized bile acids are classified into cholic acid (CA), deoxycholic acid (DCA), chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) and ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) by the ratio of 12 (CA) : 7 (DCA) : 13 (CDCA) : 1 (UDCA) in human gallbladder [180]. Deoxycholic acid is a secondary bile acid is more hydrophobic and more capable to solubilize cholesterol and fatty acids in the intestinal lumen [181]. NaTDC has been previously reported for its stability in cholesterol-bile salt micelles formation [166, 182, 183].

Absorption of cholesterol and fatty acids depends on their ability to form micelles within the intestinal lumen. Several dietary factors have been reported to reduce cholesterol absorption. The exact mechanism to inhibit cholesterol absorption is not fully understood. Several mechanisms have been proposed, including competition with cholesterol for solubilization in micelles within the intestinal lumen, co-crystallization with cholesterol to form insoluble crystals, interaction with digestive enzymes and regulation of intestinal transporters of cholesterol [181]. There have been experimental evidences for competition solubilization between cholesterol and phytosterols [156, 157]. When equimolar amounts of cholesterol and sitosterol were sonicated together, the extent of cholesterol solubility in the micelles was significantly reduced  $(0.131 \pm 0.010$  to  $0.043 \pm 0.009)$  [159]. The cholesterollowering effect was similar for plant sterols and plant stanols [158]. It was found that pectin and acacia (0.5%) significantly increased the aqueous solubility of cholesterol while slight increases were observed for the solubility of cholesterol in both high and low molecular weight dextran solutions [184, 185]. Carageenans (0.1%) significantly decreased cholesterol solubility [185].

At 25 mM of NaTDC (above the critical micelles concentration [166]), cholesterol and stearic acid (saturated fatty acid, C 18:0) were saturated. Oleic acid (unsaturated fatty acid, C 18:1) has lower critical micelles concentration than stearic acid and cholesterol. So the concentration of NaTDC used for oleic acid experiment was adjusted to 80-fold lower than for stearic acid and cholesterol. Bile acids are naturally formed mixed micelles with phospholipids, fatty acids and monoglycerides. Many studies have reported enhanced bioavailability of drugs when administered in combination with mixed micellar solutions [186]. Oleic acid was found to up-regulate specific cholesterol uptake in the rat intestinal cell line [187] and enhance the affinity of drugs to the micellar phase [188]. From this study, cholesterol solubility was increased 2-fold in oleic-NaTDC mixed micelles.

The mucilages from *H. esculentus, L. glutinosa, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum* at the concentration of 0.5 % had no effect on cholesterol solubility in both simple and mixed micelles. Mucilages from *O. canum* and *T. foenum-graecum* showed slightly inhibition as same as glucomannan. Their inhibitory effects were not different between simple and mixed micelles. Even though all studied polysaccharides especially glucomannan strongly inhibit oleic acid solubility in micelles. Furthermore

B. alba which had the least effect on oleic acid solubility showed the extent of cholesterol solubilization inhibition in only mixed micelle. The mechanisms of interference on cholesterol micellar solubilization among mucilages from B. alba, O. *canum, T. foenum-graecum* and glucomannan might be different. The experiments on stearic acid showed that most mucilages and glucomannan, except mucilages from B. alba and S. scaphigerum, increased stearic solubilization in bile salt micelle. The previous clinical studies in healthy males and females found that high stearic acid diet resulted in less postprandial plasma triglyceride concentration than other saturated and unsaturated fatty acids [189, 190]. The studies in rats and hamsters showed that high dietary stearic acid reduced cholesterol absorption and increased excretion of endogenous cholesterol [191, 192]. One postulation was that the stability of micellar phospholipids containing stearic acid was impaired compared to unsaturated fatty acids. Otherwise, stearic acid might inhibit cholesterol absorption through systemic mechanisms within the intestinal lumen [193]. This study demonstrated the effects of the mucilaginous polysaccharides on decreasing oleic acid and increasing stearic acid in micelle formation which might be relevant to their cholesterol lowering potentials.

#### **Effect on Lipolytic Activity**

Pancreatic lipase (triacylglycerol acylhydrolase, EC 3.1.1.3) is a key factor of postprandial lipid digestion and absorption. It catalyzes the hydrolysis of triglycerides to monoglycerides and free fatty acids. This enzyme is a class of interfacial enzymes that interact only with lipid-water interfaces such as emulsions, micelles or bilayers [194, 195]. The assay of lipolysis activated by lipase in this study was spectrophotometric determination using p-nitrophenyl acyl ester of lauric acid (C 12:0 fatty acid) as model substrate. The hydrolysis of *p*-nitrophenyl acyl esters yielded fatty acid and *p*-nitrophenol, a chromophore in slightly alkaline media [196]. Without enzyme and mucilage in the media, no lipolysis occurred. Enzymatic lipolysis in 37°C for 2 h was set as 100% of activity. The reaction showed dose dependent effect by lipase inhibitor, orlistat. The IC<sub>50</sub> of orlistat in this study (8.4  $\mu$ g/ml) was higher than the previous reports (28 ng/ml [197] and 0.22 µg/ml [198]. This was due to the difference in substrates, lipases and the assay conditions. The effect of the mucilages on enzymatic lipolysis was studied and found that the mucilages from B. alba, H. esculentus, L. glutinosa, O. canum, P. ovata, S. scaphigerum, T foenum-graecum as well as glucomannan did not inhibit lipase activity. On the other hand, these

mucilages showed the catalytic activity effect on non-enzymatic lipolysis of the model substrate. Micellar catalyzed chemically hydrolysis of *p*-nitrophenyl acyl esters were previously reported [199, 200]. Under alkaline condition (1 mole of NaOH per mole of ester), hydrolysis of an ester in microemulsion could be occured. The reaction in microemulsion type medium would be accelerated by compartmentalization, concentration of reactants and specific attraction between the reactant and the surfactant palisade layer [200]. The studied mucilages were found to be surface active on lipid-water interface but not on lipase enzyme. There was different interfacial activation among these mucilaginous polysaccharides.

#### **DPPH Radical-Scavenging Activity**

Endothelial dysfunction is a key factor in all stages of atherosclerosis development. This term refers to an imbalance in the production of vasodilators at the circumstance of high concentrations of reactive oxygen species or oxidative stress [118]. Scavenging of the stable free radical diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) is the basis of a common antioxidant assay. There have been widely different protocols which differed in the conditions (i.e. pH, solvents, wavelength of measurement), yielding different results. In the present study, the polysaccharide samples were incubated with 100 µM DPPH in methanol for 30 min using ascorbic acid as standard antioxidant. The number of DPPH reduced by one molecule of ascorbic acid (antioxidant stoichiometry) was 2.5 which was higher than the theoretic value of 2.0 but close to the previous experiments [201, 202]. The study demonstrated the scavenging activity of the polysaccharide samples on the DPPH radical. Except for mucilages from O. canum and P. ovata, other mucilages showed scavenging activities higher than glucomannan. Especially the mucilages from L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum and *H. esculentus* had IC<sub>50</sub> less than 1 mg/ml. Although the abilities were lower than that of ascorbic acid, these mucilages counteracted with DPPH as strongly as *Ganoderma* polysaccharides (IC<sub>50</sub> between 3-13 mg/ml) [203].

#### **Swelling Properties and Viscosity**

There are a series of physical interactions in the gastrointestinal tract which affect absorption, as follow: diffusion of nutrients from the bulk solution to the intestinal epithelia, the rate of removal of waters of hydration from a complex nutrient solvent system, counter diffusion of nutrients away from the intestinal surface and diffusion of nutrients along the epithelial surface to an appropriate absorptive site [204]. Water can be held within the polysaccharide matrix causing considerable swelling and viscous solution or gelation. Viscous polysaccharide gels may slow absorption by trapping nutrients, digestive enzymes or bile acids in the matrix and by slowing mixing and diffusion in the intestine [205]. These physical properties of selected mucilages were studied. *O. canum* and *S. scaphigerum* mucilages showed highest values of swelling volume and water absorption index followed by *P. ovata* and *T. foenum-graecum* mucilages respectively. Other mucilages showed the same values of swelling volume and water absorption index as glucomannan. Viscosity was determined using falling ball viscosity method. *O. canum* mucilage had highest viscosity value even at low concentration (0.5%). Viscous character seemed to be a prominent factor affected the hypoglycemic potential of *O. canum* but not *S. scaphigerum* mucilage.

#### **Estimation of the Average Molecular Weights**

The weight average MW of the mucilaginous polysaccharides in this study were relative MW based on the standard linear polymaltotriose polysaccharides pullulans. The MW of glucomannan, around 800 kDa was in the range of previously reported (1000 kDa) [38]. Average molecular weights of polysaccharides isolated from H. esculentus and S. scaphigerum were ~ 2,000 kDa compared to 1,700 kDa of water extracted okra pod analyzed by Tomada et al. using gel chromatography [63] and 2,270 kDa of alkaline extracted malva nut gum reported by Somboonpanyakul and the colleagues using HPSEC [98]. The previous study of L. glutinosa mucilage of the bark revealed highly viscous polysaccharide product [71]. This study found that L. glutinosa mucilage of the leaves had MW of ~ 1,500 kDa. P. ovata mucilage extracted with water in this study showed the same range of MW (~ 400 kDa) as one extracted with alkali solution [206]. T. foenum-graecum mucilage by this method (> 2,350 kDa) showed higher MW than the previous reports (1,418 - 2,350 kDa) [100, 101]. O. canum seeds mucilage has been reported for MW of 3,030 kDa [74] which corresponded to the highest MW of this mucilage among selected polysaccharides. B. alba mucilage was revealed in this study for its MW of 140 kDa. It should be noted that this MW estimation had the limitation due to some factors. The first one was that the MW of the studied polysaccharides was determined from the elution time of each

polysaccharide across the gel permeation chromatography column compared to the elution characteristics of pullulan. The MW corresponded to the size of the polysaccharides. The differences in structure and conformation among the tested polysaccharides and pullulan standard affected the uncertainty of the results [207]. The second limitation was due to the lack of information about the MW distribution among these studied polysaccharides.

#### **Monosaccharides and Total Protein Analysis**

The selected mucilages as well as glucomannan were analyzed for the primary structures of their monosaccharide compositions. Konjac glucomannan in this study showed the mannose : glucose molar ratio of around 1.6 : 1 which was in the range reported elsewhere. Galacturonic acid was found in 3 from 7 mucilages namely B. alba, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum. Whereas rhamnose was common sugar found in all studied mucilages. Chemical analyzes of the mucilages in this study showed some discrepancies from the previous reports. This was due to the differences in either plant origin or methodology of extraction and analysis. Literature reviews of monosaccharide composition among these mucilages were summarized in Table 8. H. esculentus mucilage from this study had highest glucose (79%) composition compared to 44% and 5% from the literatures. L. glutinosa mucilage from the leaves in this study had xylose/ arabinose ratio differed from the reported barks. O. canum mucilage showed higher propotion of galactose and xylose than previous studies. P. ovata and T. foenum-graecum mucilages displayed the typical characters of arabinoxylan and galactomannan respectively. The water extracts of S. scaphigerum mucilages in this report had similar ratio of monosaccharide with the alkaline extracts reported elsewhere. B. alba mucilage was firstly revealed the composition of arabinose, rhamnose, galactose, galacturonic acid and glucose (24:5:41:13:16). Total protein contents in these crude polysaccharides ranged from 2% in P. ovata to 38% in L. glutinosa.

glucomanan	Man : Glc 1.6 : 1	[35]
	Rha : Gal : GalA 21.8 : 25.2 : 27.3	[63]
H. esculentus	Rha : Gal : GalA: Glc : GlcA 1 : 2.5 : 1.8 : 0.3 : 0.2	[64]
	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Man : Gal : GalA : Glc : GlcA 5 : 3 : 5 : 3 : 17 : 16 : 44 : 7	[65]
L. glutinosa	Ara : Xyl 3.4 : 1.0 (barks)	
O. canum	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Man : Gal : Glc 1 : 2 : 1 : 2 : 5 : 8 (uronic acids 8.15%)	[73]
	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Gal 6.0 : 7.7 : 9.7 : 1.1	[74]
P. ovata	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Gal 23.3 : 0.8 : 75.1 : 1.2	[206]
	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Man : Gal : Glc 20.7 : 1.1 : 50.3 : 1.1 : 4.8 : 2.0	[208]
	Ara : Rha : Xyl : Man : Gal : Glc 22.0 : 1.5 : 56.7 : 0.4 : 3.8 : 0.6	[209]
S. scaphigerum	Ara :Rha : Gal 1.1 : 1.0 : 1.0	[98]
T. foenum-graecum	Ara: Rha : Man : Gal : Glc 0.5 : 0.2 : 31.4 : 26.2 : 0.6	[101]
	Gal : Man 1.00 : 1.02 to 1.00 : 1.14	[100]

 Table 8
 Monosaccharides composition among mucilaginous polysaccharides from

 literatures

#### NMR spectroscopy of *B. alba* mucilage

*B. alba* mucilaginous polysaccharide was further investigated for more details using its proton NMR spectrum. The strong doublet signals at 4.65 and 4.66 with the coupling constant of 7.8 Hz were assigned to the anomeric proton (H-1) of  $\beta$ -Dgalactopyranosyl residue. The signal at 4.20 was ascribed to the H-4 of  $1 \rightarrow 4$  linked galactose residue [210-212]. The weak doublet signals at 5.10-5.11 and 5.24-5.25 ppm with the coupling constant of 4.0 Hz might be assigned to  $\alpha$ -arabinofurasyl residue [212, 213]. The NMR spectrum corresponded with the monosaccharide composition analyzed by GC which galactose was shown as major component followed by arabinose. The sharp signals at 1.93 and 2.74 ppm were not assigned. The preliminary investigation of *B. alba* mucilage postulated the backbone structure of  $\beta$ galactan.



#### **CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION**

The plants bearing mucilages in this study have been well known in Thailand as both edible and medicinal plants. Mucilaginous typed polysaccharides from these plants were investigated for the biological activities especially antidiabetic potential. The *in vitro* models were performed and there seemed to be various mechanisms possibly involved by the mucilages due to their physico-chemical characteristics. Konjac glucomannan was comparatively studied. O. canum mucilage from the seeds exhibited potential in glucose entrapment and cholesterol micellar solubilization inhibition. The glucose entrapment potential was attributable to its very high viscosity and MW. The other mucilages as well as glucomannan performed dose related viscosity and glucose entrapment effect. S. scaphigerum mucilage was revealed for its other potential for antidiabetes, the  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitor with IC<sub>50</sub> of 0.17%. In addition to O. canum mucilage, T. foenum-graecum and B. alba mucilages and glucomannan could inhibit cholesterol solubilization in bile acid micelles. All polysaccharides investigated affected fatty acids solubility in bile acid micelles as well as non-enzymatic micellar catalysis of lipolysis. The mucilages from L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum and H. esculentus also possessed anti- free radical characteristics with  $IC_{50}$  of less than 1 mg/ml. The monosaccharides composition among these mucilaginous polysaccharides were demonstrated and compared to another reports from distinguished techniques. B. alba mucilaginous polysaccharide was first reported for its composition and postulated its  $\beta$ -galactan backbone.

The *in vitro* models are beneficial tools for primary investigation of bioactive nutrients. They provide analytical supports to refine the possible and capable research designs prior to further *ex vivo* or *in vivo* studies which help in the reduction of the use of laboratory animals as well as clinical trial participants. Further researches are needed to establish the bioactivity, bioaccessibility and bioavailability of each mucilaginous polysaccharide during digestion and absorption. There also are many species of natural products bearing mucilages in Thailand. The *in vitro* study designs which mimic the physiological conditions in human gastrointestinal tract are needed to be developed for valid screening information.

#### REFERENCES

- Izydorczyk, M., Cui, S. W. and Wang, Q. Polysaccharide gums: structures, functional properties and applications. In: Cui, S.W.(ed.). <u>Food</u> <u>Carbohydrates: Chemistry, Physical Properties and Applications</u>. pp. 263-307. USA: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, 2005.
- [2] World Health Organization. <u>Diabetes</u>. Fact sheet No. 312. [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/diabetes/facts/en/index.html.</u> [30 November 2009]
- [3] World Health Organization. <u>Definition and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus and</u> <u>Intermediate Hyperglycemia: Report of A WHO/IDF Consultation</u>.
   [Online] 2006. Available from: http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/en/.
   [30 November 2009]
- [4] Hsieh, J., Hayashi, A. A., Webb, J. and Adeli, K. Postprandial dyslipidemia in insulin resistance: Mechanisms and role of intestinal insulin sensitivity. <u>Atherosclerosis</u> Supplements 9 (2008): 7-13.
- [5] American Diabetes Association. Nutrition Recommendations and Interventions for Diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 31 (2008): S61-S78.
- [6] Health Council of the Netherlands. <u>Guideline forDdietary Fibre Intake</u>. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2006.
- [7] Williams, P. and Phillips, G. Introduction to Food Hydrocolloids. In: Phillips, G and Williams, P. (eds). <u>Handbook of Hydrocolloids</u>. pp. 1-19. Cambridge: CRC Press, Woodhead Publishing, 2000.
- [8] Evans, W. C. <u>Trease and Evans Pharmacognosy</u>. 15 ed. London: W.B. Saunders, 2002.
- [9] Morton, J. F. Mucilaginous plants and their uses in medicine. <u>J</u> <u>Ethnopharmacol</u> 29 (1990): 245-266.
- [10] Cui, S. W., Eskin, M. A. N., Wu, Y. and Ding, S. Synergisms between yellow mustard mucilage and galactomannans and applications in food products A mini review. <u>Adv Colloid Interface Sci</u> 128-130 (2006): 249-256.

- [11] Blackwood, A. D., Salter, J., Dettmar, P. W. and Chaplin, M. F. Dietary fibre, physicochemical properties and their relationship to health. <u>J R Soc</u> <u>Promot Health</u> 120 (2000): 242-247.
- [12] Frati Munari, A. C., Benitez Pinto, W. B., Raul Ariza Andraca, C. and Casarrubias, M. Lowering glycemic index of food by acarbose and *Plantago* psyllium mucilage. <u>Arch Med Res</u> 29 (1998): 137-141.
- [13] Ziai, S. A., Larijani, B., Akhoondzadeh, S., Fakhrzadeh, H., Dastpak, A., Bandarian, F., Rezai, A., Badi, H. N. and Emami, T. Psyllium decreased serum glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin significantly in diabetic outpatients. <u>J Ethnopharmacol</u> 102 (2005): 202-207.
- [14] Kumar, G. S., Shetty, A. K., Sambaiah, K. and Salimath, P. V. Antidiabetic property of fenugreek seed mucilage and spent turmeric in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. <u>Nutr Res</u> 25 (2005): 1021-1028.
- [15] Lairon, D., Play, B. and Jourdheuil-Rahmani, D. Digestible and indigestible carbohydrates: interactions with postprandial lipid metabolism. <u>J Nutr</u> <u>Biochem</u> 18 (2007): 217-227.
- [16] Shahzadi, N., Butt, M. S., Sharif, M. K. and Nasir, M. Effect of guar gum on the serum lipid profile of Sprague Dawley rats. <u>LWT - Food Sci Technol</u> 40 (2007): 1198-1205.
- [17] Vergara-Jimenez, M., Furr, H. and Fernandez, M. L. Pectin and psyllium decrease the susceptibility of LDL to oxidation in guinea pigs. <u>J Nutr</u> <u>Biochem</u> 10 (1999): 118-124.
- [18] Gee, J. M., Blackburn, N. A. and Johnson, I. T. The influence of guar gum on intestinal cholesterol transport in the rat. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 50 (1983): 215-224.
- [19] Sáenz, C., Sepúlveda, E. and Matsuhiro, B. *Opuntia* spp mucilage's: a functional component with industrial perspectives. J Arid Environ 57 (2004): 275-290.
- [20] Galati, E. M., Pergolizzi, S., Miceli, N., Monforte, M. T. and Tripodo, M. M. Study on the increment of the production of gastric mucus in rats treated with *Opuntia ficus indica* (L.) Mill. cladodes. <u>J Ethnopharmacol</u> 83 (2002): 229-233.

- [21] Nakagami, H., Kaneda, Y., Ogihara, T. and Morishita, R. Endothelial dysfunction in hyperglycemia as a trigger of atherosclerosis. <u>Curr</u> <u>Diabetes Rev</u> 1 (2005): 59-63.
- [22] IUB-IUPAC Joint Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature (JCBN). Abbreviated terminology of oligosaccharide chains. Recommendations 1980. J Biol Chem 257 (1982): 3347-3351.
- [23] Izydorczyk, M. Understanding the Chemistry of Food Carbohydrates. In: Cui, S.W. (ed.). <u>Food Carbohydrates: Chemistry, Physical Properties and</u> Applications. pp. 1-65. USA: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group. 2005.
- [24] Copeland, L., Blazek, J., Salman, H. and Tang, M. C. Form and functionality of starch. <u>Food Hydrocolloids</u> 23 (2009): 1527-1534.
- [25] Quezada-Calvillo, R., Sim, L., Ao, Z., Hamaker, B. R., Quaroni, A., Brayer, G. D., Sterchi, E. E., Robayo-Torres, C. C., Rose, D. R. and Nichols, B. L. Luminal starch substrate "brake" on maltase-glucoamylase activity is located within the glucoamylase subunit. J Nutr 138 (2008): 685-692.
- [26] Naumoff, D. Structure and evolution of the mammalian maltase-glucoamylase and sucrase-isomaltase genes. <u>Mol Biol</u> 41 (2007): 962-973.
- [27] Gray, G. M. Starch digestion and absorption in nonruminants. <u>J Nutr</u> 122 (1992): 172-177.
- [28] Cummings, J. H. and Englyst, H. N. Gastrointestinal effects of food carbohydrate. <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 61 (1995): 938S-945.
- [29] Liu, Q. Understanding starches and their role in foods. In: Cui, S.W. (ed).
   <u>Food Carbohydrates: Chemistry, Physical Properties and Applications</u>. p. 344. USA: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, 2005.
- [30] The American Association of Cereal Chemists (AACC). The Definition of Dietary Fiber. <u>Cereal Foods World</u> 46 (2001): 112-126.
- [31] BeMiller, J. N. Carbohydrate analysis. In: Suzanne Nielsen, S. (ed). <u>Food</u> <u>Analysis</u>. pp. 161-168. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum, 2003.
- [32] Tharanathan, R. N. Food-derived carbohydrates--structural complexity and functional diversity. <u>Crit Rev Biotechnol</u> 22 (2002): 65-84.

- [33] Smith, F. and Srivastava, H. C. Constitutional studies on the glucomannan of konjak flour. <u>J Am Chem Soc</u> 81 (1959): 1715-1718.
- [34] Maeda, M., Shimahara, H. and Sugiyama, N. Detailed examination of the branched structure of konjac glucomannan. <u>Agric Biol Chem</u> 44 (1980): 245-252.
- [35] Katsuraya, K., Okuyama, K., Hatanaka, K., Oshima, R., Sato, T. and Matsuzaki, K. Constitution of konjac glucomannan: chemical analysis and 13C NMR spectroscopy. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 53 (2003): 183-189.
- [36] Alonso-Sande, M., Teijeiro-Osorio, D., Remuñán-López, C. and Alonso, M. J. Glucomannan, a promising polysaccharide for biopharmaceutical purposes. <u>Eur J Pharm Biopharm</u> 72 (2009): 453-462.
- [37] Gao, S. and Nishinari, K. Effect of degree of acetylation on gelation of konjac glucomannan. <u>Biomacromolecules</u> 5 (2004): 175-185.
- [38] Li, B., Xie, B. and Kennedy, J. F. Studies on the molecular chain morphology of konjac glucomannan. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 64 (2006): 510-515.
- [39] Chen, H.-L., Cheng, H.-C., Liu, Y.-J., Liu, S.-Y. and Wu, W.-T. Konjac acts as a natural laxative by increasing stool bulk and improving colonic ecology in healthy adults. <u>Nutrition</u> 22 (2006): 1112-1119.
- [40] Staiano, A., Simeone, D., Del Giudice, E., Miele, E., Tozzi, A. and Toraldo, C. Effect of the dietary fiber glucomannan on chronic constipation in neurologically impaired children. <u>J Pediatr</u> 136 (2000): 41-45.
- [41] Chen, H. L., Cheng, H. C., Wu, W. T., Liu, Y. J. and Liu, S. Y. Supplementation of konjac glucomannan into a low-fiber Chinese diet promoted bowel movement and improved colonic ecology in constipated adults: A placebo-controlled, diet-controlled trial. J Am Coll Nutr 27 (2008): 102-108.
- [42] Sood, N., Baker, W. L. and Coleman, C. I. Effect of glucomannan on plasma lipid and glucose concentrations, body weight, and blood pressure: Systematic review and meta-analysis. <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 88 (2008): 1167-1175.

- [43] Grundy, S. M., Cleeman, J. I., Merz, C. N. B., Brewer, H. B., Jr, Clark, L. T., Hunninghake, D. B., Pasternak, R. C., Smith, S. C., Jr, Stone, N. J., for the Coordinating Committee of the National Cholesterol Education Program, Endorsed by the National Heart, L., Blood Institute, A. C. o. C. F. and American Heart Association. Implications of Recent Clinical Trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III Guidelines. <u>Circulation</u> 110 (2004): 227-239.
- [44] Bailey, C. J., Flatt, P. R. and Marks, V. Drugs inducing hypoglycemia.<u>Pharmacol Ther</u> 42 (1989): 361-384.
- [45] Li, X. J. and Deng, S. P. Some aspects of diabetes care in Chengdu. <u>Soc Sci</u> <u>Med</u> 41 (1995): 1185-1190.
- [46] Chen, H. L., Sheu, W. H., Tai, T. S., Liaw, Y. P. and Chen, Y. C. Konjac supplement alleviated hypercholesterolemia and hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetic subjects--a randomized double-blind trial. <u>J Am Coll Nutr</u> 22 (2003): 36-42.
- [47] McCarty, M. F. Glucomannan minimizes the postprandial insulin surge: a potential adjuvant for hepatothermic therapy. <u>Med Hypotheses</u> 58 (2002): 487-490.
- [48] Chen, H.-L., Fan, Y.-H., Chen, M.-E. and Chan, Y. Unhydrolyzed and hydrolyzed konjac glucomannans modulated cecal and fecal microflora in Balb/c mice. <u>Nutrition</u> 21 (2005): 1059-1064.
- [49] Elamir, A. A., Tester, R. F., Al-Ghazzewi, F. H., Kaal, H. Y., Ghalbon, A. A., Elmegrahai, N. A. and Piggott, J. R. Effects of konjac glucomannan hydrolysates on the gut microflora of mice. <u>Nutr Food Sci</u> 38 (2008): 422-429.
- [50] Liong, M. T. Roles of Probiotics and Prebiotics in Colon Cancer Prevention: Postulated Mechanisms and In-vivo Evidence. <u>Int J Mol Sci</u> 9 (2008): 854-863.
- [51] Boban, P. T., Nambisan, B. and Sudhakaran, P. R. Hypolipidaemic effect of chemically different mucilages in rats: A comparative study. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 96 (2006): 1021-1029.

- [52] Satyavati GV, Tandon Neeraj and Sharma Madhu Indigenous plant drugs for diabetes mellitus. <u>Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries</u> 9 (1989): 181A.
- [53] Tomoda, M., Shimizu, N., Oshima, Y., Takahashi, M., Murakami, M. and Hikino, H. Hypoglycemic activity of twenty plant mucilages and three modified products. <u>Planta Med</u> 53 (1987): 8-12.
- [54] Mollenhauer, H. H. The fine structure of mucilage secreting cells of *Hibiscus* esculentus pods. <u>Protoplasma</u> 63 (1967): 353-362.
- [55] Abukutsa-Onyango, M. Basella alba L. [Online] Record from Protabase. Grubben, G. J. H. and Denton, O. A. (eds). <u>PROTA</u> (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa/ Ressources végétales de l'Afrique tropicale), Wageningen, Netherlands. 2004. Available from: http://database.prota.org/search.htm. [5 October 2009]
- [56] Jeruto, P., Lukhoba, C., Ouma, G., Otieno, D. and Mutai, C. An ethnobotanical study of medicinal plants used by the Nandi people in Kenya. <u>J Ethnopharmacol</u> 116 (2008): 370-376.
- [57] Ignacimuthu, S., Ayyanar, M. and Sankarasivaraman, K. Ethnobotanical study of medicinal plants used by Paliyar tribals in Theni district of Tamil Nadu, India. <u>Fitoterapia</u> 79 (2008): 562-568.
- [58] Siemonsma, J. S. and Kouamé, C. Abelmoschus esculentus (L.) Moench. [Online] Record from Protabase. Grubben, G. J. H. and Denton, O. A. (eds). <u>PROTA</u> (Plant Resources of Tropical Africa / Ressources végétales de l'Afrique tropicale), Wageningen, Netherlands. 2004. Available from: http://database. prota.org/search.htm. [6 October 2009]
- [59] Whistler, R. L. and Conrad, H. E. 2-O-(D-galactopyranosyluronic acid)-Lrhamnose from okra mucilage. J Am Chem Soc 76 (1954): 3544-3545.
- [60] Whistler, R. L. and Conrad, H. E. A crystalline galactobiose from acid hydrolysis of okra mucilage. <u>J Am Chem Soc</u> 76 (1954): 1673-1674.
- [61] Amin, E. L. S. The mucilages of *Hibiscus esculentus* (okra or bamia fellahi) and *Corchorus olitorius* (mulukhia). <u>J Am Chem Soc</u> (Resumed) (1956): 819-823.

- [62] Woolfe, M., Chaplin, M. F. and Otchere, G. Studies on the mucilages extracted from okra fruits (*Hibiscus esculentus*. L.) and baobab leaves (*Adansonia digitata* L.) J. Sci. Fd. Chem. 28 (1977): 519-529.
- [63] Tomoda, M., Shimada, K., Saito, Y. and Sugi, M. Plant mucilages. XXVI. Isolation and structural features of a mucilage, "okra mucilage F", from the immature fruits of *Abelmoschus esculentus*. <u>Chem Pharm Bull</u> 28 (1980): 2933-2940.
- [64] Hirose, K., Endo, K. and Hasegawa, K. A convenient synthesis of lepidimoide from okra mucilage and its growth-promoting activity in hypocotyls. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 339 (2004): 9-19.
- [65] Sengkhamparn, N., Verhoef, R., Schols, H. A., Sajjaanantakul, T. and Voragen, A. G. J. Characterisation of cell wall polysaccharides from okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* (L.) Moench). <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 344 (2009): 1824-1832.
- [66] Tomoda, M., Shimizu, N., Gonda, R., Kanari, M., Yamada, H. and Hikino, H. Anticomplementary and hypoglycemic activity of Okra and *Hibiscus* mucilages. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 190 (1989): 323-328.
- [67] Woolfe, J. A. The effect of okra mucilage (*Hibiscus esculentus* L.) on the plasma cholesterol level in rats. <u>Proc nutr soc</u> 36 (1977): 59A.
- [68] Kahlon, T. S., Chapman, M. H. and Smith, G. E. *In vitro* binding of bile acids by okra, beets, asparagus, eggplant, turnips, green beans, carrots, and cauliflower. <u>Food Chem</u> 103 (2007): 676-680.
- [69] Kahlon, T. S., Chiu, M. C. M. and Chapman, M. H. Steam cooking significantly improves *in vitro* bile acid binding of beets, eggplant, asparagus, carrots, green beans, and cauliflower. <u>Nutr Res</u> 27 (2007): 750-755.
- [70] HowStuffWorks. Okra. [Online] Available from: <u>http://science.howstuff</u> works.com/okra-info.htm/printable. [6 October 2009]
- [71] Herath, H. M. T. B., Kumar, N. S. and Wimalasiri, K. M. S. Structural studies of an arabinoxylan isolated from *Litsea glutinosa* (Lauraceae). <u>Carbohydr</u> <u>Res</u> 198 (1990): 343-351.

- [72] Blanco, F. M. Francisco Manuel Blanco, Flora de Filipinas, <u>Botanical</u> <u>Illustrations</u>. [Online] Record from Wikimedia Commons. Available from: http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Lauraceae\_sp\_Blanco2.360.png# filelinks. [5 October 2009]
- [73] Anjaneyalu, Y. V. and Tharanathan, R. N. Composition and preliminary fractionation of the seed mucilage of *Ocimum canum*. <u>Aust J Chem</u> 24 (1971): 1501-1507.
- [74] Anjaneyalu, Y. V. and Gowda, D. C. Studies on the major acidic polysaccharide from the seed mucilage of *Ocimum canum* <u>Curr Sci</u> 47 (1978): 582-583.
- [75] Muangman, V., Siripraiwan, S., Ratanaolarn, K., Rojanaphanthu, P. and Chaipanich, C. A clinical trial of *Ocimum canum*, Sims seeds as bulb laxative in elderly post operative patients. <u>Ramathibodi Med J</u> 8 (1985): 154-157.
- [76] Viseshakul, D., Premvatana, P., Chularojmontri, V., Kewsiri, D. and Tinnarat,
   P. Improved glucose tolerance induced by long term dietary supplementation with hairy basal seeds (*Ocimum canum* sim) in diabetics.
   <u>J Med Assoc Thai</u> 68 (1985): 408-411.
- [77] Chularojanamontri, V., Kewsiri, D. and Chuprasert, S. Effect of dietary fiber on serum liproprotein in adult Thais. <u>J Nutr Assoc Thai</u> 21 (1987): 263-274.
- [78] Baerts, M. and Lehmann , J. Prelude <u>Medicinal Plants Database</u>. In: Royal Museum for Central Africa (RMCA), Belgium: Metadata African Organization - Information System., 2009.
- [79] Laidlaw, R. A. and Percival, E. G. V. Studies on seed mucilages. Part III. Examination of a polysaccharide extracted from the seeds of *Plantago ovat*a forsk. <u>J Chem Soc</u> (Resumed) (1949): 1600-1607.
- [80] Laidlaw, R. A. and Percival, E. G. V. Studies of seed mucilages. Part V. Examination of a polysaccharide extracted from the seeds of *Plantago ovata* forsk by hot water. <u>J Chem Soc</u> (Resumed) (1950): 528-534.

- [81] Kennedy, J. F., Sandhu, J. S. and Southgate, D. A. T. Structural data for the carbohydrate of ispaghula husk ex *Plantago ovata* forsk. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 75 (1979): 265-274.
- [82] Sandhu, J. S., Hudson, G. J. and Kennedy, J. F. The gel nature and structure of the carbohydrate of ispaghula husk ex *Plantago ovata* Forsk. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 93 (1981): 247-259.
- [83] Fischer, M. H., Yu, N., Gray, G. R., Ralph, J., Anderson, L. and Marlett, J. A. The gel-forming polysaccharide of psyllium husk (*Plantago ovata* Forsk). <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 339 (2004): 2009-2017.
- [84] Plagens, M. J. <u>Sonoran Desert Plantains</u>. [Online] Available from: http://www. arizonensis.org/sonoran/fieldguide/plantae/plantago\_ovata.html. [6 October 2009]
- [85] Marteau, P., Flourian, B., Cherbut, C., Corranze, J. L., Pellier, P., Seylaz, J. and Rambaud, J. C. Digestibility and bulking effect of ispaghula husks in healthy humans. Gut 35 (1994): 1747-1752.
- [86] Marlett, J. A. and Fischer, M. H. Session: Physiological aspects of fibre. The active fraction of psyllium seed husk. <u>Proc Nutr soc</u> 62 (2003): 207-209.
- [87] Edwards, C. A., Bowen, J., Brydon, W. G. and Eastwood, M. A. The effects of ispaghula on rat caecal fermentation and stool output. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 68 (1992): 473-482.
- [88] Marlett, J. A. and Fischer, M. H. A poorly fermented gel from psyllium seed husk increases excreta moisture and bile acid excretion in rats. <u>J Nutr</u> 132 (2002): 2638-2643.
- [89] Anderson, J. W., Allgood, L. D., Lawrence, A., Altringer, L. A., Jerdack, G. R., Hengehold, D. A. and Morel, J. G. Cholesterol-lowering effects of psyllium intake adjunctive to diet therapy in men and women with hypercholesterolemia: Meta-analysis of 8 controlled trials. <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 71 (2000): 472-479.
- [90] Wei, Z. H., Wang, H., Chen, X. Y., Wang, B. S., Rong, Z. X., Su, B. H. and Chen, H. Z. Time- and dose-dependent effect of psyllium on serum lipids

in mild-to-moderate hypercholesterolemia: A meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> 63 (2009): 821-827.

- [91] Van Rosendaal, G. M. A., Shaffer, E. A., Edwards, A. L. and Brant, R. Effect of time of administration on cholesterol-lowering by psyllium: A randomized cross-over study in normocholesterolemic or slightly hypercholesterolemic subjects. <u>Nutr J</u> 3 (2004) Article No. 17.
- [92] Trautwein, E. A., Kunath-Rau, A. and Erbersdobler, H. F. Increased fecal bile acid excretion and changes in the circulating bile acid pool are involved in the hypocholesterolemic and gallstone-preventive actions of psyllium in hamsters. J Nutr 129 (1999): 896-902.
- [93] Yu, L., Lutterodt, H., Cheng, Z. and Steve, L. T. Chapter 4. Beneficial health properties of psyllium and approaches to improve its functionalities. <u>Adv</u> <u>Food Nutr Res</u> 55 (2008): 193-220.
- [94] Hannan, J. M. A., Ali, L., Khaleque, J., Akhter, M., Flatt, P. R. and Abdel-Wahab, Y. H. A. Aqueous extracts of husks of *Plantago ovata* reduce hyperglycaemia in type 1 and type 2 diabetes by inhibition of intestinal glucose absorption. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 96 (2006): 131-137.
- [95] Rodröguez-Morun, M., Guerrero-Romero, F. and Lazcano-Burciaga, G. Lipid- and glucose-lowering efficacy of *Plantago* psyllium in type II diabetes. <u>J Diabetes Complications</u> 12 (1998): 273-278.
- [96] Cherbut, C., Bruley Des Varannes, S., Schnee, M., Rival, M., Galmiche, J. P. and Delort-Laval, J. Involvement of small intestinal motility in blood glucose response to dietary fibre in man. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 71 (1994): 675-685.
- [97] Li, S. <u>Chinese Medicinal Herbs</u>: A Modern Edition of a Classic Sixteenth-Century Manual. New York: Dover Publications, 2003.
- [98] Somboonpanyakul, P., Wang, Q., Cui, W., Barbut, S. and Jantawat, P. Malva nut gum. (Part I): Extraction and physicochemical characterization. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 64 (2006): 247-253.
- [99] Warrier, P. K., Nambiar, V. P. K. and Ramankutty, C. <u>Indian medicinal</u> <u>plants: a compendium of 500 species</u>. Volume 5. India: Orient Longman Private, 1996.

- [100] Brummer, Y., Cui, W. and Wang, Q. Extraction, purification and physicochemical characterization of fenugreek gum. <u>Food Hydrocolloids</u> 17 (2003): 229-236.
- [101] Youssef, M. K., Wang, Q., Cui, S. W. and Barbut, S. Purification and partial physicochemical characteristics of protein free fenugreek gums. <u>Food</u> <u>Hydrocolloids</u> 23 (2009): 2049-2053.
- [102] Mukherjee, P. K., Maiti, K., Mukherjee, K. and Houghton, P. J. Leads from Indian medicinal plants with hypoglycemic potentials. <u>J Ethnopharmacol</u> 106 (2006): 1-28.
- [103] Sharma, R. D., Sarkar, A., Hazara, D. K., Mishra, B., Singh, J. B., Sharma, S. K., Maheshwari, B. B. and Maheshwari, P. K. Use of Fenuqreek seed powder in the management of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. Nutr Res 16 (1996): 1331-1339.
- [104] Sharma, R. D. Effect of fenugreek seeds and leaves on blood glucose and serum insulin responses in human subjects. <u>Nutr Res</u> 6 (1986): 1353-1364.
- [105] Xue, W. L., Li, X. S., Zhang, J., Liu, Y. H., Wang, Z. L. and Zhang, R. J. Effect of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* (fenugreek) extract on blood glucose, blood lipid and hemorheological properties in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. <u>Asia Pac J Clin Nutr</u> 16 Suppl 1 (2007): 422-426.
- [106] Yadav, M., Tomar, R., Prasad, G. B. K. S., Jain, S. and Yadav, H. Complementary hypoglycemic and anti-hyperglycemic activity of various extracts of fenugreek seeds in rats. <u>Asian J Biochem</u> 3 (2008): 182-187.
- [107] Srichamroen, A., Field, C. J., Thomson, A. B. and Basu, T. K. The Modifying Effects of Galactomannan from Canadian-Grown Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.) on the Glycemic and Lipidemic Status in Rats. J <u>Clin Biochem Nutr</u> 43 (2008): 167-174.
- [108] Ali, L., Azad Khan, A. K., Hassan, Z., Mosihuzzaman, M., Nahar, N., Nasreen, T., Nur-e-Alam, M. and Rokeya, B. Characterization of the hypoglycemic effects of *Trigonella foenum gracecum* seed. <u>Planta Med</u> 61 (1995): 358-360.

- [109] Srichamroen, A., Thomson, A. B. R., Field, C. J. and Basu, T. K. *In vitro* intestinal glucose uptake is inhibited by galactomannan from Canadian fenugreek seed (*Trigonella foenum graecum* L) in genetically lean and obese rats. <u>Nutr Res</u> 29 (2009): 49-54.
- [110] Haughton, C. <u>Purple Sage Medicinal Herbs</u>. [Online] Available from: http://www.purplesage.org/profiles/fenugreek.htm. [10 October 2009]
- [111] Guthrie, D. W. and Guthrie, R. A. <u>Management of Diabetes Melliyus: A</u> <u>Guide to the Pattern Approach.</u> 6 ed. New York: Springer Publishing, 2008.
- [112] English, P. and Williams, G. Type 2 Diabetes. London: Martin Dunitz, 2001.
- [113] Wild, S., Roglic, G., Green, A., Sicree, R. and King, H. Global prevalence of diabetes. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 27 (2004): 1047-1053.
- [114] Roglic, G., Unwin, N., Bennett, P. H., Mathers, C., Tuomilehto, J., Nag, S., Connolly, V. and King, H. The burden of mortality attributable to diabetes. Diabetes Care 28 (2005): 2130-2135.
- [115] Caro, J. J., Ward, A. J. and Oi€ Brien, J. A. Lifetime costs of complications resulting from type 2 diabetes in the U.S. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 25 (2002): 476-481.
- [116] Fowler, M. J. Microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes. <u>Clin Diabetes</u> 26 (2008): 77-82.
- [117] Cade, W. T. Diabetes-related microvascular and macrovascular diseases in the physical therapy setting. <u>Phys Ther</u> 88 (2008): 1322-1335.
- [118] Nathanson, D. and Nyström, T. Hypoglycemic pharmacological treatment of type 2 diabetes: Targeting the endothelium. <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> 297 (2009): 112-126.
- [119] Monnier, L., Mas, E., Ginet, C., Michel, F., Villon, L., Cristol, J. P. and Colette, C. Activation of oxidative stress by acute glucose fluctuations compared with sustained chronic hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes. JAMA 295 (2006): 1681-1687.

- [120] Reusch, J. E. B. Diabetes, microvascular complications, and cardiovascular complications: what is it about glucose? <u>J Clin Invest</u> 112 (2003): 986-988.
- [121] Idris, I., Gray, S. and Donnelly, R. Protein kinase C-[beta] inhibition and diabetic microangiopathy: effects on endothelial permeability responses *in vitro*. <u>Eur J Pharmacol</u> 485 (2004): 141-144.
- [122] Brownlee, M. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. <u>Nature</u> 414 (2001): 813-820.
- [123] Bansilal, S., Farkouh, M. E. and Fuster, V. Role of insulin resistance and hyperglycemia in the development of atherosclerosis. <u>Am J Cardiol</u> 99 (2007): 6-14.
- [124] Pastromas, S., Terzi, A.-B., Tousoulis, D. and Koulouris, S. Postprandial lipemia: An under-recognized atherogenic factor in patients with diabetes mellitus. <u>Int J Cardiol</u> 126 (2008): 3-12.
- [125] Taskinen, M. R. Diabetic dyslipidaemia: from basic research to clinical practice. <u>Diabetologia</u> 46 (2003): 733-749.
- [126] Ginsberg, H. N. Insulin resistance and cardiovascular disease. <u>J Clin Invest</u> 106 (2000): 453-458.
- [127] Ceriello, A. and Colagiuri, S. International Diabetes Federation guideline for management of postmeal glucose: a review of recommendations. <u>Diabet</u> <u>Med</u> 25 (2008): 1151-1156.
- [128] Ceriello, A., Colagiuri, S., Gerich, J. and Tuomilehto, J. Guideline for management of postmeal glucose. <u>Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis</u> 18 (2008): S17-S33.
- [129] O'Keefe, J. H., Gheewala, N. M. and O'Keefe, J. O. Dietary strategies for improving post-prandial glucose, lipids, inflammation, and cardiovascular health. <u>J Am Coll Cardiol</u> 51 (2008): 249-255.
- [130] Node, K. and Inoue, T. Postprandial hyperglycemia as an etiological factor in vascular failure. <u>Cardiovasc Diabetol</u> 8 (2009).

- [131] Wright, E. M., Martén, M. G. and Turk, E. Intestinal absorption in health and disease--sugars. <u>Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol</u> 17 (2003): 943-956.
- [132] Wright, E. M., Loo, D. D. F., Hirayama, B. A. and Turk, E. Sugar Absorption.
   In: <u>Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract</u> (Fourth Edition), pp. 1653-1665. Burlington: Academic Press. 2006.
- [133] Galisteo, M., Duarte, J. and Zarzuelo, A. Effects of dietary fibers on disturbances clustered in the metabolic syndrome. <u>J Nutr Biochem</u> 19 (2008): 71-84.
- [134] Weickert, M. O. and Pfeiffer, A. F. Metabolic effects of dietary fiber consumption and prevention of diabetes. J Nutr 138 (2008): 439-442.
- [135] Dikeman, C. L. and Fahey, G. C. Viscosity as related to dietary fiber: a review. <u>Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr</u> 46 (2006): 649-663.
- [136] Jenkins, D. J., Wolever, T. M., Leeds, A. R., Gassull, M. A., Haisman, P., Dilawari, J., Goff, D. V., Metz, G. L. and Alberti, K. G. Dietary fibres, fibre analogues, and glucose tolerance: importance of viscosity. <u>Br Med J</u> 1 (1978): 1392-1394.
- [137] Jenkins, A. L., Jenkins, D. J., Wolever, T. M., Rogovik, A. L., Jovanovski, E., Bozikov, V., Rahelic, D. and Vuksan, V. Comparable postprandial glucose reductions with viscous fiber blend enriched biscuits in healthy subjects and patients with diabetes mellitus: acute randomized controlled clinical trial. <u>Croat Med J</u> 49 (2008): 772-782.
- [138] Vuksan, V., Sievenpiper, J. L., Owen, R., Swilley, J. A., Spadafora, P., Jenkins, D. J., Vidgen, E., Brighenti, F., Josse, R. G., Leiter, L. A., Xu, Z. and Novokmet, R. Beneficial effects of viscous dietary fiber from Konjac-mannan in subjects with the insulin resistance syndrome: results of a controlled metabolic trial. <u>Diabetes Care</u> 23 (2000): 9-14.
- [139] Edwards, C. A., Johnson, I. T. and Read, N. W. Do viscous polysaccharides slow absorption by inhibiting diffusion or convection? <u>Eur J Clin Nutr</u> 42 (1988): 307-312.

- [140] Hanefeld, M., Schaper, F. and Koehler, C. Effect of acarbose on vascular disease in patients with abnormal glucose tolerance. <u>Cardiovasc Drugs</u> <u>Ther</u> 22 (2008): 225-231.
- [141] Bode, B. W. Incorporating postprandial and fasting plasma glucose into clinical management strategies. <u>Insulin</u> 3 (2008): 17-27.
- [142] Kawamori, R., Tajima, N., Iwamoto, Y., Kashiwagi, A., Shimamoto, K. and Kaku, K. Voglibose for prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomised, double-blind trial in Japanese individuals with impaired glucose tolerance. Lancet 373 (2009): 1607-1614.
- [143] Asano, N. Sugar-mimicking glycosidase inhibitors: bioactivity and application. <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> 66 (2009): 1479-1492.
- [144] Borges de Melo, E., da Silveira Gomes, A. and Carvalho, I. [alpha]- and [beta]-Glucosidase inhibitors: chemical structure and biological activity. <u>Tetrahedron</u> 62 (2006): 10277-10302.
- [145] Golding, M. and Wooster, T. J. The influence of emulsion structure and stability on lipid digestion. <u>Curr Opin Colloid Interface Sci</u> 15 (2010): 90-101.
- [146] Ros, E. Intestinal absorption of triglyceride and cholesterol. Dietary and pharmacological inhibition to reduce cardiovascular risk. <u>Atherosclerosis</u> 151 (2000): 357-379.
- [147] Mahmood Hussain, M., Kancha, R. K., Zhou, Z., Luchoomun, J., Zu, H. and Bakillah, A. Chylomicron assembly and catabolism: role of apolipoproteins and receptors. <u>Biochim Biophys Acta Lipids Lipid</u> <u>Metabol</u> 1300 (1996): 151-170.
- [148] Halpern, M. J. d. Lipids and atherosclerosis. <u>Mol Aspects Med</u> 16 (1995): 509-710.
- [149] Theuwissen, E. and Mensink, R. P. Water-soluble dietary fibers and cardiovascular disease. <u>Physiol Behav</u> 94 (2008): 285-292.

- [150] Vuksan, V., Rogovik, A., Jovanovski, E. and Jenkins, A. Fiber facts: Benefits and recommendations for individuals with type 2 diabetes. <u>Curr Diab Rep</u> 9 (2009): 405-411.
- [151] Khossousi, A., Binns, C. W., Dhaliwal, S. S. and Pal, S. The acute effects of psyllium on postprandial lipaemia and thermogenesis in overweight and obese men. <u>Br J Nutr</u> 99 (2008): 1068-1075.
- [152] Pasquier, B., Armand, M., Guillon, F., Castelain, C., Borel, P., Barry, J. L., Pieroni, G. and Lairon, D. Viscous soluble dietary fibers alter emulsification and lipolysis of triacylglycerols in duodenal medium *in vitro*. J Nutr Biochem 7 (1996): 293-302.
- [153] Tuchweber, B., Yousef, I. M., Ferland, G. and Perea, A. Nutrition and bile formation. <u>Nutr Res</u> 16 (1996): 1041-1080.
- [154] Mukhopadhyay, S. and Maitra, U. Chemistry and biology of bile acids. <u>Curr</u>
   <u>Sci</u> 87 (2004): 1666-1683.
- [155] Mel'nikov, S. M., Seijen ten Hoorn, J. W. M. and Eijkelenboom, A. P. A. M. Effect of phytosterols and phytostanols on the solubilization of cholesterol by dietary mixed micelles: an *in vitro* study. <u>Chem Phys Lipids</u> 127 (2004): 121-141.
- [156] Rozner, S., Aserin, A. and Garti, N. Competitive solubilization of cholesterol and phytosterols in nonionic microemulsions studied by pulse gradient spin-echo NMR. <u>J Colloid Interface sci</u> 321 (2008): 418-425.
- [157] Rozner, S., Aserin, A., Wachtel, E. J. and Garti, N. Competitive solubilization of cholesterol and phytosterols in nonionic microemulsions. <u>J Colloid</u> <u>Interface sci</u> 314 (2007): 718-726.
- [158] Matsuoka, K., Nakazawa, T., Nakamura, A., Honda, C., Endo, K. and Tsukada, M. Study of thermodynamic parameters for solubilization of plant sterol and stanol in bile salt micelles. <u>Chem Phys Lipids</u> 154 (2008): 87-93.
- [159] Jesch, E. D. and Carr, T. P. Sitosterol reduces micellar cholesterol solubility in model bile. <u>Nutr Res</u> 26 (2006): 579-584.

- [160] Birari, R. B. and Bhutani, K. K. Pancreatic lipase inhibitors from natural sources: unexplored potential. <u>Drug Discov Today</u> 12 (2007): 879-889.
- [161] Tsujita, T., Takaichi, H., Takaku, T., Sawai, T., Yoshida, N. and Hiraki, J. Inhibition of lipase activities by basic polysaccharide. <u>J Lipid Res</u> 48 (2007): 358-365.
- [162] Ostanina, E., Varlamov, V. and Yakovlev, G. Inhibition of lipase activity by low-molecular-weight chitosan. <u>Appl Biochem Microbiol</u> 43 (2007): 655-660.
- [163] O'Connor, C. J., Sun, D., Smith, B. G. and Melton, L. D. Effect of soluble dietary fibers on lipase-catalyzed hydrolysis of tributyrin. <u>J Food sci</u> 68 (2003): 1093-1099.
- [164] Jenkins, D. J. A., Wolever, T. M. S. and Taylor, R. H. Rate of digestion of foods and postprandial glycaemia in normal and diabetic subjects. <u>Br</u> <u>Med J</u> 281 (1980): 14-17.
- [165] Adisakwattana, S., Sookkongwaree, K., Roengsumran, S., Petsom, A., Ngamrojnavanich, N., Chavasiri, W., Deesamer, S. and Yibchok-anun, S. Structure-activity relationships of trans-cinnamic acid derivatives on [*alpha*]-glucosidase inhibition. <u>Bioorg Med Chem Lett</u> 14 (2004): 2893-2896.
- [166] Matsuoka, K., Kuranaga, Y. and Moroi, Y. Solubilization of cholesterol and polycyclic aromatic compounds into sodium bile salt micelles (Part 2). <u>Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids</u> 1580 (2002): 200-214.
- [167] McDougall, G. J., Kulkarni, N. N. and Stewart, D. Berry polyphenols inhibit pancreatic lipase activity *in vitro*. <u>Food Chem</u> 115 (2009): 193-199.
- [168] Yuan, J.-F., Zhang, Z.-Q., Fan, Z.-C. and Yang, J.-X. Antioxidant effects and cytotoxicity of three purified polysaccharides from *Ligusticum chuanxiong* Hort. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 74 (2008): 822-827.
- [169] Crosbie, G. B. The relationship between starch swelling properties, paste viscosity and boiled noodle quality in wheat flours. <u>J Cereal Sci</u> 13 (1991): 145-150.

- [170] Seker, M. and Hanna, M. A. Sodium hydroxide and trimetaphosphate levels affect properties of starch extrudates. <u>Ind Crops Prod</u> 23 (2006): 249-255.
- [171] Benedito, J., García-Pérez, J. V., Carmen Dobarganes, M. and Mulet, A. Rapid evaluation of frying oil degradation using ultrasonic technology. <u>Food Res Int</u> 40 (2007): 406-414.
- [172] Thermo Electron Corpration. <u>HAAKE Falling Ball Viscometer Type C</u>. Instruction Manual. [Online] Available from: <u>http://www.thermo.com/eThermo/CMA/</u> PDFs/Articles/articlesFile\_23945.pdf. [30 January 2009]
- [173] Burana-osot, J., Hosoyama, S., Nagamoto, Y., Suzuki, S., Linhardt, R. J. and Toida, T. Photolytic depolymerization of alginate. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 344 (2009): 2023-2027.
- [174] Samuelsen, A. B., Lund, I., Djahromi, J. M., Paulsen, B. S., Wold, J. K. and Knutsen, S. H. Structural features and anti-complementary activity of some heteroxylan polysaccharide fractions from the seeds of *Plantago major* L. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 38 (1999): 133-143.
- [175] Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L. and Randall, R. J. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 193 (1951): 265-275.
- [176] Toida, T., Ogita, Y., Suzuki, A., Toyoda, H. and Imanari, T. Inhibition of hyaluronidase by fully O-sulfonated glycosaminoglycans. <u>Arch Biochem</u> <u>Biophys</u> 370 (1999): 176-182.
- [177] Adiotomre, J., Eastwood, M. A., Edwards, C. A. and Brydon, W. G. Dietary fiber: *in vitro* methods that anticipate nutrition and metabolic activity in humans. <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 52 (1990): 128-134.
- [178] Nyarko, A. K., Asare-Anane, H., Ofosuhene, M., Addy, M. E., Teye, K. and Addo, P. Aqueous extract of *Ocimum canum* decreases levels of fasting blood glucose and free radicals and increases antiatherogenic lipid levels in mice. <u>Vascul Pharmacol</u> 39 (2003): 273-279.
- [179] Pongthananikorn S. and Veranitinun R. Effect of Malva nut drink on blood sugar in type 2 diabetic patients. <u>Thai J Hosp Pharm</u> 17 (2007): 120-127.

- [180] Eckhardt, E. R. M., Van De Heijning, B. J. M., Van Erpecum, K. J., Renooij,
   W. and VanBerge-Henegouwen, G. P. Quantitation of cholesterolcarrying particles in human gallbladder bile. <u>J Lipid Res</u> 39 (1998): 594-603.
- [181] Carr, T. P. and Jesch, E. D. Food Components that Reduce Cholesterol Absorption. In: Taylor, S (ed). <u>Advances in Food and Nutrition Research</u>. pp. 165-204. Academic Press. 2006.
- [182] Matsuoka, K., Maeda, M. and Moroi, Y. Micelle formation of sodium glycoand taurocholates and sodium glyco- and taurodeoxycholates and solubilization of cholesterol into their micelles. <u>Colloids Surf B:</u> <u>Biointerfaces</u> 32 (2003): 87-95.
- [183] Matsuoka, K., Suzuki, M., Honda, C., Endo, K. and Moroi, Y. Micellization of conjugated chenodeoxy- and ursodeoxycholates and solubilization of cholesterol into their micelles: Comparison with other four conjugated bile salts species. <u>Chem Phys Lipids</u> 139 (2006): 1-10.
- [184] Madan, D. K. and Cadwallader, D. E. Effect of macromolecules on aqueous solubility of cholesterol. <u>J Pharm Sci</u> 59 (1970): 1362-1363.
- [185] Cadwallader, D. E. and Madan, D. K. Effect of macromolecules on aqueous solubility of cholesterol and hormone drugs. <u>J Pharm Sci</u> 70 (1981): 442-446.
- [186] O'Reilly, J. R., Corrigan, O. I. and O'Driscoll, C. M. The effect of mixed micellar systems, bile salt/fatty acids, on the solubility and intestinal absorption of clofazimine (B663) in the anaesthetised rat. <u>Int J Pharm</u> 109 (1994): 147-154.
- [187] Safonova, I. G., Sviridov, D. D., Nano, J. L., Rampal, P. and Repin, V. S. Regulation of cholesterol uptake in the rat intestinal cell line. <u>Biochim</u> <u>Biophys Acta Lipids Lipid Metabol</u> 1210 (1994): 181-186.
- [188] Schwarz, M. A., Raith, K., Dongowski, G. and Neubert, R. H. H. Effect on the partition equilibrium of various drugs by the formation of mixed bile salt/phosphatidylcholine/fatty acid micelles a characterization by micellar

affinity capillary electrophoresis. Part IV. J Chromatogr A 809 (1998): 219-229.

- [189] Sanders, T. A. B., de Grassi, T., Miller, G. J. and Morrissey, J. H. Influence of fatty acid chain length and *cis/trans* isomerization on postprandial lipemia and factor VII in healthy subjects (postprandial lipids and factor VII). <u>Atherosclerosis</u> 149 (2000): 413-420.
- [190] Tholstrup, T., Miller, G. J., Bysted, A. and Sandstrom, B. Effect of individual dietary fatty acids on postprandial activation of blood coagulation factor VII and fibrinolysis in healthy young men. <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> 77 (2003): 1125-1132.
- [191] Schneider, C. L., Cowles, R. L., Stuefer-Powell, C. L. and Carr, T. P. Dietary stearic acid reduces cholesterol absorption and increases endogenous cholesterol excretion in hamsters fed cereal-based diets. <u>J. Nutr</u> 130 (2000): 1232-1238.
- [192] Cowles, R. L., Lee, J.-Y., Gallaher, D. D., Stuefer-Powell, C. L. and Carr, T.
   P. Dietary stearic acid alters gallbladder bile acid composition in hamsters fed cereal-based diets. J. Nutr 132 (2002): 3119-3122.
- [193] Carr, T. P., Jesch, E. D. and Steve, L. T. Food components that reduce cholesterol absorption. In: Taylor, S (ed). <u>Advances in Food and</u> <u>Nutrition Research</u>. pp. 165-204. Academic Press. 2006.
- [194] Verger, R. and De Haas, G. H. Interfacial enzyme kinetics of lipolysis. <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Biophys Bioeng</u> 5 (1976): 77-117.
- [195] Deems, R. A. Interfacial enzyme kinetics at the phospholipid/ water interface: practical considerations. <u>Anal Biochem</u> 287 (2000): 1-16.
- [196] Gilham, D. and Lehner, R. Techniques to measure lipase and esterase activity in vitro. <u>Methods</u> 36 (2005): 139-147.
- [197] Morikawa, T., Xie, Y., Asao, Y., Okamoto, M., Yamashita, C., Muraoka, O., Matsuda, H., Pongpiriyadacha, Y., Yuan, D. and Yoshikawa, M. Oleanane-type triterpene oligoglycosides with pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity from the pericarps of Sapindus rarak. <u>Phytochemistry</u> 70 (2009): 1166-1172.

- [198] Zhang, J., Kang, M. J., Kim, M. J., Kim, M. E., Song, J. H., Lee, Y. M. and Kim, J. I. Pancreatic lipase inhibitory activity of *Taraxacum officinale in vitro* and *in vivo*. <u>Nutr Res Pract</u> 2 (2008): 200-203.
- [199] Mirgorodskaya, A., Kudryavtseva, L., Vylegzhanina, N., Zuev, Y. and Idiyatullin, B. Catalytic properties of microheterogeneous systems based on cationic surfactants in transesterification processes. <u>Kinet Catal</u> 47 (2006): 5-11.
- [200] Lif, A. and Holmberg, K. Chemical and enzymatic ester hydrolysis in a Winsor I system. Colloids Surf, A 129-130 (1997): 273-277.
- [201] Villano, D., Fernundez-Pachon, M. S., Moya, M. L., Troncoso, A. M. and Garcia-Parrilla, M. C. Radical scavenging ability of polyphenolic compounds towards DPPH free radical. <u>Talanta</u> 71 (2007): 230-235.
- [202] Lo Scalzo, R. Organic acids influence on DPPH scavenging by ascorbic acid. <u>Food Chem</u> 107 (2008): 40-43.
- [203] Tseng, Y.-H., Yang, J.-H. and Mau, J.-L. Antioxidant properties of polysaccharides from *Ganoderma tsugae*. Food Chem 107 (2008): 732-738.
- [204] Eastwood, M. Physico-Chemical Properties of Dietary Fibre in the Foregut. In Cherbut, : J. B. C., Lairon, D and Durand, M. (eds). <u>Dietary Fibre</u> <u>Mechanisms of Action in Human Physiology and Metabolism</u>. pp. 17-28. Paris John Libbey Eurotext. 1995.
- [205] Oakenfull, D. Physicochemical properties of dietary fiber: overview. In Cho, S.S. and Dreher, M. L. (eds). <u>Handbook of Dietary Fiber</u>. Volume 113. pp. 195-206. New York: Marcel Dekker, 2001.
- [206] Saghir, S., Iqbal, M. S., Hussain, M. A., Koschella, A. and Heinze, T. Structure characterization and carboxymethylation of arabinoxylan isolated from Ispaghula (*Plantago ovata*) seed husk. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 74 (2008): 309-317.
- [207] Wang, Q. and Cui, S. W. Understanding the physical properties of food polysaccharides. In: Cui, S. W. (ed). <u>Food Carbohydrates: Chemistry</u>,

<u>Physical Properties and Applications</u>. pp. 161-173. USA: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis, 2005.

- [208] Van Craeyveld, V., Delcour, J. A. and Courtin, C. M. Extractability and chemical and enzymic degradation of psyllium (*Plantago ovata* Forsk) seed husk arabinoxylans. <u>Food Chem</u> 112 (2009): 812-819.
- [209] Guo, Q., Cui, S. W., Wang, Q. and Christopher Young, J. Fractionation and physicochemical characterization of psyllium gum. <u>Carbohydr Polym</u> 73 (2008): 35-43.
- [210] Amornrut, C., Toida, T., Imanari, T., Woo, E.-R., Park, H., Linhardt, R., Wu, S. J. and Kim, Y. S. A new sulfated [beta]-galactan from clams with anti-HIV activity. <u>Carbohydr Res</u> 321 (1999): 121-127.
- [211] Gur'yanov, O., Gorshkova, T., Kabel, M., Schols, H. and van Dam, J. Structural characterization of tissue-specific galactan from flax fibers by 1H NMR and MALDI TOF mass spectrometry. <u>Russ J Bioorganic Chem</u> 32 (2006): 558-567.
- [212] Wang, Y., Wei, X. and Jin, Z. Structure analysis of a neutral polysaccharide isolated from green tea. <u>Food Res Int</u> 42 (2009): 739-745.
- [213] Daffe, M., Brennan, P. J. and McNeil, M. Predominant structural features of the cell wall arabinogalactan of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* as revealed through characterization of oligoglycosyl alditol fragments by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry and by 1H and 13C NMR analyses. J <u>Biol Chem</u> 265 (1990): 6734-6743.

## จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

### APPENDICES

# ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

### **APPENDIX A**

Data of In Vitro Biological Activities Determination

# ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Musilassa	Percentages of releasing glucose		
Muchages	0.5%	1%	2%
Glucomannan	$85.5\pm1.0^*$	$78.5\pm1.9^{*}$	$65.4 \pm 4.0^{*}$
B. alba	$96.1 \pm 4.4$	$93.8\pm2.7$	$85.8\pm3.2^*$
H. esculentus	97.5 ± 4.1	$93.8 \pm 4.3$	$83.4\pm5.6^*$
L. glutinosa	$91.1 \pm 3.2^{*}$	$87.3 \pm 2.2^{*}$	$80.6\pm2.1^*$
O. canum	$70.8\pm1.2^*$	$63.5 \pm 3.1^*$	$61.6\pm2.7^*$
P. ovata	$94.7 \pm 2.4$	$83.0 \pm 3.2^*$	$70.8\pm4.2^{\ast}$
S. scaphigerum	98.4 ± 1.9	$95.6 \pm 2.2$	$92.8 \pm 1.1^{**}$
T. foenum-graecum	$90.5 \pm 4.4^{*}$	$88.1 \pm 4.6^*$	$71.7\pm4.4^*$

**Table 9** Percentages of glucose releasing from 0.5, 1, 2% mucilages containing 2%glucose after 2 hr dialysis (n=4)

The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages, 99.8  $\pm$  0.9%) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.05).



Figure 25 Calibration curve for glucose determination by glucose oxidase method

Mucilages	% Inhibition
Glucomannan	$19.7 \pm 5.9^{*}$
B. alba	$25.0\pm7.0^{*}$
H. esculentus	$37.6\pm8.4^{\#}$
L. glutinosa	$41.1 \pm 1.4^{\#}$
O. canum	$32.8\pm2.8^*$
P. ovata	$27.0 \pm 3.6^{*}$
S. scaphigerum	$82.6 \pm 1.5^{**}$
T. foenum-graecum	$30.6 \pm 4.7^{*}$
Deoxynojirimycin (positive control)	$47.6 \pm 11.4$

**Table 10** Percentage of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition of 0.5% mucilages (n = 3)

The significance of differences from the control (Deoxynojirimycin) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test. \*% Inhibition was significantly lower than control (p<0.05), <sup>#</sup>% inhibition was not significantly different from control (p>0.05), \*\*% inhibition was significantly higher than control (p<0.05).



Mucilages	Cholesterol <sup>a</sup> in NaTDC	Cholesterol <sup>b</sup> in NaTDC + Oleic acid
Gel 0	$0.602\pm0.015$	$1.296\pm0.080$
Glucomannan	$0.506 \pm 0.025^{*}$	$1.097 \pm 0.007^{\ast}$
B. alba	$0.576\pm0.007$	$0.908 \pm 0.017^{*}$
H. esculentus	$0.577 \pm 0.013$	$1.213 \pm 0.060$
L. glutinosa	$0.553 \pm 0.029$	$1.226\pm0.040$
O. canum	$0.456 \pm 0.060^{*}$	$1.084 \pm 0.174^{*}$
P. ovata	$0.591 \pm 0.039$	$1.253\pm0.018$
S. scaphigerum	$0.563 \pm 0.029$	$1.267\pm0.137$
T. foenum-graecum	$0.473 \pm 0.013^{*}$	$1.105 \pm 0.067^{*}$

**Table 11** The concentration (mg/ml) of cholesterol solubilized in bile micelles with and without 0.5 % mucilages (n = 3)

<sup>a</sup>The concentration of cholesterol (mg/ml) in 3 ml of 25 mM NaTDC, <sup>b</sup>The concentration of cholesterol (mg/ml) in 3 ml of 25 mM NaTDC containing 10 mg of oleic acid.

The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test. <sup>\*</sup>The concentration was significantly lower than control (p<0.01).

ศูนยวทยทรพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
Mucilages	Stearic acid <sup>a</sup>	Oleic acid <sup>b</sup>
Gel 0	$0.536\pm0.047$	$0.512\pm0.025$
Glucomannan	$0.757 \pm 0.056^{\#}$	$0.011 \pm 0.020^{*}$
B. alba	$0.480 \pm 0.109^{**}$	$0.156 \pm 0.051^{*}$
H. esculentus	$0.819 \pm 0.043^{\#}$	$0.090 \pm 0.031^{*}$
L. glutinosa	$0.711 \pm 0.152^{\#}$	$0.089 \pm 0.020^{*}$
O. canum	$0.740 \pm 0.074^{\#}$	$0.059 \pm 0.069^{*}$
P. ovata	$0.759 \pm 0.160^{\#}$	$0.056 \pm 0.023^{*}$
S. scaphigerum	$0.554 \pm 0.058$	$0.034 \pm 0.031^{*}$
T. foenum-graecum	$0.701 \pm 0.086^{\#}$	$0.052 \pm 0.008^{*}$

**Table 12** The concentration (mg/ml) of fatty acids solubilized in bile micelles with and without 0.5 % mucilages (n = 3)

<sup>a</sup>The concentration of stearic acid (mg/ml) in 3 ml of 25 mM NaTDC, <sup>b</sup>The concentration of oleic acid (mg/ml) in 3 ml of 0.3125 mM NaTDC.

The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilages) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test. \*The concentration was significantly lower than control (p<0.01), \*The concentration was significantly lower than control (p<0.05), \*The concentration was significantly higher than control (p<0.01), \*The concentration was significantly higher than control (p<0.01), \*The concentration was significantly higher than control (p<0.01), \*The concentration was significantly higher than control (p<0.05).



**Figure 26** Chromatogram of stearic acid and oleic acid on FFAP column ( $30m \ge 0.25$  mm  $\ge 0.25 \ \mu$ m) using flame ionization detector. The oven temperature was 200°C, raised to 250°C at the rate 2.5°C/min, the injector and the detector temperatures were set at 200 and 250°C, respectively. The helium carrier gas was controlled at 1 ml/min.



Figure 27 Calibration curve for cholesterol determination by cholesterol oxidase method



Figure 28 Calibration curve for stearic acid and oleic acid determination by GC

Mucilages	With lipase	Without lipase
Gel 0	100.0	0
Glucomannan	$104.2\pm2.1$	$16.8\pm2.0$
B. alba	$101.2 \pm 1.8$	$27.8\pm9.3$
H. esculentus	$98.0\pm6.7$	$66.6\pm2.6$
L. glutinosa	$103.3\pm0.8$	$67.1 \pm 0.5$
O. canum	$98.6\pm0.4$	$92.9 \pm 2.1$
P. ovata	$98.2\pm6.1$	$34.4\pm6.0$
S. scaphigerum	99.9 ± 1.8	$40.3\pm0.9$
T. foenum-graecum	93.7 ± 8.0	$70.9 \pm 13.9$
Orlistat (µg/ml)		
1	87.5 ± 2.9	
10	$46.5 \pm 7.9$	
50	$28.7\pm2.5$	
100	$24.6 \pm 3.4$	

**Table 13** Percentage of lipolytic activity of 1.0% mucilages on *p*-nitrophenyl laurate(n = 3)

Mucilages	mg/ml	% Scavenging	Mucilages	mg/ml	% Scavenging
Glucomannan	0.5	$13.4\pm4.8$	O. canum	5.0	
	1.0	$18.5 \pm 3.7$		10.0	
	2.0	$27.2 \pm 5.1$	P. ovata	5.0	
	3.0	37.9 ± 3.7	122	10.0	
	4.0	$46.3 \pm 0.6$	S. scaphigerum	0.25	$24.9\pm3.9$
	5.0	$59.2 \pm 0.4$		0.5	$39.1\pm0.9$
	10.0	$74.2 \pm 1.0$		0.625	$52.2\pm0.8$
B. alba	0.5	13.7 ± 1.8		1.25	$67.7 \pm 1.6$
	1.0	$23.6\pm4.0$		2.5	$68.0\pm1.2$
	2.0	$51.7 \pm 4.1$		5.0	$64.8 \pm 1.4$
	3.0	65.3 ±2.5	T. foenum-graecum	0.5	$17.1\pm0.9$
	4.0	66.6 ± 1.5		1.0	$31.1\pm1.4$
	5.0	65.3 ± 1.4		2.0	$62.1 \pm 1.5$
H. esculentus	0.5	36.6 ± 1.7		3.0	$66.9\pm2.2$
	1.0	$61.2 \pm 1.0$		4.0	$69.7 \pm 1.6$
	2.0	$72.8\pm0.6$		5.0	$69.8\pm0.3$
	3.0	$74.8\pm0.2$	Ascorbic acid <sup>*</sup>	0.004	$5.8\pm0.3$
	4.0	$76.1\pm0.6$		0.008	$17.0\pm3.9$
6	5.0	$75.7\pm0.3$		0.012	$25.7\pm0.8$
L. glutinosa	0.1	$14.6\pm4.2$		0.016	$36.5\pm1.0$
	0.2	$20.7\pm1.4$		0.020	$47.6\pm0.5$
	0.3	$27.3 \pm 1.3$	NITANET	0.050	$82.1\pm0.5$
	0.4	$38.1\pm4.3$	*Positive control		
	0.5	$51.2 \pm 1.1$			
	1.0	$73.3\pm0.9$			
	2.0	$70.8 \pm 1.3$			
	3.0	$69.5\pm0.8$			
	4.0	$66.0\pm0.7$			
	5.0	$66.1\pm0.6$			

 Table 14 DPPH scavenging activity (%) among mucilaginous polysaccharides from selected plants

# **APPENDIX B**

Data of Physicochemical Determination



Figure 29 Calibration curve for average molecular weight determination by HPSEC



Figure 30 Calibration curve for protein determination by Lowry method



Figure 31 Calibration curve for arabinose determination by GC



Figure 32 GC chromatogram of arabinose



Figure 33 Calibration curve for galactose determination by GC



Figure 34 GC chromatogram of galactose



Figure 35 Calibration curve for galacturonic acid determination by GC



Figure 36 GC chromatogram of galacturonic acid



Figure 37 Calibration curve for glucose determination by GC



Figure 38 GC chromatogram of glucose



Figure 39 Calibration curve for mannose determination by GC



Figure 40 GC chromatogram of mannose



Figure 41 Calibration curve for rhamnose determination by GC



Figure 42 GC chromatogram of rhamnose



Figure 43 Calibration curve for xylose determination by GC



Figure 44 GC chromatogram of xylose



Figure 45 GC chromatogram of mannitol



Figure 46 GC chromatogram of Konjac glucomannan



Figure 47 GC chromatogram of *B. alba* mucilage



Figure 48 GC chromatogram of H. esculentus mucilage



Figure 49 GC chromatogram of L. glutinosa mucilage



Figure 50 GC chromatogram of O. canum mucilage



Figure 51 GC chromatogram of *P. ovata* mucilage



Figure 52 GC chromatogram of S. scaphigerum mucilage



Figure 53 GC chromatogram of *T. foenum-graecum* mucilage

# **APPENDIX C**

Published Paper

and

Abstracts of Presentation at Conferences

**Research article** 

# **Open Access**

# *In Vitro* Glucose Entrapment and Alpha-Glucosidase Inhibition of Mucilaginous Substances from Selected Thai Medicinal Plants

Chanida PALANUVEJ<sup>1</sup>, Sanya Hokputsa<sup>2</sup>, Tanasorn Tunsaringkarn<sup>1</sup>, Nijsiri Ruangrungsi \* <sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

<sup>2</sup> Research and Development Institute, Government Pharmaceutical Organization, Bangkok 10400, Thailand <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

\* Corresponding author. E-mail: nijsiri.r@chula.ac.th (N. Ruangrungsi)

Sci Pharm. 2009; 77: 837–849		doi:10.3797/s	doi:10.3797/scipharm.0907-17		
Published: Accepted:	October 10 <sup>th</sup> 2009 October 9 <sup>th</sup> 2009	Received:	July 25 <sup>th</sup> 2009		

This article is available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3797/scipharm.0907-17

© Palanuvej et al.; licensee Österreichische Apotheker-Verlagsgesellschaft m. b. H., Vienna, Austria.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

#### Abstract

As a continuous searching for anti-diabetic(type II) substances, seven mucilage polysaccharides from selected plants were studied as follow: aerial parts of Basella alba Linn., fruits of Hibiscus esculentus Linn., leaves of Litsea glutinosa (Lour.) C.B. Robinson, seeds of Ocimum canum Sims., seeds of Plantago ovata Forssk., fruits of Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. and seeds of Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn. The bioactive properties for entrapping glucose, inhibiting enzyme alpha-glucosidase and free radical scavenger were in vitro studied compared to glucomannan. The physical characteristics for water holding capacity and viscosity were determined. The chemical characteristics were assayed for monosaccharide composition using methanolysis, TMSderivatization and gas chromatography. O. canum mucilage superiorly entrapped glucose compared to glucomannan. This activity was relevant to its highly viscous gelation. S. scaphigerum showed another property of alphaglucosidase inhibition. S. scaphigerum mucilage (0.5%) inhibited the enzyme activity by 82.6%, compared to 1-Deoxynorjirimycin (by 47.6%). Most mucilages, except O. canum and P. ovata, showed DPPH scavenging activity higher than glucomannan. Galacturonic acid was found in 3 from 7 mucilages namely B. alba, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum. Whereas rhamnose was common sugar found in all seven mucilages. Monosaccharide components of these mucilages were compared to the results from the previous reports.

# Keywords

Mucilage • Polysaccharide • Anti-diabetic potential • Free radical scavenger • Physicochemical property

# Introduction

Type 2 diabetes comprises 90% of people with diabetes around the world and is one of the major public health challenges of the 21st century. The number of cases worldwide in 2000 is estimated to be about 171 million and is projected to rise to 366 million in 2030. The World Health Organization (WHO) projects that without urgent action, diabetes-related deaths will increase by more than 50% in the next 10 years. Especially in upper-middle income countries, diabetes deaths are projected to increase by over 80% between 2006 and 2015 [1]. This circumstance results that the demand for medical care in type 2 diabetes will continue to increase. The substantial care and cost are due to the management of complications of the disease at both the starting point and the degree of deterioration over time. Macrovascular complications (ischemic heart disease, peripheral vascular disease, and cerebrovascular disease) has been estimated to be the largest cost component followed by microvascular complications (nephropathy, neuropathy and retinopathy) [2]. Endothelial dysfunction is considered to be an integral component of vascular diseases. Impaired endothelial function induces vasoconstriction, inflammatory and proliferative changes in the arterial wall and promotes atherosclerotic lesion growth. Prevention or normalization of endothelial function, contributes to the prevention of vascular lesion progression or destabilization [3]. Hyperglycemia has been proposed to be a crucial factor inducing endothelial dysfunction. High concentration of blood glucose as well as high glucose fluctuation during postprandial period correlates with the increase in reactive oxygen species or oxidative stress. Reactive oxygen species mediates the activation of the imbalance in vasoregulating factors (vasodilators and vasoconstrictors) then affects endothelial homeostasis and triggers atherogenic changes, including increases in low-density lipoprotein oxidation, sympathetic tone, vasoconstriction, and thrombogenicity [4]. Accordingly, glucose control is an important goal to diminish the risk of long term health complications of type 2 diabetes. In addition to glycated haemoglobin and fasting plasma glucose, postprandial glucose is recently recommended as essential target for diabetes management [5]. Alpha-glucosidase inhibition is one of the powerful interventions. Alpha-glucosidase is intestinal enzyme which catalyzes the degradation of diet polysaccharides to absorbable monosaccharide. Natural or synthetic glucosidase inhibitors are of therapeutic interest to delay postprandial hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes. Amongst these, saccharide derivatives, for example Acarbose and Miglitol, have been approvable for anti-diabetic drugs [6]. Non-starch polysaccharides designated as soluble dietary fibers are also useful functional foods according to their association with the reduced risks of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases [7]. The viscous characteristics due to excellent water-holding and gel-forming capabilities have been proposed as an important mechanistic factor to delay gastric emptying and delay absorption of glucose in gastrointestinal tract [8]. Plant mucilage has been credited as one of plant chemical constituents showing hypoglycemic activity [9, 10]. This study investigated in vitro properties for anti type 2 diabetic potential among selected mucilaginous plants compared to a well known soluble dietary fiber, glucomannan. Some physico-chemical characteristics of these mucilages were also characterized.

# **Results and Discussion**

#### Mucilage extraction

Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follow: aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. (Basellaceae), fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Malvaceae), leaves of *Litsea glutinosa* (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Lauraceae), seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims. (Labiatae), seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Plantaginaceae), fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. (Sterculiaceae) and seeds of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Papilionaceae). The mucilages from selected plants yielded range from 3.5% to 23.0% as shown in table 1.

#### Tab. 1. Mucilage polysaccharides from selected plants

Plants	Used parts	% Yield	
Basella alba Linn.	aerial parts	3.5	
Hibiscus esculentus L.	fruits	5.6	
Litsea glutinosa Lour.	leaves	12.0	
Ocimum canum Sims.	seeds	17.6	
Plantago ovata Forssk.	seeds	19.0	
Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don.	fruits	23.0	
Trigonella foenum-graecum L.	seeds	15.0	

#### In vitro property of entrapping glucose

Dialysis tubing technique is a simple model to evaluate the potential of soluble dietary fibers to additionally retard the diffusion and movement of glucose in the intestinal tract [11]. Movement in this system is not by the true diffusion but is assisted by the convective activity of intestinal contractions [12]. The entrapment ability of mucilage gel resulted in decreasing of glucose diffusion into the external solution. The retardation of the nutrient flow into the external medium is an indication of the modulating effect of that fiber on glucose absorption in the jejunum [11]. From the studied model, all mucilages showed concentration response (0.5, 1.0 and 2.0%w/v) on glucose entrapment activity. The percentage of glucose releasing from 2% mucilage suspension were 61.6, 70.8, 71.7, 80.6, 83.4, 85.8 and 92.8 % for O. canum, P. ovata, T. foenum-graecum, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, B. alba and S. scaphigerum respectively. Glucomannan showed 65.4% of glucose releasing at the same concentration (Figure 1). Glucomannan seems to be the most impressive natural fiber with increasing importance in the biomedical and pharmaceutical fields. It has been found to decrease the serum glucose levels and also the postprandial insulin flow which aiding diabetic control [13]. Psyllium seeds from P. ovata and fenugreek seeds from T. foenum-graecum are also reported as an adjunct to dietary therapy in patients with type II diabetes, to reduce glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin [14, 15]. Figure 1 showed that the retardation effect on glucose movement of the mucilages from P. ovata and T. foenum-graecum were lower degree than glucomannan. Whilst O. canum mucilage of all concentration superiorly entrapped glucose compared to glucomannan. There have been previous studies of hypoglycemic effect of O. canum but from leaves extract [16].



**Fig. 1.** Percentages of glucose releasing from 0.5, 1, 2% mucilage containing 2% glucose after 2 hr dialysis (n=4). The significance of differences from the control (0% mucilage, 99.8±0.9%) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (\*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.05).

#### In vitro property of alpha-glucosidase inhibition

The effect of selected mucilages against  $\alpha$ -glucosidase was evaluated. At the concentration of 0.5% mucilage, *S. scaphigerum*, *L. glutinosa*, *H. esculentus*, *O. canum*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *P. ovata*, *B. alba* and glucomannan showed the inhibitory percentage of 82.6, 41.0, 37.6, 32.8, 30.6, 27.0, 25.0 and 19.7 % respectively. Whereas, 1-Deoxynorjirimycin at the same concentration showed the inhibition of 47.6% (Figure 2). *S. scaphigerum* mucilage was further investigated and found that the concentration for 50% inhibition of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity (IC<sub>50</sub>) was 0.17% (Figure 3). *S. scaphigerum* or Malva nut tree is mostly found in the East of Thailand. The gel made from malva nuts is used as ingredients in dishes and beverages. Malva nut drink is traditionally used to relief coughing and sore throats. The previous study in type 2 diabetic patients reported that after the intake of malva nut drink, fasting plasma glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin decreased significantly [17]. The present study showed a possible mechanism in alpha-glucosidase inhibition.

#### DPPH radical-scavenging activity

Tab. 2.DPPH scavenging activity as IC50 among mucilage polysaccharides from<br/>selected plants

Mucilages	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)	Mucilages	IC <sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)
B. alba	2.00	S. scaphigerum	0.61
H. esculentus	0.70	T. foenum-graecum	1.52
L. glutinosa	0.49		
O. canum	>10	Glucomannan	4.15
P. ovata	>10	Ascorbic acid	0.02
<sup>a</sup> mean of 3 runs			



**Fig. 2.** Percentage of alpha-glucosidase inhibition by 0.5% mucilage (n = 3). <sup>#</sup> %inhibition was not significantly different from control (Deoxynorjirimycin) (p>0.05); \* %inhibition was significantly higher from control (p<0.05); \* %inhibition was significantly lower than control (p<0.05) (determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test).



**Fig. 3.** Percentage of alpha-glucosidase inhibition from various concentration of *S. scaphigerum* mucilage

Endothelial dysfunction is a key factor in all stages of atherosclerosis development. This term refers to an imbalance in the production of vasodilators at the circumstance of high concentrations of reactive oxygen species or oxidative stress [4]. Scavenging of the stable free radical diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) is the basis of a common antioxidant assay. There have been widely different protocols which differed in the conditions (i.e. pH,

solvents, wavelength of measurement), yielding different results. In the present study, the polysaccharide samples were incubated with 100  $\mu$ M DPPH in methanol for 30 min using ascorbic acid as standard antioxidant. The number of DPPH reduced by one molecule of ascorbic acid (antioxidant stoichiometry) was 2.5 which was higher than the theoretic value of 2.0 but close to the previous experiments [18, 19]. Table 2 demonstrated the scavenging activity of the polysaccharide samples on the DPPH radical. Except for *O. canum* and *P. ovat*a, other mucilages showed scavenging activities higher than glucomannan. Especially the mucilages of *L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum* and *H. esculentus* had IC<sub>50</sub> less than 1 mg/ml. Although the abilities were lower than that of ascorbic acid, these mucilages counteracted with DPPH as strongly as *Ganoderma* polysaccharides (IC<sub>50</sub> between 3–13 mg/ml) [20].

#### Swelling measurements and viscosity

There are a series of physical interactions in the gastrointestinal tract which affect absorption, as follow: diffusion of nutrients from the bulk solution to the intestinal epithelia, the rate of removal of waters of hydration from a complex nutrient solvent system, counter diffusion of nutrients away from the intestinal surface and diffusion of nutrients along the epithelial surface to an appropriate absorptive site [21]. Water can be held within the polysaccharide matrix causing considerable swelling and viscous solution or gelation. Viscous polysaccharide gels may slow absorption by trapping nutrients, digestive enzymes or bile acids in the matrix and by slowing mixing and diffusion in the intestine [22]. These physical properties of selected mucilages were studied (Table 3). *O. canum* and *S. scaphigerum* mucilages showed highest values of swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) followed by *P. ovata* and *T. foenum-graecum* respectively. Other mucilages showed the same values of SV and WAI as glucomannan. Viscosity was determined using falling ball viscosity method. *O. canum* mucilage had highest viscosity value even at low concentration (0.5%). Viscous character seemed to be a prominent factor affected the hypoglycemic potential of *O. canum* but not *S. scaphigerum* mucilage.

Musilagos	SV	WAI	Viscosity (mPa s)		
winchages	(ml/g)	(g/g)	0.5% 1.0%	2.0%	
glucomannan	23.9 ± 1.9	22.1 ± 1.9	21.1 ± 0.3 143.2 ± 8.9	4582.8 ± 60.3	
B. alba	25.7 ± 6.3	15.8 ± 3.0	$2.2 \pm 0.3$ $3.5 \pm 0.4$	$7.0 \pm 0.4$	
H. esculentus	22.2 ± 4.6	$20.7 \pm 4.3$	7.7 ± 0.7 17.1 ± 0.9	45.1 ± 2.0	
L. glutinosa	27.5 ± 8.5	$20.6 \pm 4.6$	$1.8 \pm 0.2  5.9 \pm 0.6$	19.1 ± 2.6	
O. canum	115.9 ± 17.3*	111.1 ± 17.1*	581.3 ± 59.1 >5000	>5000	
P. ovata	60.4 ± 7.7*	48.3 ± 3.2*	6.2 ± 0.3 18.5 ± 1.1	1575.3 ± 57.5	
S. scaphigerum	210.5 ± 4.3*	102.8 ± 1.6*	0 0	0	
T. foenum-graecum	38.9 ± 1.0	19.1 ± 1.4	$6.7 \pm 0.4$ 29.6 ± 1.9	213.0 ± 17.9	

Tab. 3.	Swelling volume (SV), water absorption index (WAI) and viscosity among
	mucilage polysaccharides from selected plants

<sup>a</sup> mean of 3 runs; \* the significance of differences of SV and WAI from the control (glucomannan) was determined by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test (p<0.01).

#### Monosaccharide analysis and protein content

The selected mucilages as well as glucomannan were analyzed for the primary structures of their monosaccharide compositions as shown in Table 4 and 5. Konjac glucomannan in this study showed the mannose : glucose molar ratio of around 1.6 : 1 which was in the range reported elsewhere. Galacturonic acid was found in 3 from 7 mucilages namely B. alba, P. ovata and S. scaphigerum. Whereas rhamnose was common sugar found in all studied mucilages. Chemical analyses of the mucilages in this study showed some differing results from the previous reports. This was due to the differences in either plant origin or methodology of extraction and analysis. Literature reviews of monosaccharide composition among these mucilages were summarized in Table 6. H. esculentus mucilage from this study had highest glucose (79%) composition compared to 44% and 5% from the literatures. L. glutinosa mucilage from the leaves in this study had xylose/ arabinose ratio differed from the reported barks. P. ovata and T. foenum-graecum mucilages displayed the typical characters of arabinoxylan and galactomannan respectively. The water extracts of S. scaphigerum mucilages in this report had similar ratio of monosaccharide with the alkaline extracts reported elsewhere. B. alba mucilage was firstly revealed the composition of arabinose, rhamnose, galactose, galacturonic acid and glucose (24:5:41:13:16). Total protein contents in these crude polysaccharides ranged from 2% in P. ovata to 38% in L. glutinosa (Table 4).

	Ara	b	Rham	Ху	Ма	n
glucomannan	/	1	The second second		493.8 ±	11.6
B. alba	43.5 ±	0.8	10.7 ± 0.1			
H. esculentus			$27.8 \pm 0.6$			
L. glutinosa	84.1 ±	1.2	$6.0 \pm 0.2$	56.4 ± 0.5	9.7 ±	0.1
O. canum	47.8 ±	1.1	28.0 ± 0.7	98.43 ± 2.5	37.5 ±	1.5
P. ovata	165.2 ±	13.5	52.0 ± 3.4	697.5 ± 1.3		
S. scaphigerum	121.7 ±	3.4	155.2 ± 4.8	20.8 ± 0.7		
T. foenum-graecum			18.8 ± 0.4	20.4 ± 0.2	310.4 ±	1.2
	Ga		Galn	Glu	TF	c
glucomannan	1101	19/1	ຍທາສາ	309.6 ± 3.6	107.8 ±	0.04
B. alba	88.7 ±	1.0	33.7 ± 1.3	34.6 ± 0.8	235.5 ±	0.04
H. esculentus	46.5 ±	1.4		285.7 ± 1.4	152.7 ±	0.04
L. glutinosa	29.7 ±	0.6		88.9 ± 0.5	375.1 ±	0.01
O. canum	156.2 ±	0.8		66.30 ± 0.2	81.8 ±	0.02
P. ovata			51.7 ± 3.0		20.3 ±	0.02
S. scaphigerum	144.6 ±	0.3	173.4 ± 2.9	21.1 ± 0.2	195.3 ±	0.03
T. foenum-graecum	302.2 ±	1.2		82.2 ± 0.5	209.5 ±	0.01

Tab. 4.Monosaccharide composition and total protein content (μg/mg) among mucilage<br/>polysaccharides from selected plants

<sup>a</sup> mean of 3 runs; <sup>b</sup> monosaccharides found in these mucilages included arabinose (ara), rhamnose (rham), xylose (xy), mannose (man), galactose (gal), galacturonic acid (galn) and glucose (glu). Fucose (fu) and glucuronic acid (glun) were absent; <sup>c</sup> Total protein.

	Ara	Rham	Ху	Man	Gal	Galn	Glu
glucomannan				61			39
B. alba	24	5			41	13	16
H. esculentus		8			13		79
L. glutinosa	33	2	22	3	10		29
O. canum	12	6	25	8	34		14
P. ovata	18	5	74			4	
S. scaphigerum	23	24	4		23	23	3
T. foenum-graecum		3	3	42	41		11

**Tab. 5.**Monosaccharide composition (% mole ratio) among mucilage polysaccharides<br/>from selected plants

Tab. 6. Monosaccharide composition among mucilage polysaccharides from literatures

glucomannan	man : gluc 1.6 : 1	[23]
	rham : gal : galn: glu : glun 1 : 2.5 : 1.8 : 0.3 : 0.2	[24]
H. esculentus	ara : rham : xyl : man : gal : galn : glu : glun 5 : 3 : 5 : 3 : 17 :	[25]
	16 : 44 : 7	
L. glutinosa	ara : xy 3.4 : 1.0 (barks)	[26]
0.000	ara : rham : xy : man : gal : glu 1 : 2 : 1 : 2 : 5 : 8 (uronic acids	[27]
	8.15%)	
P. ovata	ara : rham : xy : man : gal : glu 20.7 : 1.1 : 50.3 : 1.1 : 4.8 : 2.0	[28]
S. scaphigerum	ara :rham : gal 1.1 : 1.0 : 1.0 (%w/w)	[29]
T. foenum-	ara: rham : man : gal : glu 0.5 : 0.2 : 31.4 : 26.2 : 0.6	[30]
graecum	gal : man 1.00 : 1.02 to 1.00 : 1.14	[31]

# Conclusion

The plants bearing mucilage in this study have been well known in Thailand as both edible and medicinal plants. Mucilagenous typed polysaccharides from these plants were investigated for the biological activities especially antidiabetic potential. Despite the limitations of this *in vitro* study, there seemed to be various mechanisms possibly involved by mucilages due to their physico-chemical characteristics. The *in vitro* models could be beneficial tools for the survey of other potential plant mucilages. Moreover they could refine the possible and capable research designs prior to the expensive further studies of either the animal models or the clinical trials.

# Experimental

Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follow: aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. (Basellaceae), fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Malvaceae), leaves of *Litsea glutinosa* (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Lauraceae), seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims. (Labiatae), seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Plantaginaceae), fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. (Sterculiaceae) and seeds of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Papilionaceae). Glucomannan flour (the Siam Konjac Co., Ltd.) was used for comparison. Chemicals and

reagents included *p*-nitrophenyl- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranoside and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.20) from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, 1-Deoxynojirimycin, 1,1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), standard monosaccharides (Sigma Chemical Co. Ltd, St. Louis, MO.); methanolic HCl, trimethylchlorosilane, hexamethyldisilazane (Supelco, Bellefont, PA); Glucose Liquicolor kit (Human Gesellschaft für Biochemica und Diagnostica mbH, Germany); Lactated Ringers Buffer pH 7 (General Hospital Product Public Co., LTD., Thailand), All other chemicals were analytical grade. Dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 12,000 Da) was from Sigma Chemical Co. Ltd, St. Louis, MO. Dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 3,500 Da) was from Spectrum Medical Industries, Inc., Los Angeles, CA.

#### Mucilage extraction

The mucilage were extracted from the specified plant parts with warm water and concentrated by lyophilization. The lyophilized samples were re-dissolved in water, precipitated twice with 2 volume of 80% ethanol and dialyzed against distilled water in a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 3,500 Da). The samples were lyophilized, ground and kept in refrigerator for further studies.

#### In vitro property of entrapping glucose

The mucilage and glucomannan were dissolved in Ringers buffer. Glucose was added to make the final concentration of 2% glucose and 0, 0.5, 1 and 2 % w/v polysaccharide gel. Four milliliter of each concentration was dialysed against 60 ml of Ringers buffer in a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane (molecular weight cut off = 12,000 Da) for 2 hours under rotationally shaking at 150 rpm. The released glucose was determined by glucose oxidase - phenyl ampyrone (GOD-PAP) colorimetric method using Glucose Liquicolor kit according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### In vitro property of alpha-glucosidase inhibition

Alpha-glucosidase activity was assayed using 0.1M sodium phosphate buffer at pH 6.9, and 1 mM p-nitrophenyl- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranoside was used as a substrate [32]. The concentration of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase was 1 U/mL in each experiment. The enzyme (4 µl) was incubated in the absence or presence of various concentrations of tested polysaccharides at 37 °C. The preincubation time was specified at 10 min and the substrate (95 µL) was added to the mixture. The reaction was carried out at 37 °C for 20 min, and then 100 µL of 1M Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> was added to terminate the reaction. Enzymatic activity was quantified by measuring the absorbance of *p*-nitrophenol at 405 nm. One unit of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase is defined as the amount of enzyme liberating 1.0 µmol of *p*-nitrophenol per minute under the conditions specified. 1-Deoxynojirimycin was used as the positive control.

#### DPPH radical-scavenging activity

The potential antioxidant activity of polysaccharide samples was determined on the basis of the scavenging activity of the stable DPPH free radical [33]. Various concentrations of polysaccharides samples (0.5 ml) were added to 1.5 mL of a 0.004% methanolic solution of DPPH. Absorbance at 517 nm was determined after 30 min, and the percent scavenging activity was calculated by the following formula:

Scavenging effect (%) = 
$$(1 - A_{sample}/A_{control}) \times 100$$

122

Where  $A_{\text{control}}$  is the absorbance of control (DPPH solution plus water),  $A_{\text{sample}}$  is the test sample (DPPH solution plus test sample or positive control) and the percent inhibition activity was calculated. IC<sub>50</sub> values denote the concentration of sample required to scavenge 50% DPPH free radicals.

#### Swelling measurements and viscosity

Swelling volume (SV) and water absorption index (WAI) were determined from the ratio of the volume and weight of swollen gel to the dry weight of sample respectively [34,35]. A 0.050 g ground sample (<60 mesh) was suspended in 25 ml of water in a 25-ml graduated cylinder for 2 hours. The volume of swollen gel was measured. The supernatant liquid was removed, the swollen gel was weighed and SV and WAI were calculated. Viscosities at various concentrations were measured with a falling ball viscometer (HAAKE Mess-Technik GmbH u. Co, Germany) at 20 °C.

#### Monosaccharide analysis and protein content

The polysaccharide samples (1 mg) were subjected to methanolysis with 4 M methanolic HCl at 80°C for 24 h. Mannitol was added as an internal standard. The samples were dried with nitrogen, methanol was added and the samples were dried again. This washing was repeated twice [36]. Prior to gas chromatographic analysis, the samples were trimethylsilylated using trimethylchlorosilane : hexamethyldisilazane : Pyridine 1:2:5 (0.4 ml) at room temperature for 30 min. Instrumentation was performed on a Finnigan Trace GC Ultra with DSQ MS detector and a split–splitless injector. The column was a ZB-5 fused silica capillary column (30 m × 0.25 mm i.d.) with film thickness 0.25  $\mu$ m. Helium was used as carrier gas at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The injector and detector temperature were 260 and 300°C respectively. The column temperature was initially 140°C, then an increase of 1°C/min to 170°C and followed by 6°C/min to 250°C. The protein contents of the samples were determined by Lowry method using bovine serum albumin as protein standard.

#### Statistical analysis

The significance of differences between the mean values was determined by analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Dunnett's test, and a p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Acknowledgements

C.P. wishes to thank the Thailand Research Fund through the Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Program and Chulalongkorn University Graduate School Thesis Grant for financial supports. The authors also express their gratitude to the Siam Konjac Co., Ltd. for standard glucomannan.

# Authors' Statement

#### Competing Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

846

#### References

- [1] World Health Organization.
   Diabetes.
   http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/print.html, 2008 November.
- [2] Cade WT. Diabetes-related microvascular and macrovascular diseases in the physical therapy setting. Phys Ther. 2008; 88: 1322–1335. doi:10.2522/ptj.20080008
- [3] Nakagami H, Kaneda Y, Ogihara TMorishita R. Endothelial dysfunction in hyperglycemia as a trigger of atherosclerosis. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2005; 1: 59–63. doi:10.2174/1573399052952550
- [4] Nathanson D, Nyström T.
   Hypoglycemic pharmacological treatment of type 2 diabetes: Targeting the endothelium. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009; 297: 112–126. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2008.11.016
- [5] O'Keefe JH, Gheewala NM, O'Keefe JO.
   Dietary strategies for improving post-prandial glucose, lipids, inflammation, and cardiovascular health.
   J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008; 51: 249–255.
   doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2007.10.016
- [7] Galisteo M, Duarte J, Zarzuelo A.
   Effects of dietary fibers on disturbances clustered in the metabolic syndrome.
   J Nutr Biochem. 2008; 19: 71–84.
   doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2007.02.009
- [8] Jenkins AL, Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Rogovik AL, Jovanovski E, Bozikov V, Rahelic D, Vuksan V. Comparable postprandial glucose reductions with viscous fiber blend enriched biscuits in healthy subjects and patients with diabetes mellitus: acute randomized controlled clinical trial. Croat Med J. 2008; 49: 772–782. doi:10.3325/cmj.2008.49.722
- [9] Satyavati GV, Neeraj T, Madhu S.
   Indigenous plant drugs for diabetes mellitus.
   Int J Diab Dev Ctries 1989; 9: 181A.
- [10] Tomoda M, Shimizu N, Oshima Y, Takahashi M, Murakami M, Hikino H. Hypoglycemic activity of twenty plant mucilages and three modified products. Planta Med. 1987; 53: 8–12. doj:10.1055/s-2006-962605
- [11] Adiotomre J, Eastwood MA, Edwards CA, Brydon WG.
   Dietary fiber: in vitro methods that anticipate nutrition and metabolic activity in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1990; 52: 128–134.
   PMid:2163190
- [12] Edwards CA, Johnson IT, Read NW.
   Do viscous polysaccharides slow absorption by inhibiting diffusion or convection? Eur J Clin Nutr. 1988; 42: 307–312.
   PMid:2840277

- [13] Alonso-Sande M, Teijeiro-Osorio D, Remuñán-López C, Alonso MJ. Glucomannan, a promising polysaccharide for biopharmaceutical purposes. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2009; 72: 453–462. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2008.02.005
- [14] Frati Munari AC, Benitez Pinto WB, Raul Ariza Andraca C, Casarrubias M. Lowering glycemic index of food by acarbose and Plantago psyllium mucilage. Arch Med Res. 1998; 29: 137–141. PMid:9650328
- [15] Sharma RD, Sarkar A, Hazara DK, Mishra B, Singh JB, Sharma SK, Maheshwari BB, Maheshwari PK. Use of Fenuqreek seed powder in the management of non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. Nutr Res. 1996; 16: 1331–1339. doi:10.1016/0271-5317(96)00141-8
- [16] Nyarko AK, Asare-Anane H, Ofosuhene M, Addy ME, Teye K, Addo P. Aqueous extract of *Ocimum canum* decreases levels of fasting blood glucose and free radicals and increases antiatherogenic lipid levels in mice. Vascul Pharmacol. 2003; 39: 273–279. doi:10.1016/S1537-1891(03)00029-6
- [17] Pongthananikorn S, Veranitinun R. Effect of Malva nut drink on blood sugar in type 2 diabetic patients. Thai J Hosp Pharm. 2007; 17: 120–127.
- [18] Villano D, Fernández-Pachón MS, Moya ML, Troncoso AM, Garcia-Parrilla MC. Radical scavenging ability of polyphenolic compounds towards DPPH free radical. Talanta. 2007; 71: 230–235. doi:10.1016/j.talanta.2006.03.050
- [19] Lo Scalzo R. Organic acids influence on DPPH scavenging by ascorbic acid. Food Chem. 2008; 107: 40–43. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.07.070
- [20] Tseng Y-H, Yang J-HMau J-L.
   Antioxidant properties of polysaccharides from Ganoderma tsugae.
   Food Chem. 2008; 107: 732–738.
   doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.08.073
- [21] Eastwood M.
   Physico-Chemical Properties of Dietary Fibre in the Foregut.
   In: Dietary Fibre. Mechanisms of Action in Human Physiology and Metabolism.
   Cherbut C, Barry JL, Lairon D, Durand M, editors.
   Paris: John Libbey Eurotext, 1995: 17–28.
- [22] Oakenfull D. *Physicochemical properties of dietary fiber: overview.*  In: Handbook of Dietary Fiber. Volume 113 in the Food Science and Technology Series. Cho SS, Dreher ML, editors. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc, 2001: 195–206.
- [23] Katsuraya K, Okuyama K, Hatanaka K, Oshima R, Sato T, Matsuzaki K. Constitution of konjac glucomannan: chemical analysis and 13C NMR spectroscopy. Carbohydr Polym. 2003; 53: 183–189. doi:10.1016/S0144-8617(03)00039-0
- Hirose K, Endo K, Hasegawa K.
   A convenient synthesis of lepidimoide from okra mucilage and its growth-promoting activity in hypocotyls.
   Carbohydr Res. 2004; 339: 9–19.
   doi:10.1016/j.carres.2003.10.003

- [25] Sengkhamparn N, Verhoef R, Schols HA, Sajjaanantakul T, Voragen AGJ. Characterisation of cell wall polysaccharides from okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* (L.) Moench). Carbohydr Res. 2009; 344: 1824–1832. doi:10.1016/j.carres.2008.10.012
- Herath HMTB, Kumar NS, Wimalasiri KMS.
   Structural studies of an arabinoxylan isolated from *Litsea glutinosa* (Lauraceae).
   Carbohydr Res. 1990; 198: 343–351.
   doi:10.1016/0008-6215(90)84304-D
- [27] Anjaneyalu YV, Tharanathan RN.
   Composition and preliminary fractionation of the seed mucilage of *Ocimum canum*.
   Aust J Chem. 1971; 24: 1501–1507.
   doi:10.1071/CH9711501
- [28] Van Craeyveld V, Delcour JA, Courtin CM. Extractability and chemical and enzymic degradation of psyllium (*Plantago ovata* Forsk) seed husk arabinoxylans. Food Chem. 2009; 112: 812–819. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.06.035
- [29] Somboonpanyakul P, Wang Q, Cui W, Barbut S, Jantawat P. Malva nut gum. (Part I): Extraction and physicochemical characterization. Carbohydr Polym. 2006; 64: 247–253. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2005.11.034
- [30] Youssef MK, Wang Q, Cui SW, Barbut S. Purification and partial physicochemical characteristics of protein free fenugreek gums. Food Hydrocolloid. 2009; 23: 2049–2053. doi:10.1016/j.foodhyd.2009.03.017
- Brummer Y, Cui W, Wang Q.
   Extraction, purification and physicochemical characterization of fenugreek gum.
   Food Hydrocolloid. 2003; 17: 229–236.
   doi:10.1016/S0268-005X(02)00054-1
- [32] Adisakwattana S, Sookkongwaree K, Roengsumran S, Petsom A, Ngamrojnavanich N, Chavasiri W, Deesamer S, Yibchok-anun S. Structure-activity relationships of trans-cinnamic acid derivatives on [alpha]-glucosidase inhibition. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2004; 14: 2893–2896. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2004.03.037
- [33] Yuan J-F, Zhang Z-Q, Fan Z-C, Yang J-X. Antioxidant effects and cytotoxicity of three purified polysaccharides from *Ligusticum chuanxiong* Hort. Carbohydr Polym. 2008; 74: 822–827. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2008.04.040
- [34] Crosbie GB. The relationship between starch swelling properties, paste viscosity and boiled noodle quality in wheat flours. J Cereal Sci. 1991; 13: 145–150. doi:10.1016/S0733-5210(09)80031-3
- [35] Seker M, Hanna MA.
   Sodium hydroxide and trimetaphosphate levels affect properties of starch extrudates. Ind Crop Prod. 2006; 23: 249–255. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2005.08.002
- [36] Samuelsen AB, Lund I, Djahromi JM, Paulsen BS, Wold JK, Knutsen SH. Structural features and anti-complementary activity of some heteroxylan polysaccharide fractions from the seeds of *Plantago major* L. Carbohydr Polym. 1999; 38: 133–143. doi:10.1016/S0144-8617(98)00115-5



Abstracts บทคัดย่อ 32<sup>rd</sup>Congress on Science and Technology of Thailand (STT.32) การประชุมวิชาการวิทยาศาสตร์ และเทคโนโลยีแท่งประเทศไทย ครั้งที่32 (วทท.32)

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY FOR SUFFICIENCY ECONOMY To celebrate the 60<sup>th</sup> Anniversary of His Majesty the King's Accession to the Throne วิทยาศาสตร์และเทคโนโลยีเพื่อเครษฐกิจพอเพียง เฉลิมฉลองการครองสิริราชสมบัติครบ 60 ปี ของพระบาทสมเด็จพระเจ้าอยู่หัว

#### October 10-12, 2006

Venue: QUEEN SIRIKIT NATIONAL CONVENTION CENTER (QSNCC) 10-12 ตุลาคม 2549 ณ ศูนย์ประชุมแก่งชาติสิริกิดี์



Organized by:

The Science Society of Thailand under the Patronage of His Majesty the King In association with Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

Supported by the National Research Council of Thailand

จัดโดย:

สมาคมวิทยาศาสตร์แห่งประเทศไทยในพระบรมราชูปถัมภ์ ร่วมกับ คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

สนับสนุนโดย สำนักงานคณะกธรมการวิจัยแห่งชาติ

#### การกักเก็บน้ำตาลกลูโคสในหลอดทดลองของสารเมือกจากพืชสมุนไพรชนิดต่างๆ

# *In Vitro* Glucose Entrapment of Mucilaginous Substances from Various Medicinal Plants

<u>ชนิดา พลานุเวช</u><sup>1</sup> และ นิจศิริ เรื่องรังบี<sup>1,2</sup> <u>Chanida Palanuvej</u><sup>1</sup> and Nijsiri Ruangrungsi<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Institute of Health Research and <sup>2</sup>Department of Pharmacognosy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Soi Chulalongkorn 62, Phyathai Road, Pathumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

บทคัดย่อ: ศึกษาการกักเก็บน้ำตาลกลูโคสในหลอดทดลองของสารเมือกจากพืชสมุนไพร 5 ชนิด เปรียบเทียบกับผงบุก ได้แก่ ผลกระเจี้ยบเขียว (*Hibiscus esculentus* Linn.) เมล็ดแมงลัก (*Ocimum canum* Sims.) เมล็ดเทียนเกล็ดหอย (*Plantago ovata* Forssk.) ผลสำรอง (*Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don.) และส่วนเหนือดินของผักปลังขาว (*Basella alba* Linn.) สกัดสารเมือกด้วยน้ำและระเหยแห้งภายใต้สุญญากาศ เตรียมสารละลายของสารเมือกทั้งห้าและผง บุก ความเข้มข้นร้อยละ 0, 0.5, 1 และ 2 ในริงเกอร์บัฟเฟอร์ที่มีน้ำตาลกลูโคสความเข้มข้นร้อยละ 2 บรรจุในถุงเยื่อไดอะไลซีสชนิดเซลลูโลสที่แช่อยู่ในริงเกอร์บัฟเฟอร์เป็นเวลา 2 ชั่วโมง วิเคราะห์ ปริมาณน้ำตาลกลูโคสที่ซึมผ่านถุงเยื่อออกมาโดยวิธีกลูโคสออกซิเคส สารละลายของสารเมือกที่ ศึกษายกเว้นจากสำรองแสดงคุณสมบัติเป็นเจล และการกักเกีบน้ำตาลกลูโคสสัมพันธ์กับความ เข้มข้นของสารเมือก ลำดับความสามารถในการกักเกีบน้ำตาลกลูโคสของสารเมือกทั้งห้าและผง บุกคือ แมงลัก > บุก > เทียนเกล็ดหอย > กระเจี๊ยบเขียว > ผักปลังขาว > สำรอง

**Abstract:** Mucilaginous substances from 5 medicinal plants were studied for *in vitro* glucose entrapment compared to glucomannan powdered. The mucilage from fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn., seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims., seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk., fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. and aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. were extracted with water and lyophilized. The mucilage solutions from 5 plants and glucomannan were prepared at concentration of 0, 0.5, 1 and 2% in Ringer buffer containing 2% glucose. The mucilage-glucose solution was dialyzed through membraneous cellulose with Ringer buffer for 2 hours. The released glucose was assayed by glucose oxidase (GOD-PAP) method. All mucilage solutions (except *S. scaphigerum*) showed gel-forming characteristics and concentration response on glucose entrapment activity. Glucose entrapment ability of the studied mucilages were ranked as follow: *O. canum* > glucomannan > P. ovata > H. esculentus > B. alba > S. scaphigerum.

# The Sixth

# Princess Chulabhorn International Science Congress

# THE INTERFACE OF CHEMISTRY AND BIOLOGY IN THE "OMICS" ERA: ENVIRONMENT & HEALTH AND DRUG DISCOVERY

November 25-29, 2007 Bangkok, Thailand

# **VOLUME II**

Published by: Amarin Printing and Publishing Public Company Limited, Bangkok, Thailand

ISBN: 978-974-7408-15-7
### PT-27

## IN VITRO GLUCOSE ENTRAPMENT AND $\alpha$ -GLUCOSIDASE INHIBITION OF MUCILAGINOUS SUBSTANCES FROM SELECTED THAI MEDICINAL PLANTS

#### Chanida Palanuvej<sup>1</sup>, Tanasorn Tunsaringkarn<sup>1</sup> and Nijsiri Ruangrungsi<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>10</sup>College of Public Health Sciences; <sup>10</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

As a continuous searching for anti-diabetic(type II) substances, seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follow: seeds of Ocimum canum Sims., seeds of Plantago ovata Forssk., seeds of Trigonella foenum-graecum Linn., leaves of Litsea glutinosa (Lour.) C.B. Robinson, fruits of Hibiscus esculentus Linn., aerial parts of Basella alba Linn. and fruits of Scaphium scaphigerum G. Don. The mucilage were extracted with water and lyophilized to dryness. The mucilage properties for entrapping glucose and inhibiting enzyme  $\alpha$ -glucosidase were studied in vitro prior to in animal models. For glucose entrapment assay, the suspension of 0.5, 1 and 2 % of the mucilage with 2% of glucose were dialyzed through membranous cellulose with Ringer buffer for 2 hours. The released glucose was assayed by glucose oxidase (GOD-PAP) method. All mucilage showed concentration response on glucose entrapment activity. Percentage of glucose released from 2% mucilage suspension were 61.6, 70.8, 71.7, 80.6, 83.4, 85.8 and 92.8 % for O. canum, P. ovata. T. foenum-graecum, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, B. alba and S. scaphigerum respectively. Glucomannan powder was also studied and showed 65.4% of glucose releasing at the same concentration. For enzyme inhibition assay,  $\alpha$ glucosidase activity was measured by spectrophotometry using p-nitrophenyl-a-D-glucopyranoside (PNP-G) as a substrate and released p-nitrophenol (PNP) was read at 405 nm. Five mg/ml of the mucilage and deoxynojirimycin (positive control) in DMSO were tested. S. scaphigerum was shown as the best inhibitor with 82.6 % inhibition whilst deoxynojirimycin, L. glutinosa, H. esculentus, O. canum, T. foenum-graecum, P. ovata, B. alba and glucomannan were 47.6, 41.0, 37.6, 32.8, 30.6, 27.0, 25.0 and 19.7 % respectively.

ศูนย์วิทยทรัพยากร จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



NRCT-JSPS Core University Program on Natural Medicine in Pharmaceutical Sciences

The Eighth Joint Seminar

## Innovative Research in Natural Products for Sustainable Development

December 3-4, 2008 Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences Chulalongkorn University Bangkok, Thailand

Jointly organized by

Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University Chulabhorn Research Institute National Research Council of Thailand (NRCT) Institute of Natural Medicine, University of Toyama Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS)

ISBN 978-974-03-2365-5

#### The Eighth NRCT-JSPS Joint Seminar:

Innovative Research in Natural Products for Sustainable Development

### **PP93**

#### THE EFFECT OF PLANT MUCILAGES ON LIPID SOLUBILITY IN BILE SALT

<sup>1)</sup>Chanida Palanuvej, and <sup>1,2)</sup>Nijsiri Ruangrungsi

1) College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

2) Department of Pharmacognosy, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

KEYWORDS: Plant Mucilage, Lipid Solubility, Bile Salt

#### INTRODUCTION

Bile plays an important role to increase lipid solubility in aqueous matrix by micelle formation. Lipid metabolism depends on its solubility which leads to permeability through intestinal cells. Interfering of lipid-bile micelle characters can affect lipid solubility which influences on lipid absorption, distribution and metabolism. In this study, the solubility of cholesterol and fatty acids were investigated using *in vitro* model bile salt with and without plant mucilages in the system.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follow: seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims. (Labiatae), seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Plantaginaceae), seeds of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Papilionaceae), leaves of *Litsea glutinosa* (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Lauraceae), fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Malvaceae), aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. (Basellaceae) and fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. (Sterculiaceae). The mucilages were extracted with warm water and lyophilized to dryness. Commercial glucomannan powder was also studied. Solid cholesterol, stearic acid and oleic acid sufficient to produce the saturated solution (*ca.* 10 mg each) was stirred in 3 ml NaTDC at room temperature for 24 hours. Soluble lipid micelles were separated by filtration through 0.2 µm membrane filter. Cholesterol was determined by enzymatic colorimetric assay. Stearic acid and oleic acid were determined by gas chromatography. The same experiments with 15 mg of each mucilage or glucomannan were performed. The soluble lipids in bile salt with 0.5% mucilages were presented in percentage of the soluble lipids in bile salt alone.

#### RESULTS

At 25 mM of NaTDC, the soluble cholesterol concentration was  $1.56 \pm 0.04$  mM. With selected mucilage gels in the system, the soluble cholesterol concentration ranged from 1.53 to 1.18 mM. *O. canum, T. foenum-graecum* and glucomannan showed inhibition on cholesterol solubility (24.3, 21.3 and 16.0% inhibition respectively). *L. glutinosa, S. scaphigerum, B. alba, H. esculentus and P. ovata* had marginal effect on cholesterol solubility (8.0, 6.4, 4.3, 4.2 and 1.8% inhibition respectively). For stearic acid solubilization, *B. alba* showed slightly inhibition (10.5% inhibition) while another mucilages as well as glucomannan increased stearic acid solubilization. Oleic acid has lower critical micelle concentration than stearic acid and cholesterol. The concentration of NaTDC used for oleic acid saturation was 0.3125 mM. At this concentration, 0.5% mucilages and glucomannan showed strongly inhibition of oleic acid solubility (97.5-65.9% inhibition).

#### DISCUSSION

Deoxycholic acid, a secondary bile acid, is more hydrophobic and more capable to solubilize cholesterol and fatty acids in the intestinal lumen. NaTDC has been previously reported for its stability in cholesterol-bile salt micelle formation<sup>1</sup>. Soluble dietary fibers are nominated for their *in vivo* hypocholesterolemic effects. There are several mechanisms postulated to be involved. The results of this study indicated that plant mucilages may play a role in interference with lipid micelle formation and lipid solubility. In addition, the effect on solubilization varied among each type of lipids as well as each type of mucilages. The mucilages and glucomannan in this study decreased cholesterol solubility whilst increased the solubility of stearic acid. The previous studies found that pectin and acacia (0.5%) significantly

#### The Eighth NRCT-JSPS Joint Seminar:

Innovative Research in Natural Products for Sustainable Development

increased the aqueous solubility of cholesterol while slight increases were observed for the solubility of cholesterol in both high and low molecular weight dextran solutions<sup>2,3</sup>. Carageenans (0.1%) significantly decreased cholesterol solubility<sup>3</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

In vitro experiments on cholesterol and fatty acid solubilization in bile micelle showed that the selected plant mucilages and glucomannan had some effects on micellar characteristics and interference with the solubility of lipids into micelle.

#### REFERENCES

1. Matsuoka K., Suzuki M, Honda C, Endo K, Moroi Y. Micellization of conjugated chenodeoxy- and ursodeoxycholates and solubilization of cholesterol into their micelles: comparison with other four conjugated bile salts species. Chemistry and Physics of Lipids 139 (2006) 1-10.

2. Madan DK, Cadwallader DE. Effect of macromolecules on aqueous solubility of cholesterol. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 59 (1970) 1362-1363.

3. Cadwallader DE, Madan DK. Effect of macromolecules on aqueous solubility of cholesterol and hormone drugs. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 70 (1981) 442-446.



**PP93** 

272

วารสารการแพทย์แผนไทยและการแพทย์ทางเลือก Journal of Thai Traditional & Alternative Medicine ปีที่ ๗ ฉบับที่ ๒ พฤษภาคม-สิงหาคม (ฉบับเสริม) ๒๕๕๒ Vol. 7 No. 2 May-August (Supplement) 2009





## การประชุมวิชาการประจำปี

การแพทย์แผนไทย การแพทย์พื้นบ้าน การแพทย์ทางเลือกแห่งชาติ ครั้งที่ ๖ และ

การประชุมสมัชชาสุขภาพเฉพาะประเด็น ภูมิปัญญาท้องถิ่นด้านสุขภาพ การแพทย์แผนไทย การแพทย์พื้นบ้าน และการแพทย์ทางเลือก ในงานมหกรรมสมุนไพรแห่งชาติ ครั้งที่ ๖

> ณ ห้องประชุมฟีนิกซ์ ๑ - ๖, ห้องประชุมงูปีเตอร์ ๑๑-๑๖ ระหว่างวันที่ ๒ - ๔ สิงหาคม ๒๕๕๒ ศูนย์แสดงสินค้าและการประชุมอิมแพ็ค เมืองทองธานี อำเภอปากเกร็ด จังหวัดนนทบุรี

# ศูนยวิทยทรัพยากร

เพื่อเผยแพร่ผลงานวิชาการและงานวิจัยด้านการแพทย์แผนไทย การแพทย์พื้นบ้าน และการแพทย์ทางเลือก สู่ชุมชนทางวิชาการ และสาธารณชน และเป็นเวทีความร่วมมือเพื่อแลกเปลี่ยนองค์ความรู้ ความคิดเห็น และประสบการณ์ ด้านการแพทย์แผนไทย การแพทย์พื้นบ้าน และการแพทย์ทางเลือก

จัดโดย กรมพัฒนาการแพทย์แผนไทยและการแพทย์ทางเลือก และเครือข่ายภาคีด้านสุขภาพ

## PP-25

#### **Bioactive Polysaccharides from Selected Thai Mucilaginous Plants**

### Chanida Palanuvej<sup>1</sup>, Nijsiri Ruangrungsi<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok 10330, Thailand

**Rationale:** Plant mucilages have been used in traditional or folk medicines for treatment of many diseases. The mucilages are heterogeneous polysaccharides which exhibit hydrocolloid property. The utilizations of nutritional hydrocolloids are increasing due to their functional properties e.g. water binding, viscosity and gelation, as well as to their bio-active roles in prevention and / or treatment of certain diseases.

Objective: To investigate the biological activities of selected mucilage polysaccharides.

**Methodology:** Seven mucilaginous plants were studied as follow: seeds of *Ocimum canum* Sims. (Labiatae), seeds of *Plantago ovata* Forssk. (Plantaginaceae), seeds of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* Linn. (Papilionaceae), leaves of *Litsea glutinosa* (Lour.) C.B. Robinson (Lauraceae), fruits of *Hibiscus esculentus* Linn. (Malvaceae), aerial parts of *Basella alba* Linn. (Basellaceae) and fruits of *Scaphium scaphigerum* G. Don. (Sterculiaceae). The mucilages were extracted with warm water and lyophilized to dryness. Glucomannan was used as reference hydrocolloid polysaccharide. The biological activities were studied *in vitro* prior to animal models. The activity for entrapping glucose was studied by dialysis. The releasing glucose was assayed by glucose oxidase method. Alpha-glucosidase inhibitory activity which delayed carbohydrate digestion was spectrophotometrically assayed using p-nitrophenyl- $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranoside as a substrate. The effect on cholesterol solubility was performed using bile salt micelle model (sodium taurodeoxycholate). The soluble cholesterol was determined by enzymatic colorimetric assay. The potential antioxidant activity was tested on the basis of the scavenging activity of the stable diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) free radical.

**Results:** All mucilage showed concentration response on glucose entrapment activity. Percentage of glucose released from 2 % mucilage suspension were 61.6, 70.8, 71.7, 80.6, 83.4, 85.8 and 92.8 % for *O. canum*, *P. ovata*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *L. glutinosa*, *H. esculentus*, *B. alba* and *S. scaphigerum* respectively. Glucomannan powder showed 65.4 % of glucose releasing at the same concentration. For enzyme alpha-glucosidase inhibition assay, 5 mg/ml of *S. scaphigerum* was shown as the best inhibitor with 82.6 % inhibition whilst deoxynojirimycin (standard inhibitor), *L. glutinosa*, *H. esculentus*, *O. canum*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *P. ovata*, *B. alba* and glucomannan were shown as 47.6, 41.0, 37.6, 32.8, 30.6, 27.0, 25.0 and 19.7 % inhibition respectively. At 25 mM of sodium taurodeoxycholate, the soluble cholesterol concentration was  $1.56 \pm 0.04$  mM. With hydrocolloid polysaccharides in the system, the soluble cholesterol concentration ranged from 1.53 to 1.18 mM. *O. canum*, *T. foenum-graecum* and glucomannan showed inhibition respectively). *L. glutinosa*, *S. scaphigerum*, *B. alba*, *H. esculentus* and *P. ovata* had marginal effect on cholesterol solubility (8.0, 6.4, 4.3, 4.2 and 1.8 % inhibition respectively). The IC<sub>50</sub> values in DPPH scavenger were 0.49, 0.61, 0.70, 1.52, 2.00 and 4.15 mg / ml for *L. glutinosa*, *S. scaphigerum*, *H. esculentus*, *T. foenum-graecum*, *B. alba* and glucomannan respectively. *O. canum* and *P. ovata* showed the least potential of DPPH scavenger (IC<sub>50</sub> > 10 mg / ml).

**Conclusion:** The results revealed some biological activities among selected plant mucilaginous polysaccharides. The outcome is the scientific evidence of the potential to develop nutritional hydrocolloids from plant mucilages.

## VITA

Miss Chanida Palanuvej was born on January 30, 1960 in Bangkok, Thailand. She got a Bachelor's degree of Science in biochemistry with second class honor in 1981 and got a Master of Science in Biochemistry in 1985 from Chulalongkorn University. She was granted a Royal Golden Jubilee Ph.D. Scholarship from the Thailand Research Fund (TRF) in the year 2005.

